
 

 

 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

MARCH 24, 2025 

AGENDA 

1. Call meeting to order, establish that there is a physical quorum, and receive public comment on 

actionable agenda items in accordance with 2023 Public Chapter 300 and Board guidelines 

2. Approval of minutes from December 16, 2024, meeting  

3. Consideration and approval of the Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method 

for University of Tennessee Health Science Center – Lease with Corporate Quarters  

4. Consideration and approval of the Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method 

for Middle Tennessee State University – Amendment to lease with the City of Shelbyville  

5. Approval of Projects for: 

The Tennessee Board of Regents 

• Tennessee Technological University – Innovation Center Residence Hall (933); Cost: $72,560,000 

of which $56,000,000 will be funded by TSSBA; Term of Financing: 30 years at an assumed tax-

exempt rate. 

6. Approval of the “Supplemental Resolution Authorizing and Providing for the Issuance and Sale of 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” for the 2025 Series Bonds and delegate the 

Authority to sell and fix the details of the bonds 

7. Adjourn 



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 
December 16, 2024 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “TSSBA”, or the “Authority”) met on December 16, 2024, 
at 12:37 p.m., CT, in the Volunteer Conference Center on the 2nd floor in the Cordell Hull Building, Nashville, 
Tennessee.  The Honorable Jason Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, was present and presided over 
the meeting. 

The following members were physically present: 

The Honorable Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 
The Honorable David H. Lillard, Jr., State Treasurer  
Commissioner Jim Bryson, Department of Finance and Administration 
Angela Scott, proxy for Dr. Flora W. Tydings, Chancellor, Tennessee Board of Regents 
David Miller, proxy for Randy Boyd, President, University of Tennessee 

The following member was absent: 

The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor 

Comptroller Mumpower recognized a physical quorum present and called the meeting to order.  In 
accordance with Public Chapter 300 and Board guidelines Comptroller Mumpower asked Ms. Sandi 
Thompson, Director of the Division of State Government Finance (SGF) and TSSBA Assistant Secretary, 
if any requests for public comment had been received. Ms. Thompson responded that no requests for public 
comment had been received.  

Comptroller Mumpower stated that the first item on the agenda was the consideration and approval of the 
minutes from the November 14, 2024, meeting of the Authority. Comptroller Mumpower asked if there 
were any questions or discussion regarding the minutes. Hearing none, Comptroller Mumpower moved 
approval of the minutes and Commissioner Bryson seconded the motion. Comptroller Mumpower took the 
vote, and the minutes were unanimously approved. 

Comptroller Mumpower stated that the next item on the agenda was the consideration and approval of a 
Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method for the University of Tennessee, 
Institute for Public Service – Corporate Quarters Lease.  Comptroller Mumpower stated that this lease had 
been presented to the Executive Subcommittee (ESC) in a meeting that was held earlier that day and had 
been approved by the ESC contingent upon the Authority’s approval of the lease.  Comptroller Mumpower 
recognized Mr. Austin Oakes, Assistant Vice President of the Office of Capital Projects at the University 
of Tennessee (UT) to present the request. Mr. Oakes explained that UT was requesting a one (1) year lease 
with two one-year renewal options. Mr. Oakes stated the lease would provide sixteen (16) two (2) bedroom 
units.  Mr. Oakes stated the rate would be $150 per night with a maximum cost of $529,050. Commissioner 
Bryson moved to approve the resolution, and Treasurer Lillard seconded the motion.  Comptroller 
Mumpower took the vote, and the motion was unanimously approved.   

Comptroller Mumpower stated that the next item on the agenda was the consideration and approval of a 
Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method for Austin Peay State University – 
Airport Lease.  Comptroller Mumpower stated that this lease had been heard by the ESC in a meeting that 
was held earlier that day and had been approved by the ESC contingent upon the Authority’s approval of 
the lease.  Comptroller Mumpower recognized Mr. Shahrooz Roohparvar, Vice President of Finance and 
Administration at Austin Peay State University (APSU) to present the request. Mr. Roohparvar explained 
that APSU was requesting a ninety-nine (99) year land lease with the Clarksville Regional Airport Authority 
(Airport). Mr. Roohparvar stated the lease would be for a footprint of 14,083 square feet.  Mr. Roohparvar 
stated APSU also planned to purchase the hangar located on the same footprint for $780,000.  Mr. 
Roohparvar stated the Aviation Sciences program is currently housed in that hangar but under a lease to 
occupy not more than 4,200 hundred square feet.  Mr. Roohparvar stated the program has grown and now 



requires more space.  Mr. Roohparvar stated the current monthly lease expense is approximately $31,000.  
Mr. Roohparvar stated that beginning in February 2025, the Airport would require APSU to begin to pay 
the market rate lease of approximately $96,000.  Mr. Roohparvar stated that with the lease savings APSU 
expected to break even on the investment within 10 years.  Mr. Roohparvar stated that the hangar would be 
purchased as personal property  through a bill of sale, and not as real property through a deed, since the 
Airport would retain ownership of the underlying land.  Mr. Roohparvar stated that the new land lease and 
the bill of sale would happen simultaneously, as discussed with the Attorney General’s office..  Comptroller 
Mumpower moved to approve the resolution, and Secretary Hargett seconded the motion.  Ms. Scott asked 
if APSU was prepared to cover all maintenance on the hangar, and Mr. Roohparvar responded in the 
affirmative.  Comptroller Mumpower took the vote, and the motion was unanimously approved. 

Comptroller Mumpower stated that the next item on the agenda was the consideration and approval of staff 
recommendation of Financial Advisor for the TSSBA.  Comptroller Mumpower recognized Ms. Thompson 
to present the information.  Ms. Thompson stated that the contract with Public Financial Management 
(PFM) is expiring on December 31, 2024, so Comptroller staff conducted an RFP process for the selection 
of a financial advisor.  Ms. Thompson stated that there is a memo that is contained in the meeting materials 
that outlines the process.  Ms. Thompson stated the responses to the RFP were received on November 1st .  
Ms. Thompson stated that staff reviewed the responses and noted the following attributes for our current 
financial advisor, PFM: 

• PFM has been a valuable business partner for the state, and we have appreciated their contribution 
to the state 's success in its endeavors; 

• PFM has provided excellent service in structuring the state 's financings. 

• PFM is readily accessible to respond to and provide assistance with various needs and requests; 

• PFM possesses a wealth of professional expertise, knowledge, and resources; 

• PFM is committed to the Tennessee market and market participants. 

Ms. Thompson stated based on those attributes and others that staff recommends the selection of PFM 
Financial Advisors LLC to serve as the state’s financial advisor for a contract term of three years with the 
ability to extend the term for two one-year terms.  Treasurer Lillard moved to approve PFM Financial 
Advisors LLC as the financial advisor, and Commissioner Bryson seconded the motion.  Mr. Mumpower 
took the vote, and the motion was unanimously approved. 

Mr. Mumpower stated that concluded the business on the agenda and moved to adjourn the meeting.  
Treasurer Lillard seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved, and the meeting was 
adjourned. 

Approved on this _____ day of __________, 2024.   

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 Sandra Thompson 
 Assistant Secretary 
 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE  
BORROWING OF MONEY BY ANOTHER METHOD BY 

THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE  
 
Recitals 

 
Whereas, the University of Tennessee (“UT”), on behalf of its Health Science Center 

(“UTHSC”), proposes to lease eleven (11) two-bedroom apartments in Chattanooga, Tennessee 
for use by medical and dental students doing clinical rotations with UTHSC’s College of 
Medicine-Chattanooga; and 

 
Whereas, Corporate Quarters, Inc. (“Supplier”) was the best evaluated proposer in response 

to a publicly advertised request for proposals to which two proposers responded; and  
 
Whereas a proposed lease (“Lease”) has been negotiated with Supplier to act as an 

intermediary and provide fully-furnished, fully-equipped, and fully-stocked rooms in an apartment 
complex located within a three-mile radius of campus; and  

 
Whereas, Supplier has space available in an apartment complex located at 1322 District 

Lane, Chattanooga, Tennessee commonly known as the District at Riverside; and  
  
Whereas, the Lease includes a five-year term with no extension options, beginning on April 

26, 2025; and  
 
Whereas, the Lease includes a first-year contract rent of four hundred ninety-one thousand 

seven hundred dollars and no cents ($491,700.00) and an average annual contract rent of five 
hundred eight thousand seven hundred twenty-eight dollars and no cents ($508,728.00), including 
utilities and janitorial services; and  

 
Whereas, UT may terminate the Lease for convenience by giving Supplier at least ninety-

days’ prior notice; and  
 
Whereas, the Lease payments will be funded by UTHSC through Plant Funds (Aux-

Housing) (A). 
 
            BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY: 
 

      In accordance with the authority provided by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 49-3-
1205(11), the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) gives its approval for UT 
to enter into the Lease. 
  



 
  BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict 
are repealed, and the resolution shall be effective as of March 24, 2025. 
 
 Adopted by the Authority at its meeting on March 24, 2025. 
 
 
 

 _______________________________________ 
    JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY 
                                    TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 
UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 

 
 

Acquisition – Lease (Space) 
 

Requested Action: Approval of a lease 
 

Transaction Description: Transaction No. 2025-02-001 
•  Proposed Lease  
o  Location: University of Tennessee Health Science Center College of Medicine 

Hamilton County – 960 East 3rd Street, Chattanooga, TN 
o  Landlord: Corporate Quarters, Inc  
o  Term: Five (5) year term for 11 two-bedroom apartment units 
o  Area / Costs:  Eleven (11) two (2) bedroom units  

First Year Contract Rent $491,700.00 $3,725/apt/mo. 
Average Annual Contract Rent $508,728.00 $3,854/apt/mo. 
(including utilities & janitorial)   
Total Annual Effective Cost $508,728.00 $3,854/apt/mo. 

   
 

•  Source of Funding: Plant Funds (Aux-Housing) (A) 
•  Procurement Method: Advertised 
•  FRF Rate: N/A 

 
Comment: This lease provides housing for medical and dental students on clinical rotations with 

UTHSC’s College of Medicine-Chattanooga. Two proposals were received from two 
proposers. Corporate Quarters was the best evaluated proposer.  
 
The lease has no extension options. The University may terminate this agreement with 90 
days prior notice.  
 
Based on a review of the financial aspects, occupancy requirements, and market indicators 
this lease is deemed to be in the state’s best interest at this time.  

 
 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Seeking approval for a five (5) year lease for housing serving the UT Health Science Center College of 
Medicine, pursuant to a publicly advertised RFP. Two proposals from two proposers were received and 
evaluated. One of the proposers submitted a five-year term consistent with the request in the RFP, while the 
other submitted only a three-year term. Corporate Quarters was the best evaluated proposer.  The new lease 
is anticipated to commence on April 26, 2025.  

Approval is requested of a lease with Corporate Quarters for units that meet the criteria including proximity 
to campus, fully furnished units, and the rental rate. 
TERMS: 
The University proposes to lease eleven (11) two (2) bedroom units from Corporate Quarters. Either party 
may terminate this agreement with 90 days’ prior notice. 
FUNDING: 
The rent will be paid through revenues from student tuition and fees. 
REQUEST:  
Approval of lease.  
 
NPV Charts Below: 
 

   
 

$1,320,000.00

$1,330,000.00

$1,340,000.00

$1,350,000.00

$1,360,000.00

$1,370,000.00

$1,380,000.00

$1,390,000.00

Corporate Quarters AHI

3-Year Present Value



 
$0.00

$500,000.00

$1,000,000.00

$1,500,000.00

$2,000,000.00

$2,500,000.00

5-Year Present Value Corporate Quarters



 
 

CERTIFICATION OF FUNDS 
 
 
 Please be advised that The University of Tennessee Health Science Center has 
adequate resources, Plant Funds (Aux-Housing) (A) in hand that are not encumbered, or 
otherwise obligated, from which to cover the expenses of two million five hundred 
forty-three thousand six hundred forty dollars associated with the UTHSC College of 
Medicine Apartment lease in Chattanooga, TN.   
 
 

     2/27/2025   
_____________________________________  Date:_________________ 
David L. Miller 
Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
The University of Tennessee System 



 

 

 

 

 

 

District at Riverside 

UTHSC 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 



The University of Tennessee 
Lease Agreement 

 

UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-2-001  Page 1 of 15 
 

This lease agreement (“Agreement”) is dated ____________, 202__ (“Effective Date”), 
and is between The University of Tennessee, an instrumentality of the State of Tennessee 
(“University”), and Corporate Quarters, Inc. (“Supplier”).   
 
Background: 
 
• Supplier has space available in an apartment complex located at 1322 District Lane, 
Chattanooga, TN commonly known as the “District at Riverside” (“Complex”) and desires to 
lease to the University. 
 
• The nature of the transaction between the University and Supplier is that the University 
will be responsible for paying rent to Supplier.  University’s students (“Students”) will occupy 
the space described in Schedule 1. 
 
• Supplier may require the students to sign agreements that bind the Supplier and 
students with respect to the use and occupancy of the spaces in the Complex.  Those 
agreements will relate to Complex’s and Supplier’s rules and regulations.  The University will 
not be a party to those agreements. 
 
The parties agree as follows: 
 
A. Term and Termination: 

1. Term:  The term of this agreement begins on 4/26/2025 and ends on 4/25/2030. 
i. Options:  N/A 

 
2. Termination:  

i. For Cause:  If Supplier materially breaches this agreement, University may 
terminate this Agreement immediately.  
 

ii. Unrestricted Right:  University may terminate this agreement for any reason 
by giving Supplier at least ninety (90) days’ prior notice.  Unless stated in 
Schedule 1, University will not be responsible for any further charges or 
damages, including cancellation fees.     

 
iii. Work:  If University terminates this agreement, upon receipt of University’s 

notice of termination, Supplier shall immediately stop all work under this 
Agreement.  

 
3. Scope:  See Schedule 1.  

 
B. Financial: 

1. Compensation:  See Schedule 1.  
 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 2 of 15 
 

2. Invoices: 
i. Required:  Unless the University elects to submit a payment request through 

the University’s accounts payable process on Supplier’s behalf, Supplier shall 
invoice the University. 
 

ii. Invoice Contents:  Supplier must include the following information on its 
invoices under this Agreement: 

1. Addressed to the University;  
2. Invoice number (assigned by Supplier); 
3. Invoice date; 
4. Transaction date;  
5. Supplier name; 
6. Supplier contact for invoice questions (name, phone, or email); 
7. Supplier remittance address; 
8. Description of delivered goods or services provided and invoiced, 

including identifying information as applicable;  
9. Number of delivered or completed units, increments, hours, or days 

as applicable, of each good or service invoiced; 
10. Amount due for each compensable unit of good or service; and 
11. Total amount due for the invoice period. 

 
iii. Late Payment:  University’s payment will not be considered late unless 

University pays later than forty-five (45) calendar days after receiving 
Supplier’s invoice.  

 
3. Records; Audit: 

i. Records:  Supplier shall maintain records for all expenses for which Supplier 
invoices the University under this Agreement.  Supplier shall maintain its 
records for at least five (5) years, and shall maintain its records in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

ii. Audit:  During the term of this agreement and for five (5) years after the last 
payment from the University to Supplier under this agreement, the State of 
Tennessee Comptroller or the University’s internal audit, or both, may audit 
Supplier’s records that relate to this Agreement. 
 

iii. Assistance:  Supplier shall provide the University with any documentation, 
access to information, or other assistance necessary for the University to 
ensure that Supplier complies with its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
4. PaymentWorks:  Supplier must register as a vendor in University’s vendor-

management system, PaymentWorks, or any such other vendor-management 
system as University may require from time to time.   

 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 3 of 15 
 

C. Compliance:  
1. Conflicts of Interest:  

i. Supplier states that no part of the Supplier’s compensation will be paid 
directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as 
wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, 
employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Supplier in connection with 
any work contemplated or performed under this Agreement. 
 

ii. Supplier states that this Agreement is immediately void if the Supplier is, or 
within the past six (6) months has been, an employee of the State of 
Tennessee or if the Supplier is an entity in which a controlling interest is held 
by an individual who is, or within the past six (6) months has been, an 
employee of the State of Tennessee. 

 
iii. Supplier has provided to University a list of names and addresses of persons, 

associations, or corporations who hold any financial interest in the Supplier; 
such list shall be immediately revised in the event of a transfer of such 
interest.   

 
2. Iran Divestment Act:  The requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-12-101 et. seq., 

addressing contracting with persons as defined at T.C.A. §12-12-103(5) that engage 
in investment activities in Iran, are a material provision of this Agreement.  Supplier 
hereby certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and 
belief that it is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-12-106.   
 

3. Illegal Immigrants:  In compliance with the requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-3-
309, Supplier hereby attests that it shall not knowingly utilize the services of an 
illegal immigrant in the United States in the performance of this Agreement and 
shall not knowingly utilize the services of any subcontractor who will utilize the 
services of an illegal immigrant in the United States in the performance of this 
Agreement.  

 
4. Non-Boycott of Israel:  Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-4-119, Supplier certifies 

that it is not currently engaged in, and will not for the duration of the Agreement, 
engage in a boycott of Israel, as defined by Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-4-119(a)(1). 
 

5. Tennessee Department of Revenue:  In compliance with the requirements of Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 12-3-306, the Supplier hereby attests that it has registered with the 
State of Tennessee’s Department of Revenue for the collection of Tennessee sales 
and use tax.  This registration requirement is a material requirement of this 
Agreement.  
 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 4 of 15 
 

6. Compliance with law:  Supplier shall comply with all applicable laws, including the 
Tennessee Uniform Residential Landlord and Tenant Act and the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

 
7. Debarment:  Supplier hereby attests that the following are true statements: 

i. Supplier is not currently debarred by the U.S. federal government. 
ii. Supplier is not currently suspended by the U.S. federal government.  

iii. Supplier is not currently named as an “excluded” supplier by the U.S. federal 
government.  

 
8. Background Checks:  This clause applies if Supplier will provide services on the 

University’s accommodations.   
i. General Obligation:  Supplier will not knowingly assign any individual to 

provide services to University if the individual has a history of criminal 
conduct.  For proposes of this Agreement, “criminal conduct” means (a) that 
the person is listed on any state’s sexual offender registry; (b) that person is 
listed on the Tennessee Abuse Registry, or (c) that the person has been 
convicted of a felony in any state.   

 
ii. Prompt Background Checks:  If the University requests, Supplier must 

perform a comprehensive criminal background check on any Supplier 
employee or sub-contractor.  
 

9. Premises Rules:  When Supplier is physically present on University accommodations, 
Supplier shall make reasonable efforts to cause its employees and permitted sub-
contractors to: 

i. Avoid alcohol use; 
ii. Avoid illegal drug use; 

iii. Avoid smoking; 
iv. Comply with all access restriction protocols; 
v. Comply with applicable firearms laws; 

vi. Comply with applicable parking regulations. 
 

10. Conduct:  Supplier shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that Supplier’s 
employees and sub-contractors will conduct themselves in a professional manner 
while on University accommodations, and while interacting with University 
employees, students, or visitors.  Supplier must report, within 24 hours, to the 
University’s Office of Procurement Services any complaints about Supplier’s 
employees or sub-contractors engaging in the following behavior:  sexually 
suggestive or harassing behavior; unwanted physical touching; unwanted 
photographs; alcohol use; illegal drug use; or physical manifestations of alcohol or 
drug use (e.g. Supplier’s employee emits smells that indicate that the individual 
consumed alcohol recently).  

 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 5 of 15 
 

D. Insurance:  Supplier shall comply with Schedule 2 (Insurance).   
 

E. General: 
1. Assignment:  This Agreement is personal to Supplier.  Accordingly, Supplier may not 

assign any rights or delegate any duties under this Agreement.  
 

2. Independent Supplier:  The parties intend for their relationship to that of 
independent contractors.  Supplier acknowledges that it is not an employee of 
University. 
 

3. Governing Law:  The laws of the state of Tennessee, without giving effect to its 
principles of conflicts of law, govern this Agreement.  The University’s liability will be 
governed by the Tennessee Claims Commission Act.  
 

4. Self-Insurance:  The University is self-insured under the Tennessee Claims 
Commission Act, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-301 et seq., which covers certain tort 
liability for actual damages of up to $300,000 per claimant and $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. 

 
5. Use of University Intellectual Property:  Except as allowed in this section, Supplier 

shall not use the University’s name, marks, logos, or any other University-owned 
intellectual property for any reason, without the written consent of an authorized 
official of the University.  During the term of this Agreement, Supplier may list the 
University’s name in Supplier’s list of clients.   

 
6. Third-Party Beneficiaries:  There are no third-party beneficiaries to this Agreement.  

 
7. Severability:  The parties intend as follows: 

i. that if any provision of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable, then that 
provision will be modified to the minimum extent necessary to make it 
enforceable, unless that modification is not permitted by law, in which case 
that provision will be disregarded; 

 
ii. that if an unenforceable provision is modified or disregarded in accordance 

with this section, then the rest of the Agreement will remain in effect as 
written; and 

 
iii. that any unenforceable provision will remain as written in any circumstances 

other than those in which the provision is held to be unenforceable. 
 
8. Modification; Waiver:  No amendment of this Agreement will be effective unless it is 

in writing and signed by authorized officials of the parties.  No waiver of satisfaction 
of a condition or failure to comply with an obligation under this Agreement will be 
effective unless it is in writing and signed by an authorized official of the party 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 6 of 15 
 

granting the waiver, and no such waiver will constitute a waiver of satisfaction of 
any other condition or failure to comply with any other obligation. 

 
9. Counterparts:  If the parties sign this Agreement in several counterparts, each will be 

deemed an original but all counterparts together will constitute one instrument.  
 

10. Damages: 
i. Generally:   The University is not responsible for acts or omissions of its 

students. The University’s sole obligation under this Agreement is to pay the 
rent amounts listed in Schedule 1.  Accordingly, Supplier acknowledges that 
the individual residents are responsible for any costs associated with 
damages.  Any liability of the University to Supplier and third parties for any 
claims, damages, losses or costs arising out of or related to acted performed 
by the University under this Agreement will be governed by the Tennessee 
Claims Commission Acts, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-301, et. seq. 
 

ii. Ordinary Wear and Tear:  Students will not be liable for ordinary wear and 
tear. 

 
11. Rules and Regulations:   The University is not responsible for the students’ 

compliance with Supplier’s rules and regulations.  Supplier is responsible for 
ensuring that students are aware of Supplier’s rules and regulations. 
 

12. Maintenance and Repairs:  Supplier shall maintain or cause maintenance of the units 
and the Complex in good working order and in the same condition or better as exists 
on the date of this Agreement.  Supplier will ensure that the students are aware of 
how to request maintenance, including repairs. 

 
13. Fire and Other Casualties:  In the case of damage by fire or other casualty to the 

building in which the units are located, if the damage is so extensive as to render the 
units untenable, this Agreement will terminate immediately for the affected units, 
and the rental costs will be apportioned to the time of the fire or casualty. 

 
14. Force Majeure:  

i. If a Force Majeure Event prevents a party from complying with any one or 
more obligations under this Agreement, that inability to comply will not 
constitute breach if (1) that party uses reasonable efforts to perform those 
obligations, (2) that party’s inability to perform those obligations is not due 
to its failure to (A) take reasonable measures to protect itself against events 
or circumstances of the same type as that Force Majeure Event or (B) 
develop and maintain a reasonable contingency plan to respond to events or 
circumstances of the same type as that Force Majeure Event, and (3) that 
party complies with its obligations under section this section (E)(10)(iii). 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 7 of 15 
 

ii. For purposes of this Agreement, “Force Majeure Event” means, with respect 
to a party, any event or circumstance, whether or not foreseeable, that was 
not caused by that party and any consequences of that event or 
circumstance. 

iii. If a Force Majeure Event occurs, the noncomplying party shall promptly 
notify the other party of occurrence of that Force Majeure Event, its effect 
on performance, and how long the noncomplying party expects it to last. 
Thereafter the noncomplying party shall update that information as 
reasonably necessary.  During a Force Majeure Event, the noncomplying 
party shall use reasonable efforts to limit damages to the other party and to 
resume its performance under this Agreement. 

 
15. Notice:  

i. For a notice or other communication under this Agreement to be valid, it 
must be in writing and delivered (1) by hand, (2) by a national transportation 
company, with all fees prepaid, or (3) by registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested and postage prepaid; 

 
ii. Subject to sub-section (iv) below, a valid notice or other communication 

under this Agreement will be effective when received by the party to which it 
is addressed.  It will be deemed to have been received as follows: 

 

1. if it is delivered by hand, delivered by a national transportation 
company, with all fees prepaid, or delivered by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, upon receipt as 
indicated by the date on the signed receipt; and 

 
2. if the party to which it is addressed rejects or otherwise refuses to 

accept it, or if it cannot be delivered because of a change in address 
for which no notice was given, then upon that rejection, refusal, or 
inability to deliver. 

 
iii. For a notice or other communication to a party under this Agreement to be 

valid, it must be addressed using the information specified below for that 
party or any other information specified by that party in a notice in 
accordance with this section.  

 
Supplier:  See Schedule 1.  
   
University: Legal notices only; do not send invoices to this address:  
  The University of Tennessee 
  400 W Summit Hill Drive 
  UT Tower – 9th Floor 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 8 of 15 
 

  Knoxville, TN  37902 
  ATTN: Office of Real Property  

Email: contracts@tennessee.edu 
  With a copy to:  rpope@tennessee.edu 
  

iv. If a notice or other communication addressed to a party is received after 
5:00 p.m. on a business day at the location specified in the address for that 
party, or on a day that is not a business day, then the notice will be deemed 
received at 9:00 a.m. on the next business day. 

 
F. Entire Agreement:  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the 

parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes all other 
agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties.  In the event that Supplier 
maintains terms and conditions on its website, software, invoices, etc., such terms and 
conditions do not apply to the University.  
 

 
Agreed:  The parties are signing this agreement on the effective date listed in the introductory 
clause of this Agreement.  
 
 
 [Signature Page Follows] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:contracts@tennessee.edu
mailto:rpope@tennessee.edu


UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 9 of 15 
 

 
 
 
 
The University of Tennessee     Corporate Quarters, Inc. 
 
Signature: _____________________   Signature: _____________________ 

 
Name: _______________________   Name: _______________________ 

 
Title: ________________________   Title: ________________________ 
 
Date: ________________________   Date: ________________________ 
 

 

Approved as to form and legality: 

 

___________________________ 
Jonathan Skrmetti, Attorney General and Reporter 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS TO FOLLOW 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 10 of 15 
 

 

 

 

SUPPLIER NOTARY 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE            
COUNTY OF KNOX            
 
Personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary of the State and County aforesaid, 
Alofa Porter, with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis of 
satisfactory evidence), and who, upon oath, swore to and acknowledged herself to be President 
of Corporate Quarters, Inc., the within-named bargainor, and that she as such officer, executed 
the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, by signing the name of the 
company by herself as such officer. 
 
WITNESS my hand and seal at office in Knoxville, TN, this _____ day of ________, 2025. 
 

                          ____________________          
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires:  _______________ 
 
 
 
UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE NOTARY 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE 
COUNTY OF KNOX 

 
Personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary Public for Knox County, Austin Oakes, 
with whom I am personally acquainted or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, 
and who, upon oath, acknowledged that he is the Associate Vice President – Capital Projects of 
the University of Tennessee and that he as officer, being authorized so to do, executed the 
foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained by signing the name of the University 
of Tennessee by himself as officer. 

 
WITNESS my hand and seal, at office in Knoxville, TN, this  ____ day of   , 2025. 
 
            
      Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires:     
  



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 11 of 15 
 

Schedule 1: Scope and Financial 
 
Supplier address for notices:  
Corporate Quarters, Inc. 
10912 Murdock Drive 
Knoxville, TN 37932 
 
University department name and address for invoices and non-legal notices:  
University of Tennessee Health Science Center 
Office of Business Contracts 
62 S. Dunlap, Suite 312 
Memphis, TN 38163 
Email:  businesscontracts@uthsc.edu 
 

1. Scope:  To provide housing for students of the College of Medicine and College of 
Dentistry on rotation during the Term, comprising eleven (11) two (2) bedroom two (2) 
bath apartments within the District at Riverside apartment complex, which are fully-
furnished, fully-equipped, and fully-stocked as described below. 
 

2. Furnishings:  See Schedule 2A. 
 

3. Compensation:  Supplier’s pricing is as follows : 
 
Lease Year(s)  Annual Rental Rate Monthly Rental Rate Annual Total 
1-3   $44,700.00 per apt. $3,725.00 per apt. $491,700.00 
4   $47,940.00 per apt. $3,995.00 per apt. $527,340.00 
5   $49,200.00 per apt. $4,100.00 per apt. $541,200.00 

 
4. Other terms:   

a. University may terminate accommodations by providing at least ninety (90) days’ 
notice to Supplier.  In the event that University exercises this clause, Supplier will 
not charge the University any fees.  

b. Supplier must ensure that the accommodations for any given University group 
are located at the same property, unless University approves otherwise in 
writing.  

c. Supplier must ensure that all accommodations are within a 3-mile radius of The 
University of Tennessee Health Science Center College of Medicine, 960 E. 3rd 
Street, Chattanooga, TN.  

d. Supplier must ensure that all units are single-level (no interior stairs).   
e. Supplier must ensure that all units are professionally cleaned before and after 

each University use, subject to a $150 cleaning fee per occurrence.  
f. Supplier must allow University staff to inspect the unit on the day before each 

arrival date.  
 

mailto:businesscontracts@uthsc.edu


UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 12 of 15 
 

  



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 13 of 15 
 

Schedule 2A:  Furnishings 

• All items below are approximately 1-3 years old in used-like new condition 

• Queen size bed, pillows, 2 sets of bed linens, nightstand, lamp, dresser, closet space with 
hangers, TV in each bedroom 

• Towels, floor mat, starter size shampoo, condition, soap, and appropriate linens 

• Refrigerator, sink, dishwasher, stove/oven, microwave, toaster, coffee maker, dishes/plates, 
cups/glasses, pots/pans, silverware, and cooking utensils 

• Couch, chair, television, dining furniture, access to high-speed internet (wired or wireless), 
streaming device platforms on all TVs 

• Washer and Dryer provided inside of each apartment unit 

• All units will be professionally cleaned prior to occupancy in accordance with CDC guidelines 

• Turn cleans between occupants/students (change of bed linens, trash removal, restocking of 
toilet paper):  Added service upon request for an additional charge of $150 per service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 14 of 15 
 

 

Schedule 2: Insurance 
 
Supplier shall comply with the following terms regarding insurance: 
 

1. Additional Insurance Requirements:  Supplier’s policies shall include, or be endorsed to 
include, the following provisions: 

a. On insurance policies where The University of Tennessee is named as an 
additional insured, The University of Tennessee shall be an additional insured to 
the full limits of liability purchased by the Supplier, even if those limits of liability 
are in excess of those required by this Agreement. 

b. The Supplier’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance and non-
contributory with respect to all other available sources. 

 
2. Notice of Cancellation:  Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of 

this contract shall provide the required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, or 
canceled except after thirty (30) days’ prior written notice has been given to The 
University of Tennessee, except when cancellation is for non-payment of premium; then 
ten (10) days’ prior notice may be given.  Such notice shall be sent directly to: 

 
The University of Tennessee Office of Risk Management 

505 Summer Place – UTT 1048C 
Knoxville, TN  37902 

  
If any insurance company refuses to provide the required notices, the Supplier or its 
insurance broker shall notify The University of Tennessee of any cancellation, 
suspension or non-renewal of any insurance within seven (7) days of receipt of insurers’ 
notification to that effect. 

 
3. Acceptability of Insurers:  Insurance is to be placed with insurers duly licensed or 

authorized to do business in the state of Tennessee and with an “A.M. Best” rating of 
not less than A- VII. The University of Tennessee in no way warrants that the above-
required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Supplier from potential 
insurer insolvency. 
 

4. Verification of Coverage:  Supplier shall furnish The University of Tennessee 
with certificates of insurance (ACORD form or equivalent) as required by this 
contract. The certificates for each insurance policy are to be signed by a person 
authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 

 
All certificates and any required endorsements are to be received and approved by The 
University of Tennessee before work commences.  Each insurance policy required by 
this contract must be in effect at or prior to commencement of work under this 



UT – Corporate Quarters, Transaction No. 2025-02-001   Page 15 of 15 
 

Agreement and remain in effect for the duration of the Term.  Failure to maintain the 
insurance policies as required by this Agreement or to provide evidence of renewal is a 
material breach of this Agreement. 
 

5. Subcontractors:  Supplier’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as additional 
insureds under its policies, or contractor shall furnish to The University of Tennessee 
separate certificates and endorsements for each subcontractor.  All coverages for 
subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum requirements identified above. 
 

6. Approval:  Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this 
contract shall be made by the risk management department, whose decision shall be 
final.  Such action will not require a formal contract amendment, but may be made by 
administrative action. 
 

7. Waiver of Subrogation:  Supplier hereby waives any right of subrogation on the part of 
its insurance provider against the University.  Supplier shall ensure that its insurance 
certificates include the following language: 

 
The University of Tennessee, its Board of Trustees, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers are named as Additional Insureds with respect to the General 
and Automobile Liability policies.  A Waiver of Subrogation applies to Workers 
Compensation and the General and Automobile Liability policies as evidenced on 
this certificate of insurance.  All insurance policies above are primary and non-
contributory to any other insurance available to the Certificate Holder.  A thirty 
(30) day notice of cancellation is required. 

 
8. During the term of this Agreement, Supplier must maintain the following insurance 

types and limits (or higher limits): 
 

Workers Compensation (WC): Statutory Limits – required in all 
contracts 

Employers’ Liability Each Accident $ 100,000 
Employers’ Liability Disease – each 
employee 

$ 100,000 

Employers’ Liability Disease – policy limit $ 500,000 
 
Commercial General Liability (CGL): 

 

Each Occurrence Limit $ 1,000,000 
Damage to Rented Premises – Ea. Occ. $ 300,000 
Medical Expense – any one person $ 10,000 
Personal & Advertising Injury Limit $ 1,000,000 
General Aggregate Limit $ 2,000,000 
Products/Completed Ops. Aggregate 
Limit 

$ 2,000,000 

 
Automobile Liability 

                      Combined Single Limit – each accident                          $ 1,000,000 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE  

BORROWING OF MONEY BY ANOTHER METHOD BY 

MIDDLE TENNESSEE STATE UNIVERSITY 

Recitals 

Whereas, Middle Tennessee State University (“MTSU”) entered into a lease (“Lease”) on 

July 1, 2023, with the City of Shelbyville (“Landlord”) for approximately 16 acres of undeveloped 

land in Bedford County, Tennessee at the Shelbyville Municipal Airport (“Original Parcel”); and 

Whereas, the Lease was previously approved by the Tennessee State School Bond 

Authority (“Authority”) on May 31, 2023, and the Executive Subcommittee of the State Building 

Commission on June 20, 2023; and  

Whereas, the Lease provides space for MTSU’s Aerospace Campus project, which will 

provide new facilities for MTSU Professional Pilot flight operations, including a Flight Operations 

building and an aviation maintenance hangar to maintain MTSU’s aviation fleet; and  

Whereas, the Lease includes an option for MTSU to lease an additional 4.8 acres of 

property (“Adjacent Parcel”) upon written notice to Landlord; and  

Whereas, the lease of the Adjacent Parcel by MTSU is necessary to further accommodate 

MTSU Aerospace programs; and   

Whereas, MTSU timely provided written notice to Landlord of MTSU’s intent to lease the 

Adjacent Parcel; and  

Whereas, MTSU intends to enter into a First Amendment to Lease Agreement 

(“Amendment”) to include the Adjacent Parcel within the scope of the Lease;   

Whereas, the rental rate for the Additional Parcel will match the rental rate per square foot 

of the Original Parcel, and will increase annually by 1%, making the total amount due during the 

second lease year $393,900.00;  

Whereas, the term of the Lease will remain unchanged at 40 years; and  

Whereas the additional rent due under the Lease as a result of the Amendment will be 

funded with MTSU Professional Pilot flight training revenue.  

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY: 

1. In accordance with the authority provided by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 49-3-

1205(11), the Authority gives its approval for MTSU to enter into the Amendment. 



 

 

  

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict are 

repealed, and the resolution shall be effective as of March 24, 2025. 

 

 Adopted by the Authority at its meeting on March 24, 2025. 

 

 

 

 ____________________________________________ 

    JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY 

                                    TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 



Campus Planning
MTSU Box 44 – Holmes Building

1672 Greenland Drive
Murfreesboro, TN 37132

615 898 2411

Middle Tennessee State University does not discriminate against students, employees, or applicants for admission or employment on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, disability, age, status as a protected
Veteran, genetic information, or any other legally protected class with respect to all employment programs, and activities sponsored by MTSU. The Assistant to the President for Institutional Equity and Compliance has been designated to handle inquiries regarding the

non discirmination policies and can be reached at Cope Administration Building 116, 1301 East Main Street, Murfreesboro, TN 37132; Marian.Wilson@mtsu.edu; or 615 898 2185. The MTSU policy on non discrimination can be found at www.mtsu.edu/titleix

Ms. Sandi Thompson
Director State Government Finance
Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury
Cordell Hull Building
425 Rep. John Lewis Way N.
Nashville, TN 37243 3400

Ms. Thompson:

Middle Tennessee State University requests TSSBA approval to amend the lease between the City of
Shelbyville andMiddle Tennessee State University. This lease provides land needed to support theMTSU
Aerospace Department’s move from Murfreesboro Municipal Airport to the Shelbyville Airport. The
existing lease contains an option to add an additional 4.8 acres of land to the existing 16 acres included
in the lease for a total of 20.8 acres. The proposed lease amendment adds the additional 4.8 acres that
is required to support future development and expansion of the site beyond the scope of the current
MTSU Aerospace Campus project (SBC#366/009 04 2023).

Rental rate for the increased 4.8 acres will match the rental rate per square foot with a 1% per year
increase as included in the current lease agreement. This amounts to an additional $90,900.00 in rent
for lease year two with a 1% per year increase for the remainder of the lease term. The additional rent
will be paid with MTSU Professional Pilot flight training revenue. Lease term will remain unchanged at
40 years.

Thank you for your consideration and please don’t hesitate to reach out if you have questions or need
additional information as part of this request.

Sincerely,

William Waits, Architect
Assistant VP for Campus Planning
Middle Tennessee State University



 
 

Campus Planning 
  MTSU Box 44 – Holmes Building 

  1672 Greenland Drive 
  Murfreesboro, TN  37132 

615‐898‐2411 
       

Middle Tennessee State University does not discriminate against students, employees, or applicants for admission or employment on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, disability, age, status as a protected 
 

Veteran, genetic information, or any other legally protected class with respect to all employment programs, and activities sponsored by MTSU.  The Assistant to the President for Institutional Equity and Compliance has been designated to handle inquiries regarding the 
 

non‐discirmination policies and can be reached at Cope Administration Building 116, 1301 East Main Street, Murfreesboro, TN 37132; Marian.Wilson@mtsu.edu; or 615‐898‐2185. The MTSU policy on non‐discrimination can be found at www.mtsu.edu/titleix 

MTSU – City of Shelbyville Lease Amendment 
Executive Summary 
 
The lease between the City of Shelbyville (lessor) and MTSU (lessee) is a 16‐acre lease that will support 
the MTSU Aerospace Department’s move from Murfreesboro Municipal Airport to Shelbyville Municipal 
Airport. The  first phase of development  is being carried out by the MTSU Aerospace Campus project 
(SBC#366/009‐04‐2023)  and  provides  new  facilities  for  MTSU  Professional  Pilot  flight  operations 
including a Flight Operations building and an aviation maintenance hangar to maintain MTSU’s aviation 
fleet.  Subsequent  projects  will  further  develop  the  site  to  include  additional  MTSU  Aerospace 
concentrations.  
 
The current lease agreement includes an option to add an additional 4.8 acres of land to the current 16 
acres for a total of 20.8 acres.  The proposed lease amendment will add the additional 4.8 acres, required 
for further development of the site to accommodate MTSU Aerospace programs.  The rental rate for the 
added 4.8 acres will match the rental rate per square foot with a 1% per year increase as included in the 
current lease agreement terms.  This amounts to an additional $90,900.00 in rent for lease year two with 
a 1% per year increase for the remainder of the lease term. The additional rent will be paid with MTSU 
Professional Pilot flight training revenue.  The lease term will remain unchanged at 40 years (July 1, 2023 
– July 1, 2063).  
 
Notice of MTSU’s intent to exercise the option to add 4.8 acres to the lease was communicated to the 
City of Shelbyville on June 25, 2024 and before the option deadline expiration of July 1, 2024.   At the 
time the notice was given to the City of Shelbyville, site master planning and building design were still in 
progress  with  the  precise  site  boundary  and  corresponding  legal  description  of  the  option  area 
undetermined. The proposed amendment  includes  rental payments  for  the additional acreage  to be 
effective as of July 1, 2024 with payment due 30 days after lease amendment execution.   
 
The existing rental agreement includes provisions for MTSU to purchase a portion of this property with 
previously paid rent to be applied as part of the land purchase price.  This arrangement will allow MTSU 
to  purchase  the  areas  of  the  property  that  contain most  of  the  improvements  including  the main 
academic facilities.   The remainder of the property will  include flight operations components such as 
aircraft tie‐downs and aircraft apron space that require to be located within the security perimeter of 
the Shelbyville Airport per FAA  regulations. The areas within  the airport  security perimeter can’t be 
purchased by MTSU fee simple per FAA requirements and will remain a lease with the Shelbyville Airport.   
 
The existing lease was approved by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority on May 31, 2023 and the 
State Building Commission Executive Subcommittee on June 20, 2023.  
 
The anticipated construction start for the MTSU Aerospace project (SBC#366/009‐04‐2023) is May 2025 
with an estimated construction completion of Spring 2027.    

 
(end of document) 



Middle Tennessee State University – April ESC Page 1 of 1 

MIDDLE TENNESSEE STATE UNIVERSITY 
 
 

Acquisition – Lease (land) Amendment  
 

Requested Action: Approval of a lease amendment 
 

Transaction Description: Transaction No. 23-05-501 
 Proposed Amendment  
o Area / Costs:  20.8 +/- acres / $393,900.00 per year (lease year 2) with 1% increase annually 

 
 Current Lease  
o Location: Bedford County – 2764 Highway 231-North, Shelbyville, TN 
o Landlord: City of Shelbyville Tennessee 
o Term: July 1, 2023 – July 1, 2063 (40 Years)  
o Area / Costs:  16.0+/- acres / $300,000.00 per year (lease year 1) with 1% increase annually 

 Source of Funding:  Plant Funds (Non-Aux) (A) 
 Procurement Method: Negotiated 

 
Comment: Lease amendment is requested to add an additional 4.8 acres to the current lease to 

support future expansion of MTSU Aerospace facilities at the Shelbyville Municipal Airport. 
 
The MTSU Aerospace Campus project (SBC# 366/009-04-2023) will develop a portion of 
the original 16 acres to support the MTSU Professional Pilot program.  Subsequent projects 
will continue development to support additional MTSU Aerospace program concentrations 
on the proposed larger 20.8 acre site.  
 
The current lease agreement includes provisions for MTSU to purchase a portion of the 
property with previously paid rent to be applied to the land purchase. The intent of this 
option is to allow MTSU to purchase areas of the property that contain the majority of the 
improvements. The remainder of the property, including MTSU flight operations, will be 
within the security perimeter of the Shelbyville Airport and will need to remain a lease per 
FAA regulations.  
 

Previous Action:  06/20/2023   ESC Approved a lease  
 

   
 

 
 



 

 1

 
 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT  

TO 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

BY AND BETWEEN 

 

City of Shelbyville 

 

AND 

 

Middle Tennessee State University 

 

DATED AS OF     

  



 2

AMENDMENT 
 

This FIRST AMENDMENT to the LEASE AGREEMENT (the “First Amendment”) by and between 
the City of Shelbyville, a municipality existing under the laws of the State of Tennessee (the “Landlord”), and 
Middle Tennessee State University, a Tennessee public institution of higher education (the “Tenant” or “MTSU”) 
is made and entered into as of ______________________ (the “Effective Date”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, MTSU and the Landlord are parties to a Lease Agreement, entered into on July 1, 2023 (the 
“Lease Agreement”), for the lease of approximately sixteen (16) acres of undeveloped land (the “Parcel”) located in 
Bedford County, Tennessee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Article 29 of the Lease Agreement provides an option for Tenant to purchase or lease additional 
property adjacent to the Parcel (“Adjacent Property”) upon written notice to the Landlord; and  
 
 WHEREAS, MTSU timely provided the Landlord notice of its intent to lease the Adjacent Property.; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Lease Agreement to add the Adjacent Property to the Parcel and 
adjust the Rent Payment Schedule attached to the Lease Agreement as Exhibit B to reflect MTSU’s lease of the Adjacent 
Property. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby amend the Lease Agreement as follows: 
 
1. The first recital paragraph of the Lease Agreement is amended by deleting the paragraph 

in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  
 

“WHEREAS, Landlord is the owner of approximately 20.8 acres of undeveloped land (the 
“Parcel”) located in Bedford County, Tennessee consisting of both Lease Tract A, comprising 
16.00+ acres, and Lease Tract B, comprising 4.8+ acres, which are more particularly described in 
the boundary survey and legal descriptions attached as Exhibit A; and” 

 
2. The second recital paragraph of the Lease Agreement is amended by deleting the paragraph 

in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  
 
 “WHEREAS, Tenant desires to enter into a ground lease of the Parcel for uses related to 
MTSU’s aerospace education program, as depicted in the boundary survey and legal descriptions for 
both Lease Tract A and Lease Tract B, as more particularly described in Exhibit A; and” 
 

3. The fourth recital paragraph of the Lease Agreement is amended by deleting the paragraph 
in its entirety and replacing it with the following:  
 
 “WHEREAS, Tenant may construct facilities and make all necessary site and infrastructure 
improvements as defined in this lease, and may demolish all structures or improvements currently 
existing on the Parcel, in accordance with the requirements therein, and operate such improvements at 



 

 3

its sole cost and expense; and”  
 

4. Exhibit A to the Lease Agreement is modified by deleting the Exhibit A attached to the 
Lease Agreement and replacing it with the Exhibit A attached to this First Amendment.  

 
5. Exhibit B to the Lease Agreement is modified by deleting the Exhibit B attached to the 

Lease Agreement and replacing it with the Exhibit B attached to this First Amendment.   
 

6. The parties acknowledge and agree that MTSU shall be obligated to make a rental payment 
for the Adjacent Property as set forth on Exhibit B hereto, effective as of July 1, 2024, with such payment 
due within 30 days after execution of this First Amendment.   

 
7. This First Amendment may be executed in counterparts and each will be deemed an 

original but all counterparts together will constitute one instrument. The parties will fully execute a 
minimum of two copies of this First Amendment, with one fully executed original copy being retained by 
each party.  

 
8. This First Amendment shall not be binding on the parties until it is approved and signed by 

the applicable governmental authorities and authorized signatories of the parties.  Tenant’s authorized 
signatory for this First Amendment shall be MTSU's President or designee, where appropriate. 

 
9. Unless expressly and specifically amended hereunder, all other terms and provisions of the 

Lease Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.   
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Shelbyville, Tennessee at 
its regular monthly meeting of ________________________________.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amendment as of the Effective 

Date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signatures on Following Page] 
  



 

 4

LANDLORD: 
 
By:       By:       
 
Name:       Name:       
 
Title:       Title:       
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
________________________________________ 
Name:  Ginger Shofner 
 
Title: City Attorney 
 
 
TENANT: 
 
 
By:       By:       
 
Name:       Name:       
 
Title:       Title:       
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form and legality: 
 
___________________________________ 
Name: Jonathan Skrmetti 
 
Title: Attorney General and Reporter 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
PARCEL AND PROJECT DEPICTION 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

FO

FO

MB

MB

MB

MB

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

O
E

OE

OE

OE

P.O.B. TRACT A
HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND
DISTURBED

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND
DISTURBED

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY
MARKER FOUND DISTURBED

FENCE POST
FOUND FENCE POST

FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR WITH CAP
STAMPED "NORTHCUTT
SURVEYING" FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR
WITH ILLEGIBLE
CAP FOUND

CONCRETE
MONUMENT

FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR WITH CAP
STAMPED "NORTHCUTT
SURVEYING" FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR WITH CAP
STAMPED "NORTHCUTT
SURVEYING" FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR WITH CAP
STAMPED "NORTHCUTT
SURVEYING" FOUND

1/2-INCH REBAR WITH CAP
STAMPED "NORTHCUTT
SURVEYING" FOUND

SILO

POND
GRAVEL

CELEBRATION FEEDS, LLC
BOOK D274, PAGE 527

R.O.B.C.T.

CITY OF SHELBYBILLE, TENNESSEE
BOOK D241, PAGE 416

R.O.B.C.T.

TONY W. AND LINDA CARRICK
RETAINED LIFE ESTATE
BOOK D377, PAGE 392

R.O.B.C.T.

MUHAMED FAOUR
BOOK D307, PAGE 422

R.O.B.C.T.

U
.S

. H
IG

H
W

AY
 2

31
-N

 / 
TE

N
N

ES
SE

E 
ST

AT
E 

R
O

U
TE

 1
0 

(R
.O

.W
. V

AR
IE

S)

BARN

WELL
HOUSE

SHEDSHED

HOUSE

SHED

4' WOVEN WIRE
FENCE WITH
BARBED WIRE TOP

4' WOVEN WIRE
FENCE WITH
BARBED WIRE TOP

4' WOVEN WIRE
FENCE WITH
BARBED WIRE TOP

4.5' WOOD
PLANK FENCE

6' WOOD
PLANK FENCE

4' BARBED
WIRE FENCE

4' BARBED
WIRE FENCE

4' BARBED
WIRE FENCE

1/2-INCH REBAR
WITH CAP STAMPED
"CAFFEY" FOUND

REMAINDER CITY OF SHELBYVILLE, TENNESSEE
BOOK D377, PAGE 392 R.O.B.C.T.

9.54± Acres

X

OE

OE

4' BARBED
WIRE FENCE

4' BARBED
WIRE FENCE

4' WOOD
PLANK FENCE

ASPHALT

ASPHALT

GRAVEL

ASPHALT

X
X

X
X

X
X

3
8" CAPPED GAS
LINE RISER

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G

G

UE

S 81°18'38" E  288.26'

S 82°06'31" E  221.46'

S 82°15'42" E  231.14'

N
 1

0°
38

'3
6"

 E
  2

00
.0

0'
N

 0
8°

14
'2

2"
 E

  1
68

.2
4'

N
 1

0°
46

'5
8"

 E
  2

49
.1

2'

N 78°31'13" W  448.08'

N 83°23'15" W  631.80'

N
 1

0°
23

'5
0"

 E
  1

76
.4

9'

N 83°23'15" W  449.64'

S 82°15'42" E
52.38'

N 02°35'27" E
101.38'

N 22°54'21" E
51.81'

LEASE TRACT A
16.00± Acres

LEASE TRACT B
4.80± Acres

N
 1

3°
29

'4
9"

 E
10

0.
19

'

S 00°31'11" E  739.41'
S 00°31'11" E  215.55'

S 00°31'05" E  551.96'

S 89°28'49" W  991.15'

S 89°28'49" W  948.89'

N
 1

0°
34

'2
6"

 E
  2

11
.1

3'
N

 1
0°

34
'2

6"
 E

  2
19

.6
5'

N 10°34'26" E
5.75'

P.O.B. TRACT B

SITE

VICINITY MAP - NOT TO SCALE
SOURCE:  https://tnmap.tn.gov/assessment/

TN
SP

C

100 0 100 200 40050

DRAWING SCALE: 1 INCH = 100 FEET

GPS SURVEY DATA

Field Procedure Local RTK - Base with OPUS Solution

Report of Positional Accuracy 8+ Hours, 93% Fixed Amb, 91% of Obs Used, 0.016m RMS

Horizontal Positional Accuracy - Checked at
Secondary Airport Control Station AA4385 Did not exceed ± 0.10 FT

Vertical Positional Accuracy - Checked at
Secondary Airport Control Station AA4385 Did not exceed ± 0.10 FT

Date of Field Survey 10/5/2023

Datum: Horizontal (Epoch) / Vertical NAD 1983 (2011) / NAVD 1988

Fixed Control Station CP 1

Control Station - Position Northing - 444,800.62' / Easting - 1,835,270.81'

Control Station - Elevation 793.54'

Geoid Model Used Geoid 18

Combined Scale Factor (Grid to Grnd) 1.00007

CURRENT OWNERS:
CITY OF SHELBYVILLE, TENNESSEE

P.O. BOX 185
SHELBYVILLE, TN 37162

TAX MAP:  059     PARCEL:  014.00
DEED REFERENCE:

BOOK D377, PAGE 392 R.O.B.C.T.
30.34± ACRES

NOTES:

1. Field work completed October 18, 2023.

2. A Category I property survey was completed for the property.

3. Abutting properties shown hereon are for reference only and are based on record, tax maps
and limited evidence encountered during the survey. A property survey was not completed
for any properties except for the subject property as noted.

4. No abstract of title, title commitment, or title search was provided to this surveyor. This
survey may be subject to the findings or any other facts that an accurate and current title
report may disclose.

5. This property is subject to any and all rights-of-ways, easements, covenants, or restrictions
either written or unwritten that a complete title search may reveal.

6. Underground utility locations shown hereon are approximate and are subject to field
verification by the utility owner. In Tennessee it is a requirement per the "Underground Utility
Damage Prevention Act" that anyone who engages in excavation must notify all known
underground utility owners no less than three nor more than ten working days of their intent
to excavate. A list of these utilities can be obtained from the county Register of Deeds. Those
utilities participating in the Tennessee 811 system can be notified by calling 811.

7. No utilities were verified by uncovering as a part of this survey. Utilities other than those
shown may exist.

8. Tennessee 811 ticket number 232852611 was submitted and the subsequent markings were
located in the field. Gas, electric and water markings were observed on-site. TN811
correspondence, as well as field located above ground appurtenances suggest the presence
of underground fiber and/or telephone lines in the project limits. No markings for underground
fiber and/or telephone were observed on-site.

9. Survey completed using a combination of GNSS local RTK survey methods and robotic total
station radial surveying while occupying control points established by GNSS local RTK
survey methods.

10. State Plane Coordinates and elevations were established on-site using GPS static
observations resolved by an NGS OPUS Solution. Drawing is based on Grid bearings and
distances.

11. Primary Airport Control Station AA4383 has been obliterated. Secondary Airport Control
Station AA4385 was checked for Horizontal and Vertical Positional Accuracy. Check
observation deviations did not exceed ±0.10 feet horizontal or vertical from the NGS
published coordinates for the SACS monument.

12. Tennessee State Plane Coordinate System NAD 1983 (2011)
Vertical Datum - NAVD 1988 established using Geoid 18

13. The total site area is 30.34± Acres.

TN Surveyors Certificate

I hereby certify that this is a Category I survey and that the ratio of precision of the unadjusted
survey is in excess of 1:10,000. This survey was performed in compliance with the current
Tennessee Minimum Standards of Practice.

DATE: 12/10/2024

Ryan W. Beasley, RLS
Tennessee Registration No. 2821

LEGEND
PROPERTY LINE

REBAR FOUND

HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL LINE

XXX FENCE LINE

W W DOMESTIC WATER LINE

CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND

UE UE

FO FO UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC

MAIL BOX

SIGN - SINGLE POST

FIRE HYDRANT

WATER VALVE

WATER METER

MB

W

W

FIBER OPTIC PULL BOX / JUNCTION BOX

UTILITY POLE

FO

GUY WIRE ANCHOR

GATE ACCESS CONTROL

HIGHWAY R.O.W. MONUMENT FOUND

ABUTTING PROPERTY LINE

OVERHEAD UTILITY LINEOE OE

G G NATURAL GAS LINE

DATE DESCRIPTION

CIA PROJECT NO: 2023-071

CITY OF SHELBYVILLE, BEDFORD COUNTY, TN
ORIGINAL DATE:  DEC. 10, 2024

MTSU LEASE BOUNDARY SURVEY

2764 HIGHWAY 231-N
SV 1.0

BOUNDARY
SURVEY

SHEET NO. 1 OF 1

NO.

TAX MAP 059 PARCEL 014.00

CHECKED BY: RWBDRAWN BY: RWB

REVISIONS

© 2024 CIVIL INFRASTRUCTURE ASSOCIATES, LLC (CIA)

ALL INFORMATION PRESENTED ON THIS DRAWING IS THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF
CIA.  THIS PLAN HAS BEEN PREPARED SOLELY FOR THE USE OF THOSE PARTIES
NAMED HEREON OR FOR THE USE OF THEIR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES FOR THE
BENEFIT OF SAID PARTIES. USE BY ANY PARTY NOT EXPRESSLY STATED HEREON
SHALL BE CONSIDERED UNAUTHORIZED AND IN VIOLATION OF COPYRIGHT LAWS.

UNLESS THE SEAL OF THE SURVEYOR OF RECORD IS
AFFIXED BELOW, THIS DRAWING SHALL BE CONSIDERED

PRELIMINARY OR INCOMPLETE.

12/10/2024

Digitally signed by Ryan W. Beasley
Date: 2024.12.10 13:58:20-06'00'



307 Hickerson Drive 
Murfreesboro, TN  37129 

tel 615.663.7678 
www.cia-engineers.com 

 

12/10/2024



307 Hickerson Drive 
Murfreesboro, TN  37129 

tel 615.663.7678 
www.cia-engineers.com 

 

12/10/2024



 
 

 
 

6

EXHIBIT B 
RENT PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit B

Square Price per Annual

Feet Square Foot Payments

July 2023  (Paid) 696,960.00     0.43044077                            300,000.00    

July 2024  (Paid) 696,960.00     0.43474518                            303,000.00    

Adjacent Property Payment* 209,088.00     0.43474518                            90,900.00      

July 2025 906,048.00     0.43909263                            397,839.00    

July 2026 906,048.00     0.44348356                            401,817.39    

July 2027 906,048.00     0.44791840                            405,835.57    

July 2028 906,048.00     0.45239758                            409,893.92    

July 2029 906,048.00     0.45692156                            413,992.87    

July 2030 906,048.00     0.46149078                            418,132.80    

July 2031 906,048.00     0.46610569                            422,314.13    

July 2032 906,048.00     0.47076675                            426,537.27    

July 2033 906,048.00     0.47547442                            430,802.65    

July 2034 906,048.00     0.48022916                            435,110.67    

July 2035 906,048.00     0.48503145                            439,461.78    

July 2036 906,048.00     0.48988176                            443,856.39    

July 2037 906,048.00     0.49478058                            448,294.95    

July 2038 906,048.00     0.49972839                            452,777.91    

July 2039 906,048.00     0.50472567                            457,305.68    

July 2040 906,048.00     0.50977293                            461,878.74    

July 2041 906,048.00     0.51487066                            466,497.53    

July 2042 906,048.00     0.52001937                            471,162.51    

July 2043 906,048.00     0.52521956                            475,874.13    

July 2044 906,048.00     0.53047176                            480,632.88    

July 2045 906,048.00     0.53577648                            485,439.21    

July 2046 906,048.00     0.54113424                            490,293.60    

July 2047 906,048.00     0.54654558                            495,196.53    

July 2048 906,048.00     0.55201104                            500,148.50    

July 2049 906,048.00     0.55753115                            505,149.98    

July 2050 906,048.00     0.56310646                            510,201.48    

RENT PAYMENT SCHEDULE

LEASE AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN

City of Shelbyville
AND

Middle Tennessee State University



Square Price per Annual

Feet Square Foot Payments

RENT PAYMENT SCHEDULE

LEASE AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN

City of Shelbyville
AND

Middle Tennessee State University

July 2051 906,048.00     0.56873752                            515,303.49    

July 2052 906,048.00     0.57442490                            520,456.53    

July 2053 906,048.00     0.58016915                            525,661.10    

July 2054 906,048.00     0.58597084                            530,917.71    

July 2055 906,048.00     0.59183055                            536,226.89    

July 2056 906,048.00     0.59774886                            541,589.16    

July 2057 906,048.00     0.60372635                            547,005.05    

July 2058 906,048.00     0.60976361                            552,475.10    

July 2059 906,048.00     0.61586125                            557,999.85    

July 2060 906,048.00     0.62201986                            563,579.85    

July 2061 906,048.00     0.62824006                            569,215.65    

July 2062 906,048.00     0.63452246                            574,907.81    

Price per Square Foot escalates 1.00% each July.

 *The Adjacent Property Payment compensates for additional square feet added to the lease via First Amendment to 
the Lease Agreement and shall become due 30 day following the execution of the First Amendment.   

















































2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

Revenue

Flight Training Fees (specifically tagged for

   renewals, replacements and program needs 5,110,944       5,638,241       4,402,508       4,447,289       4,500,000       4,500,000       4,500,000       

Expenditures  *

Aircraft Purchases/Replacements/Repairs (1,087,468)     (824,229)         (6,020,339)     (800,000)         (7,500,000)     (7,500,000)     (4,000,000)     

Debt Service 

Existing Debt Service -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

New Debt Service -                           -                           -                           (300,000)         (393,900)         (397,839)         (401,817)         

Surplus Cash Flow 4,023,476       4,814,012       (1,617,831)     3,347,289       (3,393,900)     (3,397,839)     98,183              

Cumulative Surplus Cash Flow 4,023,476       8,837,488       7,219,657       10,566,946    7,173,046       3,775,207       3,873,390       

* Expenditures for purchases of new aircraft will be increasing with the move to a larger airport and operations.

Middle Tennessee State University
Flight Training Program Financial Projections



Scenario Number

Project Details Preliminary Results

School Name:
8

May Principal 

(with no DSRF)
November Principal

Project Name: TTU J.J. Oakley Innovation Center & Residence HallBond Proceeds $56,840,000 $56,840,000

SBC Number: 932 Issuance Costs¹ $56,840,000 $56,840,000

166/011-01-2023 DSRF $0 $0

Project Amount 56,000,000 Contingency $0 $0

Disclosed in budget? 1 1)
Includes Project Costs and Cost of Issuance

Issue Date 7/1/2027

First Interest Due 5/1/2028

First Principal Due 11/1/2028

Term of Financing 4

Final Principal Due 11/1/2058 Estimated Annual Max Debt Service

Payment Frequency 2

Tax Status 1 4,648,505.28$         

Tax Penalty 60 bps

Interest Rate 7.250%

Issuance Fees 1.50%

Cost of Issuance 840,000

DSRF Earnings Rate 2.250%

Financing Assumptions

Long-term Debt Stress Test Model



 

 

February 3, 2025 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Innovation Center Residence Hall 
SBC 166/011-01-2023 
Total Project Budget: $153,200,000.00 
Gross Square Footage:  ~250,000 
 
OVERALL PROJECT SCOPE 
 
The SBC approved budget is $153,200,000.00 for Phase 1 and 2.  This request is for Phase 1 
only with an estimated budget of $72,560,000. Phase 1 Residence Hall is estimated at 97,818 
GSF with an estimated budget of $62,320,000 which includes $56,000,000 of TSSBA funding 
and $6,320,000 of auxiliary housing funds.  The Innovation Center is estimated at 
$10,240,000.00 and is funded with a combination of Auxiliary and Non-Auxiliary Plant Funds. 
TTU is not requesting bond funding for the Innovation Center portion of this project.  
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION – Phase One 
 
The proposed J.J. Oakley Innovation Center & Residence Hall will be a new, state-of-the-art 
four-story residence hall that will expand on-campus housing options offered by TTU.  The new 
residence hall will provide 400 new beds in a mix of double occupancy rooms and semi-suites in 
“pod”-style units.  For this project, pod-style is the idea that a number of bedrooms (sometimes 
shared, sometimes single bedrooms) are grouped together around common amenities such as 
shared bathrooms, kitchenettes, and lounges.  The building will also have shared amenities 
such as study lounges, laundry, and recreation space.    
 
The project includes an innovation program that will serve as a new center for interdisciplinary 
innovation and entrepreneurship.  At approximately 15,392 square feet, it is envisioned as an 
expansive, dynamic, and flexible space that inspires interaction, collaboration, and 
entrepreneurial activity between all academic majors. The innovation center will include a C-
store grab-n-go food service, group collaboration spaces, clean and dirty fabrication labs, and 
administrative support space.  
 
Phase One of both the residence hall and innovation center is estimated to be 113,210 GSF. 
 
Estimate Phase One Budget:  
  
Bid Target: $61,647,690.00 

MACC:  $64,731,000.00 

Total Cost: $72,560,000.00 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Funding Sources 

TSSBA    $56,000,000.00 

Plant Funds (Aux-Housing)  $  6,320,000.00         

Plant Funds (Aux-Food Svcs.) $  7,050,000.00 

Plant Funds (Non-Aux)  $  3,190,000.00 

     $72,560,000.00 

The design development phase is complete.  The designer’s third-party estimator and the GC 
estimates will be complete by the end of February.  If the final DDP estimate exceeds the 
estimated budget, the university will contribute additional plant funds to fund the project.  
Additional bond funding will not be requested for phase one. 

The university plans to seek SBC approval in April to revise the funding, set the project budget 
and approve the Early Design Presentation.   



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY
PROJECT APPLICATION

DEPARTMENT:

INSTITUTION/LOCATION:

PROJECT :  Match Project

SBC PROJECT #:

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  Include an executive summary of the project to be approved.  

PROJECT BUDGET:

Funding Sources Original Revised Total

TSSBA

Total:

PROJECT LIFE:

Anticipated Useful Life of Project:

Desired Term for Financing (if less than useful life):

ESTIMATED ANNUAL FINANCING CHARGE*:
*To calculate this amount, click on the calculator

PROJECT REVENUES: (List the revenue sources and amounts for each revenue source)

Revenue Source: Original Revised Total Pledged1

Total:   
1Is this source pledged to another TSSBA project?

Tennessee Tech University/Cookeville/Putnam

166/011-01-2023

Plant Funds (Aux-Housing)

Plant Funds (Aux-Food Svcs.)

Plant Funds (Non-Aux)

$ 56,000,000.00
6,320,000.00
7,050,000.00
3,190,000.00

$ 72,560,000.00 $ 0.00

$ 56,000,000.00
$ 6,320,000.00
$ 7,050,000.00
$ 3,190,000.00
$ 72,560,000.00

50
30

$ 4,648,505.28

Room Rentals
Room Rental from other housing operations

$ 4,612,414.00
679,672.00

$ 0.00

$ 4,612,414.00

$ 679,672.00
$ 0.00
$ 0.00

$ 5,292,086.00$ 5,292,086.00

Tennessee Board of Regents

J.J. Oakley Innovation Center and Residence Hall



Page 2 of 5 4/26/2024

PROJECT CASH FLOW ANALYSIS: Include an annual cash flow analysis of how the revenues
are calculated will support the project.  Click here for an example.

PROJECT APPROVAL DATES:

SPA BOARD: UT/TBR BOARD:

THEC: SBC:

Disclosed in the Governor’s Budget as TSSBA Funding: If yes, what year? 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Physical description, including land, buildings and equipment with approximate 
dollar value.  (If a renovation or repair project, please provide information with respect to the renovated or improved 
portion as well as the entire structure). 

REAL ESTATE:

Owner of real Property

To be acquired To be leased or other arrangements .

********************************************

The purpose of the following questions are to determine the tax status of this project to be financed with the proceeds 
of Tennessee State School Bond Authority Bonds and/or Bond Anticipation Notes and the amount of private use 
associated with this project.  Private use means the direct or indirect use of the project by any entity other than a 
state or local government entity, including use by the Federal Government (including its agencies and 
instrumentalities) or a Section 501(c)(3), (c)(4), or (c)(6) organization.  When the project consists of an 
improvement that does not involve space that is being used directly by governmental or private users (for example, 
a re-roofing, air conditioning or energy efficiency improvement), all questions involving uses and users of the 
project should be answered by reference to all portions of the facility or facilities benefited by the improvement.

The questions below relate to the project referenced above.  

1. Project Status: (If the project has already been completed, and the proceeds are being used to reimburse the
department, please so indicate and include date of project completion.)

2. Project completion estimated to be:

3. Project Owner:

4. Project Operator (see also item 8 below):

If no, please explain:

06/22/2023
02/08/2023 12/14/2023

Construct a new residence hall that will provide up to 400 beds and 15,000 to 20,000 square
feet of ground level space dedicated to a learning community for entrepreneurship and
technology.

State of Tennessee/Tennessee Tech University

N/A N/A

Design Development

ready for occupancy Fall Semester 2027

State of Tennessee

Tennessee Tech University

Yes 23-24



Page 3 of 5 4/26/2024

5. Intended Use of the Project:

6. Intended Users of the Project (excluding use by the general public):

7. Indicate whether any of the following activities will take place at the project.  Indicate whether the activities
are operated by a private entity or will indirectly benefit a private entity. Include all incidental private uses.
For each direct or indirect private use of the project, indicate the total amount of space the private use occupies
in relation to the entire project.  (For example, if an area of vending machines operated by a private contractor
occupies 50 square feet of a 5,000 square foot area financed, indicate the relationship in terms of the ratio of
square footage used.)

If the project includes multiple buildings, fill this section out for each building.  Click for extra copies.

Name and Address of Building:

Gross Square Footage of Building

A. Vending Machines:
Square Footage

Operator 

Are any vending areas separated by walls, night gates, etc. so that they are under the control of
the service provider/operator?  

B. Wholesalers or retailers (e.g., Newsstand, Book Store, Pharmacy, etc.):
Square Footage 

Type

Operator 

C. Laundry Services:
Square Footage
Operator 

Are any laundry service areas separated by walls, night gates, etc. so that they are under the 
control of the service provider/operator?  

D. Cafeteria or other food services areas:
Square Footage

Operator 

E. Provision of health care services:
Square Footage

Operator 

Students enrolled at TTU

J.J. Oakley Innovation Center & Residence Hall
221 West Tenth Street
Cookeville TN 38505

113,210

39
University contracted vendors (Pepsi and Five Star)

none

680
University contracted vendor (Caldwell Gregory)

none

none

To provide on campus housing.



Page 4 of 5 4/26/2024

F. Laboratory research performed on behalf of or for the benefit of a private entity or pursuant to a
cooperative research agreement:

Square Footage

Recipient 

G. Office space utilized by or on behalf of private entities:
Square Footage

Occupant 

H. Provision of housing for persons or entities other than enrolled students:
Square Footage

8. Attach copies of any management contracts or incentive payment contracts entered into, or to be entered
into, in connection with the operation of the project.  (Do not include contracts for services that are solely
incidental to the primary governmental functions of the facility (for example, contracts for janitorial, office
equipment repair or similar services).  Indicate the portion of the project to which the contracts relate. Give
the usable square feet involved compared to the total usable square feet of the facility being financed.  If a
contract has not been entered into but is anticipated, indicate that fact.

9. Will any debt proceeds be used to make or finance loans to any private entity?  If so, indicate the amount of
such loans, the length and payment terms of such loans:

10. Indicate any expected payments (direct or indirect) to be made by non-governmental entities, separately and
in the aggregate, to the State or any other governmental entity, with respect to the project.

11. Additional information not explained above.

Completed this day of .

Facilities Development/Capital Projects Vice Chancellor for Business & Finance/
Sr. Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Chancellor/President

none

none

none

March    2025,

None anticipated

No

None

18th



Page 5 of 5 4/26/2024

To be filled out by the Authority

BOND COUNSEL APPROVAL: DATE    

GOOD

5%

10%



Project Name: Name(s) of the project under consideration. Include other historical names of the building if applicable.

Building Address: Physical address of the real property, if applicable

Institution: Tennessee Tech TSSBA member institution

Project Number:  166/011-01-2023 Project number to be assigned by the TSSBA

Category Rate Quantity Amount

Project Revenue: Fall Rentals (hotel style) 5,484.00                                   120 658,080.00          
1

List any applicable annual revenues to be generated by the project for repayment of the debt.

Project Revenue: Fall Rentals (doubles) 4,853.00                                   280 1,358,840.00       
 

List any applicable annual revenues to be that will be otherwise collected and pledged towards this debt.

Project Revenue: Spring Rentals (hotel style) 5,484.00                                   114 625,176.00          
2

Explain the assumptions behind the calculations such as: 98% occupancy of 707 beds at $3,475 per semester = $2,408,175.00

Project Revenue: Spring Rentals (doubles) 4,853.00                                   266 1,290,898.00       

Project Revenue: Summer Rentals 200 679,420.00          
2

Project Revenue: Room rentals from other housing operations 679,672.00          

Total Projected Revenues: 5,292,086.00       

Category Rate Quantity Amount

Project Expense: Operational expenses  1 413,580.00          
3

List any annual expenses applicable to the project

Project Expense:   1  
 

Project Expense: 1 -                       
 

Project Expense: 1 -                       
 

Total Projected Expenses: 413,580.00          

R&R Contributions: 230,000.00                                    230,000.00          
4

Renewal & Replacement contributions required to maintain the property.

Net Operating Income: 4,648,506.00       

Bond Series TSSBA Project Number Max Annual Debt Service MADS

Existing Debt Service:    -                       Existing max annual debt service located in amortization schedules provided to the institution, or requested from the TSSBA

Existing Debt Service:    -                       (Not applicable to new construction projects)

Existing Debt Service:    -                       

Existing Debt Service:    -                       

Total Existing Debt Service: -                       

Estimated Annual Financing Charge: 4,648,505.28                                 4,648,505.28       New projected debt service calculated by TSSBA Feasibility Analysis

Total Annual Project Cash Flow: 0.72                   

Assumptions:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Housing capacity will increase a net of 200 beds. 200 beds will replace older, unrenovated res hall.

Housing occupancy is estimated at 100% for fall and 95% for spring.  Summer revenues are based on summer camps. 

Net increase in operational expenses after reallocation of resources from vacated res hall.

R&R contribution estimated at 5% of revenues specific to room rentals. 

 

 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority

Annual Project Cash Flow Analysis Instructions

JJ Oakley Innovation Center & Residence Hall

University Drive



2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 2029-30 2030-31
Residential Hall Revenue Generating Beds 2299 2299 2,299 2,299 2,482 2,482 2,482 2,482
Revenue Occupancy % 88.30% 94.40% 94.40% 94.40% 94.40% 94.40% 94.40% 94.40%

Tech Village Revenue Generating Beds 364 364 364 364 364 364 364 364
Revenue Occupancy % 97.40% 97.40% 97.40% 97.40% 97.40% 97.40% 97.40% 97.40%

Residential Hall Revenue 13,266,785$                14,585,728$      15,315,015$             16,080,766$             16,884,804$             17,729,044$             18,615,496$             19,546,271$             
     Remove:  Crawford Revenue (998,695)$                 (998,695)$                 (998,695)$                 (998,695)$                 
     Add:  Innovation Hall Revenue 3,857,881$               4,050,775$               4,253,313$               4,465,979$               
Tech Village Revenue 2,332,340$                   2,372,445$           2,491,067$               2,615,621$               2,746,402$               2,883,722$               3,027,908$               3,179,303$               
Other Revenue 479,999$                      479,999$              479,999$                   479,999$                   479,999$                   479,999$                   479,999$                   479,999$                   
Total Housing Revenue 16,079,124$                17,438,173$         18,286,081$             19,176,385$             22,970,390$             24,144,844$             25,378,021$             26,672,857$             

Administrative Salaries 801,576$                      999,376$              1,029,357$               1,060,238$               1,092,045$               1,124,806$               1,158,551$               1,193,307$               
Clerical/Support Salaries 665,643$                      765,986$              788,966$                   812,635$                   837,014$                   862,124$                   887,988$                   914,627$                   
Student 703,207$                      585,635$              585,635$                   585,635$                   585,635$                   585,635$                   585,635$                   585,635$                   
Benefits 629,442$                      651,919$              671,477$                   691,621$                   712,369$                   733,741$                   755,753$                   778,425$                   
Travel 12,954$                        14,000$                14,000$                     14,000$                     14,000$                     14,000$                     14,000$                     14,000$                     
Building Maintenance 1,301,324$                   1,000,000$           1,020,000$               1,040,400$               1,061,208$               1,082,432$               1,104,081$               1,126,162$               
Other Operating 1,712,575$                   1,712,575$           1,746,827$               1,781,763$               1,817,398$               1,853,746$               1,890,821$               1,928,638$               
Allocations 2,256,815$                   2,870,977$           2,870,977$               2,870,977$               2,870,977$               2,870,977$               2,870,977$               2,870,977$               
Equipment 147,453$                      
Net expenses for Innovation Hall 413,580$                   421,852$                   430,289$                   438,894$                   
Total Housing Expenditures 8,230,989$                   8,600,468$           8,727,238$               8,857,269$               9,404,227$               9,549,313$               9,698,094$               9,850,666$               

Net Operating Income and Debt Service 7,848,134$                   8,837,705$           9,558,843$               10,319,117$             13,566,163$             14,595,531$             15,679,927$             16,822,191$             

Existing Debt Service 6,453,888$                   6,546,610$           6,503,901$               6,470,973$               5,981,914$               6,104,401$               4,792,939$               2,458,088$               
New Debt Service 4,648,505$               4,648,505$               4,648,505$               4,648,505$               
Total Debt Service 6,453,888$                   6,546,610$           6,503,901$               6,470,973$               10,630,419$             10,752,906$             9,441,444$               7,106,593$               

Debt Coverage Ratio after debt Service 1.22 1.35 1.47 1.59 1.28 1.36 1.66 2.37
Total Surplus Cash Flow for Deferred Maintenance 1,394,246$                   2,291,094$           3,054,942$               3,848,144$               2,935,744$               3,842,625$               6,238,483$               9,715,598$               
Cumulative Surplus Cash Flow available for Deferred Maintenance 6,733,279$                  9,024,373$           9,079,315$               7,600,459$               4,826,204$               5,668,829$               7,907,312$               11,697,910$             
Annual Master Deferred Maintenance Spending Plan 3,000,000$           5,327,000$               5,710,000$               3,000,000$               4,000,000$               5,925,000$               7,000,000$               
Cumulative Surplus Cash Flow available after Deferred Maintenance 6,733,279$                  6,024,373$           3,752,315$               1,890,459$               1,826,204$               1,668,829$               1,982,312$               4,697,910$               

Notes:
2023-24 Revenes and Expenses are based on actuals.
2024-25 Residential Hall Revenue based on Fall actual occupancy rate at 94.40% and Spring actual occupancy rate at 89.98%.
2024-25 Tech Village Revenue based on Fall actual occupancy rate at 97.40% and Spring actual occupancy rate at 93.8%.
2027-28 Crawford Hall will go offline(217 beds) and Innovation Hall will be online(400 beds).
2025-26 through 2030-31 revenue is calculated at an assumption of an annual 5% ATB increase in rental rates.
2025-26 through 2030-31 Administrative salaries,  clerical salaries, and benefits  is calculated at an assumption of an annual 3% increase.
2025-26 through 2030-31 building maintenance, other operating is calculated at an assumption of an annual 2% increase.
2027-28 through 2030-31 Innovation Hall is calculated at a 2% increase.  This additional cost is the net of Crawford going offline and Innovation Hall coming online
2027-28  Innovation Hall debt service begins
2029-30 Warf Ellington and RH Ph2 917-17C debt service rolls off
2030-31 Jobe Murphy, RH Ph2 917-15B and Maddux McCord debt service rolls off
2027-28 through 2030-31 Annual Maintenance Plan will have to be adjusted due to funds available

Tennessee Tech 
Housing Financial Projections

Revenues

Expenditures

Net Operating Income and Debt Service



  3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND 

PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND 

PROGRAM BONDS 

WHEREAS, the Authority and the Board of Trustees have entered into a certain 

Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997 in order to provide for the 

financing and refinancing by the Authority of Projects of the Board of Trustees, and the 

Authority and the Board of Regents have entered into a certain Second Program Financing 

Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997 in order to provide for the financing and refinancing 

by the Authority of Projects of the Board of Regents (said Second Program Financing 

Agreements, as supplemented and amended from time to time, being herein collectively called 

the “Second Program Financing Agreements”); 

WHEREAS, the members of the Authority duly adopted on April 27, 1998 a 

resolution entitled “HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM 

GENERAL BOND RESOLUTION” (the “Second Program General Bond Resolution”) 

authorizing the issuance of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (the “Bonds”) 

from time to time in Series for any purpose permitted under the Act, including to provide for the 

payment of Project Costs, and otherwise as provided in the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution; 

WHEREAS, in order to provide interim financing of the cost of certain Projects, 

the Authority entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 1, 2024, with Bank of 

America, N.A. (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”), and has contracted Revolving Loans 

thereunder (the “Revolving Loans”); and 

WHEREAS, it may be necessary or desirable to prepay Revolving Loans for 

certain Projects and to finance Project Costs of certain other Projects, and it is deemed necessary 

and desirable at this time to authorize the issuance of Bonds for such purposes as set forth and 

provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the members of the Tennessee State 

School Bond Authority: 

SECTION 1.  Definitions.  Unless the context shall clearly indicate some other 

meaning, all words and terms used in this Supplemental Resolution which are defined in the 

Second Program General Bond Resolution (the Second Program General Bond Resolution and 

this Supplemental Resolution being herein collectively called the “Resolutions”) or in this 

Supplemental Resolution shall, for all purposes of this Supplemental Resolution (including the 

preambles hereto), for all purposes of any certificate, resolution or other instrument amendatory 

hereof or supplemental hereto and for all purposes of any opinion, instrument or other document 

herein or therein mentioned, have the respective meanings given to them in the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution or this Supplemental Resolution, as the case may be.  



2 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include 

correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context shall otherwise 

indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa. 

The terms “hereby”, “hereof,” “hereto”, “herein,” “hereunder”, and any similar 

terms, as used in this Supplemental Resolution, refer to this Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 2.  Authorization of 2025 Bonds.  (a)  There is hereby authorized to be 

issued under the Act and the Second Program General Bond Resolution one or more Series of 

Bonds (individually and collectively herein called the “2025 Bonds”) designated “Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” and which may bear such further designation or 

designations as may be provided in the respective 2025 Bonds Series Certificate (as defined in 

Section 4(a) hereof).  The 2025 Bonds shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to 

exceed, in the aggregate, $250,000,000.   

(b) The 2025 Bonds may be issued as bonds the interest on which is excluded 

from gross income for Federal income tax purposes (the “Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds”), or as 

bonds the interest on which is included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes (the 

“Taxable 2025 Bonds”), or in part as Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds and in part as Taxable 2025 

Bonds. 

(c) The 2025 Bonds may be issued at one time or from time to time. 

SECTION 3.  Purposes.  The 2025 Bonds may be issued (i) to provide for the 

prepayment of all or a portion of outstanding Revolving Loans contracted to finance all or a 

portion of the costs of the Projects identified pursuant to Section 4(a)(i) hereof, including funded 

interest, if any, (ii) to finance all or a portion of the costs of Projects identified pursuant to 

Section 4(a)(i) hereof, including funded interest, if any, and (iii) to provide for the payment of 

costs of issuance of the 2025 Bonds.  

SECTION 4.  Series Certificates.  (a)  Pursuant to Section 202(B) of the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution, there is hereby delegated to an Authorized Officer the power 

to determine, by means of a Series Certificate or Series Certificates (each, a “2025 Bonds Series 

Certificate”), the following:  

(i) the Projects financed or refinanced by the 2025 Bonds authorized by 

clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 3 hereof, and the principal amount of 2025 Bonds issued for each 

such Project, 

(ii) the principal amount of outstanding Revolving Loans for each Project to 

be prepaid with proceeds of the 2025 Bonds pursuant to subsection (a)(i) of this Section 4, 

(iii) the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, if any, for the 2025 Bonds issued 

for each Project, 

(iv) the matters provided in Sections 2, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13 and 16 hereof and this 

Section 4, and 



3 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

(v) any other matters and provisions deemed advisable by such Authorized 

Officer and not in conflict herewith or with the Second Program General Bond Resolution.   

(b) No Series of such 2025 Bonds shall be issued unless (i) the issuance 

thereof is consistent with the Authority’s Debt Management Policy, as certified to the Authority 

by the Financial Advisor to the Authority (the “Financial Advisor”), and (ii) an Authorized 

Officer, by execution of the 2025 Bonds Series Certificate, confirms the receipt of such 

certification of the Financial Advisor.  

(c) Each 2025 Bonds Series Certificate shall be filed with the Trustee, 

whereupon it shall be deemed for all purposes of the Resolution to have been adopted by the 

Authority and to be a part of this Supplemental Resolution as if set forth in full herein. 

SECTION 5.  Details of 2025 Bonds.  The following provisions set forth details 

of the 2025 Bonds, subject in each case (except subsection (a) of this Section) to any contrary 

specification in a 2025 Bonds Series Certificate.  

(a) The 2025 Bonds shall (i) subject to Section 2 hereof, be in such aggregate 

principal amount, (ii) be dated and bear interest from such date or dates, (iii) be issuable in such 

form, (iv) be of such denominations, (v) be numbered and bear such other designations, 

(vi) mature on the dates (which shall not be later than 30 years after the date of issuance) and in 

the principal amounts, (vii) bear interest at the rates and be payable on the dates and in the 

manner, (viii) be Serial Bonds or Term Bonds, (ix) if Term Bonds, be subject to retirement from 

mandatory Sinking Fund Installments, and (x) be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the 

times and Redemption Prices, subject to Section 7 hereof, in the case of clauses (i) through (x) 

above all as provided in the respective 2025 Bonds Series Certificate.   

(b) The 2025 Bonds shall be payable as to principal, Sinking Fund 

Installments, if any, Redemption Price and interest in such coin or currency of the United States 

of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private 

debts.  Principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of the 2025 Bonds 

shall be payable upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Paying Agent appointed by 

subsection (f) of this Section at its designated office.  Interest on the 2025 Bonds shall be paid 

by the Paying Agent by check mailed to the Owner at such Owner’s address as it appears on the 

registration books of the Authority maintained by the Registrar as of the fifteenth day (whether 

or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding the respective due date.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and 

Redemption Price of and interest on the 2025 Bonds may be made in any manner agreed to by 

the Authority and the Paying Agent for so long as DTC (as defined in subsection (c) of this 

Section) or its nominee (or any substitute depository, or successor) is the Owner thereof as 

Securities Depository (as defined in subsection (c) of this Section). 

(c) The 2025 Bonds when initially issued shall be registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). 

DTC is hereby designated the securities depository for the 2025 Bonds (the “Securities 

Depository”), except as provided in subsection (d) of this Section. So long as DTC or its 

nominee is the Owner of the 2025 Bonds as Securities Depository, individual purchases of 



4 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

beneficial ownership interests in 2025 Bonds may be made only in book-entry form by or 

through DTC participants, and purchasers of such beneficial ownership interests in 2025 Bonds 

will not receive physical delivery of 2025 Bond certificates representing the beneficial 

ownership interest purchased. 

The Authority shall have no responsibility for transmitting payments to, 

communicating with, notifying, or otherwise dealing with any beneficial owners of the 2025 

Bonds or nominees thereof. 

(d) The Authority shall issue 2025 Bond certificates (the “Replacement 

Bonds”) directly to beneficial owners of the 2025 Bonds or to DTC, as specified by DTC 

procedures, but only in the event that (i) DTC determines to discontinue providing its services 

with respect to the 2025 Bonds, or (ii) the Authority discontinues use of DTC (or any substitute 

depository, or successor), subject to DTC procedures.  The Authority, the Trustee and the 

Registrar shall be fully protected in relying upon information provided by DTC, DTC 

participants or other nominees of beneficial owners, or beneficial owners with respect to the 

names, addresses and amounts owned by the beneficial owners and other information supplied 

by them for the purpose of delivering Replacement Bonds. 

(e) Provisions similar to those contained in subsections (c) and (d) of this 

Section may be made by the Authority in connection with the appointment by the Authority of a 

substitute Securities Depository for the 2025 Bonds, or in the event of a successor to DTC or to 

any substitute or successor of any thereof. 

(f) Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee is the successor Trustee under the 

General Bond Resolution and Registrar and Paying Agent for all Bonds. 

SECTION 6.  Separate Reserve Account for 2025 Bonds.  (a) Pursuant to 

paragraph (C) of Section 1001 of the Second Program General Bond Resolution, there is hereby 

established for the 2025 Bonds a separate Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall 

be applied solely to the payment of 2025 Bonds.  The amount required to be on deposit in such 

separate Account initially shall be zero ($0.00), but a different amount may be specified or 

calculated in a manner specified in a separate Supplemental Resolution, subject to the provisions 

of such paragraph (C), which such separate Supplemental Resolution also may make such other 

amendments, changes or modifications to the Resolutions as may be deemed necessary or 

desirable by the Authority to ensure that the Accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund function 

in the manner contemplated in the Second Program General Bond Resolution. 

(b) Anything in the Second Program General Bond Resolution to the contrary 

notwithstanding, the 2025 Bonds shall have no claim or lien on nor shall any 2025 Bonds be 

payable from any amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund other than amounts in the Account 

therein established by subsection (a) above, and the 2025 Bonds shall be excluded from the 

calculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for all other Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 7.  Redemption.  (a)  The 2025 Bonds may be subject to redemption 

prior to maturity as provided in 2025 Bonds Series Certificates pursuant to Section 5(a)(x) 

hereof; provided, however, that the Redemption Prices of Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds shall be fixed 



5 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

prices not to exceed 103% of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, and of Taxable 2025 

Bonds shall be fixed prices not to exceed 103% of the principal thereof to be redeemed or 

make-whole prices or a combination thereof, in each case together with the interest accrued on 

the principal amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for redemption; and provided further, 

however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, any 2025 Bonds may be made not redeemable prior 

to maturity.  

Notice of such redemption shall be mailed to the Owners of the 2025 Bonds or 

portions thereof to be redeemed at the times and in the manner provided in Section 405 of the 

Second Program General Bond Resolution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as DTC or 

its nominee, or any substitute depository, or successor, is the Owner of the 2025 Bonds as 

Securities Depository (as defined in Section 5(c) hereof), notice of redemption may be given in 

the manner, and presentation and surrender of the 2025 Bonds may be waived to the extent, 

agreed to by the Authority, the Registrar and DTC, or any substitute depository, or successor, as 

the case may be.  Any failure of DTC or any substitute depository, or successor, or participant of 

any thereof, to notify a beneficial owner of a 2025 Bond of any redemption shall not affect the 

sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of such 2025 Bond.  

SECTION 8.  Findings and Determinations.  The Authority hereby finds and 

determines that (i) the Second Program General Bond Resolution has not been amended, 

supplemented or repealed since the effective date thereof other than by (A) the Supplemental 

Resolutions adopted by the members of the Authority from time to time to authorize and provide 

for the issuance and sale of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, (B) the 

Supplemental Resolution Amending General Bond Resolution adopted by the members of the 

Authority on July 26, 2004, and (C) the Supplemental Resolution Amending General Bond 

Resolution and Authorizing Amendment of Financing Agreements adopted by the members of 

the Authority on September 16, 2013, (ii) this Supplemental Resolution constitutes and is a 

“Supplemental Resolution” within the meaning of and as defined and used in the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution, (iii) the 2025 Bonds shall constitute and be “Bonds” within 

the meaning of and as defined and used in the Second Program General Bond Resolution and 

shall be entitled to the benefits, security and protection of the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution as set forth therein, and (iv) all Projects for which the 2025 Bonds are to be issued 

have been approved by the Authority and constitute “Projects” within the meaning of and as 

defined in the Second Program General Bond Resolution and the Agreements.   

SECTION 9.  Application of Proceeds of 2025 Bonds and Other Amounts; 

Project Construction Accounts.  (a)  (i)  The accrued interest, if any, received from the 

Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) as part of the purchase price of the 2025 

Bonds shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund and applied to the payment of a portion of 

the interest due on the 2025 Bonds on the first interest payment date therefor. 

(ii) There is hereby created and established in the Construction Fund a 

separate Project Construction Account for each Project specified in a 2025 Bonds Series 

Certificate which is financed or refinanced by the 2025 Bonds for which Project Costs (other 

than costs of issuance of the 2025 Bonds) will be funded from proceeds of the sale of the 2025 

Bonds and for which a Project Construction Account has not previously been established.  There 

shall be paid from the proceeds of the sale of the 2025 Bonds into the Project Construction 



6 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

Account for each such Project the amount of the proceeds of the 2025 Bonds allocable to such 

Project to be used to pay Project Costs of such Project which are not provided for in other 

subsections of this Section, which shall be used to pay such Project Costs.   

(iii) There is hereby created and established in the Debt Service Fund a 

separate Capitalized Interest Account for, and designated by the name of, any Project financed 

by the 2025 Bonds for which interest will be paid from proceeds of the sale of the 2025 Bonds, 

as may be specified in the 2025 Bonds Series Certificates.  There shall be deposited to each such 

Capitalized Interest Account the respective amount, if any, specified in the 2025 Bonds Series 

Certificates, which shall be used to pay interest on Series 2025 Bonds as specified in the 2025 

Bonds Series Certificates. 

(iv) The proceeds derived from the sale of the 2025 Bonds to be applied to the 

prepayment of outstanding Revolving Loans shall be deposited and applied as provided in 

Section 10 hereof. 

(v) [Reserved]. 

(vi) There shall be paid from the proceeds of the sale of the 2025 Bonds into 

the General Fund the balance of the proceeds of the 2025 Bonds, which shall be used to pay 

costs of issuance of the 2025 Bonds or, subject to Section 15 hereof and after consultation with 

the Authority, for other purposes permitted by the Act (as defined in the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution), the Resolutions and the Second Program Financing Agreements.   

(b) Additional deposits may be made into any Fund or Account as may be 

provided in 2025 Bonds Series Certificates. 

SECTION 10.  Prepayment of Outstanding Revolving Loans.  The proceeds 

derived from the sale of the 2025 Bonds to be applied to the prepayment of outstanding 

Revolving Loans shall be applied as required by the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

SECTION 11.  [Reserved]. 

SECTION 12.  Continuing Disclosure.  Any officer, member or Assistant 

Secretary of the Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking, substantially in the form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking executed and 

delivered in connection with the issuance of the Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A and 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable), with such 

variations as the signatory thereof, after consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve 

as necessary or appropriate, such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such 

approval and consultation.  Execution of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking as aforesaid and 

delivery of the same to the Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) shall be a condition 

precedent to the obligation of the Purchasers to purchase the 2025 Bonds.  

The Authority covenants with the holders from time to time of the 2025 Bonds 

that it will, and hereby authorizes the appropriate officers and employees of the Authority to take 

all action necessary or appropriate to, comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking as amended from time to time.  Notwithstanding any other 



7 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

provision of the Resolutions, failure of the Authority to perform in accordance with the 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall not constitute a default or an event of default and shall 

not result in any acceleration of payment of any 2025 Bonds, and any rights and remedies 

provided by the Resolutions and applicable law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event 

of default shall not apply to any such failure, but the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking may be 

enforced only as provided therein. 

SECTION 13.  Execution and Authentication of 2025 Bonds; Form of Bonds.   

(a)  The 2025 Bonds shall be executed in the name of the Authority by the manual or facsimile 

signature of any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority and the seal of the 

Authority shall be affixed thereto or impressed or imprinted thereon or a facsimile thereof 

affixed thereto or reproduced thereon, and attested by the manual signature of one other of such 

Authorized Officers or Assistant Secretaries of the Authority, or as otherwise required by law.  

(b) The 2025 Bonds shall each have endorsed thereon a certificate of 

authentication executed by the Registrar either by manual or facsimile signature.  Unless and 

until such certificate of authentication shall have been manually executed by an authorized 

officer of the Registrar, no 2025 Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or shall be 

entitled to any right or benefit under the Resolutions. Each certificate of authentication shall be 

dated as of the date of execution thereof. 

(c) The 2025 Bonds of each Series shall be numbered from R-1 upwards and 

may contain such other number or letter designations as determined by the Registrar. 

(d) The 2025 Bonds, including the aforesaid certificate of authentication, shall 

be of substantially the form and tenor as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, subject to change as 

provided in or to be consistent with any 2025 Bonds Series Certificates. 

SECTION 14.  CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP identification numbers shall be 

imprinted on the 2025 Bonds, but no such number shall constitute a part of the contract 

evidenced by the particular bond upon which it is imprinted, no liability shall attach to the 

Authority or any officer or agent thereof, including the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar for 

the 2025 Bonds, because of or on account of such numbers or any use made thereof including 

any use thereof made by the Authority or any such officer or agent, or by reason of any 

inaccuracy, error or omission with respect thereto or in such use, and neither the failure to print 

any such number on any 2025 Bond nor any inaccuracy, error, or omission with respect thereto  

(including any failure to imprint such numbers on any 2025 Bonds) shall constitute cause for 

failure or refusal by the Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) to accept delivery of 

and pay for the 2025 Bonds in accordance with the terms of its proposal.  All expenses in 

relation to the printing of such numbers on the 2025 Bonds will be paid by the Authority; 

provided, however, that the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of such numbers  

shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid by the Purchasers.  In addition, the Authority’s 

Financial Advisor in the case of 2025 Bonds sold by competitive sale, or the Purchasers in the 

case of 2025 Bonds sold by negotiated sale, shall be responsible for timely applying for the 

CUSIP identification numbers as required by Rule G-34 promulgated by the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board.   



8 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

SECTION 15.  Tax Covenants.  The Authority hereby covenants that it will not 

use, or permit the use of, any proceeds of the Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds in a manner that would 

cause the Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds to be subjected to treatment under Section 148 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and applicable regulations thereunder, as each 

is then in effect, as an “arbitrage bond”, and to that end the Authority shall comply with 

applicable regulations under said Section 148. The Authority further covenants with the 

registered owners from time to time of the Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds that it will throughout the 

term of the Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds and through the date that the final rebate, if any, must be 

made to the United States in accordance with Section 148 of the Code, comply with the 

provisions of Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code and all regulations proposed and 

promulgated thereunder that must be satisfied in order that interest on the Tax-Exempt 2025 

Bonds shall be and continue to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes 

under said Section 103.  

SECTION 16.  Sale and Issuance of 2025 Bonds; Preliminary Official Statement; 

Final Official Statement.  (a)  If the 2025 Bonds are divided pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the 

2025 Bonds of more than one Series may be sold collectively or on a Series-by-Series basis.  

(b)  The 2025 Bonds of each Series may be sold at either a competitive or 

negotiated sale, the Bonds of any Series may be sold by any such method, and the Bonds of any 

other Series may be sold by any other such method, as determined in a 2025 Bonds Series 

Certificate.  

(c) If Sold by Competitive Sale: 

(1) There is hereby authorized a Notice of Sale relating to the 2025 Bonds 

sold at competitive sale, substantially in the form utilized in connection with the sale of the 

Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A and 2022 

Series B (Federally Taxable), but reflecting details of the transactions contemplated by this 

Supplemental Resolution, with such variations, as any Authorized Officer, after consultation 

with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the “Notice of Sale”), 

the distribution of which as hereinafter authorized shall be conclusive evidence of such approval 

and consultation. 

(2) Any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is hereby 

authorized to cause the Notice of Sale and Preliminary Official Statement (as defined in 

subsection (e) of this Section 15) to be distributed to prospective purchasers of such 2025 Bonds 

and/or published on any Internet platform.  The use of any Internet platform as a 

communications medium to receive bids for the purchase of such 2025 Bonds, as may be 

provided in the Notice of Sale, also is hereby authorized. 

(3) Any Authorized Officer may award the 2025 Bonds to the successful 

bidder or bidders therefor (the “Competitive Sale Purchasers”) determined in accordance with 

and otherwise complying with the Notice of Sale or, as permitted by the Notice of Sale, may 

reject any or all proposals received for the purchase of such 2025 Bonds or waive any 

irregularity in any proposal; provided, however, that the true interest cost of such 2025 Bonds, 

determined as provided in the Notice of Sale by the Authorized Officer executing the related 



9 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

2025 Bonds Series Certificate, which determination shall be conclusive, shall not exceed 5.50% 

for Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds of each Series and 6.50% for Taxable 2025 Bonds of each Series.  

Such awards and determinations shall be confirmed in the related 2025 Bonds Series Certificate. 

(d) If Sold by Negotiated Sale: 

(1) The 2025 Bonds sold at negotiated sale are hereby authorized to be sold to 

such managing underwriter and the other underwriters as may be selected by the Comptroller and 

named in the Bond Purchase Agreement authorized in paragraph (2) below (collectively, the 

“Negotiated Sale Purchasers” and, together with the Competitive Sale Purchasers, the 

“Purchasers”) upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  In 

consideration of Section 4(b) hereof and paragraph (2) below, it is not necessary for the 

Authority to place any limitation on the purchase price payable by the Negotiated Sale 

Purchasers. 

(2) Any officer, member or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is hereby 

authorized to execute and deliver a Bond Purchase Agreement or Agreements, substantially in 

the form executed and delivered in connection with the issuance of the Authority’s Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable), with such 

variations as the officer, member or Assistant Secretary executing such agreements, after 

consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (each, a 

“Bond Purchase Agreement”), such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such 

approval and consultation; provided, however, that the true interest cost of such 2025 Bonds, 

determined by a 2025 Bonds Series Certificate, which determination shall be conclusive, shall 

not exceed 5.50% for Tax-Exempt 2025 Bonds of each Series and 6.50% for Taxable 2025 

Bonds of each Series. 

(e) There is hereby authorized a Preliminary Official Statement relating to the 

2025 Bonds, substantially in the form of the draft thereof presented to the Members of the 

Authority in advance of the meeting at which this Supplemental Resolution is adopted, with 

such variations, omissions and insertions as any Authorized Officer, after consultation with 

counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the “Preliminary Official 

Statement”), the publication or distribution of which as hereinafter authorized shall be 

conclusive evidence of such approval and consultation; provided, however, that a draft thereof 

shall be distributed to the members of the Authority prior to publication and distribution as 

hereinafter authorized.  Any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is 

hereby authorized to cause the Preliminary Official Statement to be distributed to prospective 

purchasers of the 2025 Bonds and/or published on the Internet via any Internet platform, 

substantially in such form, with such necessary or appropriate variations, omissions and 

insertions as determined by such officer after consultation with counsel to the Authority.  Any 

Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is authorized to (i) determine that the 

Preliminary Official Statement, as so modified, is “deemed final” as of its date for purposes of 

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 15c2-12”) except for omissions 

permitted by such Rule, subject to revision, amendment and completion in the final Official 

Statement as defined in such Rule, (ii) include such determination in the Notice of Sale and/or 

Preliminary Official Statement, and (iii) confirm such determination in a 2025 Bonds Series 

Certificate or Certificates or Bond Purchase Agreement. 



10 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

(f) Any Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to prepare or 

cause to be prepared, and to execute and deliver by such time as may be required by Rule 15c2-

12, an Official Statement relating to the 2025 Bonds substantially in the form of the Preliminary 

Official Statement, with such variations, omissions and insertions as such Authorized Officer, 

after consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the 

“Official Statement”), the execution and delivery of which shall be conclusive evidence of 

such approval and consultation.  

(g) The Authority hereby authorizes the use and distribution of the 

Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in connection with the offering and 

sale of the 2025 Bonds. 

(h) The Authorized Officers and other officers and employees of the 

Authority, and other officials and employees of the State, including those of the Division of 

State Government Finance of the State, are hereby authorized and directed to carry out or cause 

to be carried out all obligations of the Authority under each Bond Purchase Agreement and to 

execute and deliver all documents and to perform such other actions not otherwise provided for 

by this Section as they, in consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall consider necessary or 

advisable in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the 2025 Bonds. 

(i) Without limiting the generality of subsection (h) of this Section, (1) if any 

commitment or commitments are obtained by the Authority for municipal bond insurance in 

connection with any or all of the 2025 Bonds, the procurement of such insurance, and the 

execution by any Authorized Officer of such commitment or commitments and such other 

documents as may be required thereby, is hereby authorized, and (2) if municipal bond 

insurance is specified by the Purchasers as part of their bid, or in the Bond Purchase Agreement, 

for the 2025 Bonds, the execution and delivery of any documents relating to such insurance is 

hereby authorized.  Each 2025 Bonds Series Certificate relating to insured 2025 Bonds may 

include such matters pertaining to such insurance as may be necessary or desirable to satisfy the 

commitment therefor. 

(j) All actions heretofore taken by the officers, employees and agents of the 

Authority in connection with the offering and sale of the 2025 Bonds are hereby ratified and 

confirmed. 

SECTION 17.  Authority for this Supplemental Resolution.  This Supplemental 

Resolution is adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Act and the Second Program General 

Bond Resolution. 

SECTION 18.  Supplemental Resolution Constitutes Contract.  In consideration 

of the purchase and acceptance of any and all of the 2025 Bonds issued hereunder by those who 

are Owners of the 2025 Bonds from time to time, this Supplemental Resolution shall be deemed 

to be and shall constitute a contract between the Authority and the Owners of the 2025 Bonds, 

and the pledges made in this Supplemental Resolution and the covenants and agreements herein 

set forth to be performed on behalf of the Authority shall be for the equal benefit, protection and 

security of the Owners of any and all of the 2025 Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or 

times of their authentication, issuance or delivery, or maturity, shall be of equal rank without 



11 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

preference, priority or distinction of any of the 2025 Bonds over any other thereof, except as 

expressly provided in or permitted by the Resolutions. 

SECTION 19.  Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements or obligations provided in this Supplemental Resolution on the part of the 

Authority or any Fiduciary to be performed should be determined by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, stipulation or stipulations, 

promise or promises, agreement or agreements, obligation or obligations shall be deemed and 

construed to be severable from the remaining covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and 

obligations herein contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this 

Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 20.  Headings of Sections.  The headings of the sections of this 

Supplemental Resolution are for convenience of reference only, and shall not affect the meaning, 

construction or interpretation of this Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 21.  Effective Date.  This Supplemental Resolution shall be in full 

force and effect from and after its adoption as provided by law. 

ADOPTED:  March 24, 2025. 



 

A-1 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

EXHIBIT A 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF 

DTC TO THE BOND TRUSTEE FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE 

OR PAYMENT, AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE 

& CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS REQUIRED BY AN AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO., ANY 

TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY 

OR TO ANY PERSONS IS WRONGFUL SINCE THE REGISTERED OWNER 

HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

No. R-____ $____________ 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BOND 

2025 SERIES __ [(FEDERALLY TAXABLE)] 

 

Date of 

  Bond   

Interest 

  Rate    

Maturity 

   Date    CUSIP 

    

_________, 2025 ____% _____ 1, _____ 880558 ___ 

    

Registered Owner: Cede & Co.   

    

Principal Amount:  

  

THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY (hereinafter called 

the “Authority”), a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee, 

organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of said State, acknowledges itself 

indebted to, and for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner hereof 

named above or registered assigns, but solely from the revenues and other moneys of the 

Authority hereinafter specified and not otherwise, the Principal Amount set forth above on the 

Maturity Date set forth above [(subject, if this Bond matures on or after _____ 1, 20__, to prior 

redemption as hereinafter mentioned)], upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the 

corporate trust office of Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, as successor Trustee and Paying 

Agent under the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution 

adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998 (as the same has been and may be amended, herein 

called the “Second Program General Bond Resolution”) and the Supplemental Resolution 

hereinafter referred to, or its successor or successors as Trustee (herein called the “Trustee”) and 

as Paying Agent (herein called the “Paying Agent”), and to pay interest on such Principal 

Amount, but solely from such revenues and other moneys of the Authority hereinafter specified 

and not otherwise, from the date hereof until the payment of such Principal Amount in full, at the 

Interest Rate per annum set forth above, payable on ____________ 1, 20__, and semi-annually 

thereafter on _____ 1 and _____ 1, such interest to be paid to the Registered Owner as of the 

close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of the next preceding 

calendar month by check mailed by the Paying Agent to such Registered Owner at his address as 

it appears on the registration books of the Authority maintained by Regions Bank, Nashville, 



 

A-2 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

Tennessee, as Registrar under the Second Program General Bond Resolution, or its successor or 

successors as Registrar (herein called the “Registrar”) except to the extent any other method of 

payment is permitted by the Supplemental Resolution hereinafter referred to and agreed to by the 

Authority and the Paying Agent.  The offices of the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar shall be 

determined from time to time pursuant to the Second Program General Bond Resolution.  

Principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on this Bond 

are payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment 

thereof is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  Interest on this Bond shall be 

computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Authority designated 

“Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” (herein called the “Bonds”) issued and to 

be issued in various series under and pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act 

(Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, herein called the “Act”) and the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution.  The Bonds constitute special obligations of the Authority the 

principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on which shall 

be payable solely from and secured solely by the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative 

Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions 

permitted by the Second Program General Bond Resolution.  Annual Financing Charges are 

payable by the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee and by the Tennessee Board of 

Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee under 

the respective Second Program Financing Agreements dated as of November 1, 1997, each as 

amended and restated as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Authority and each such Board (as 

the same may be supplemented and amended from time to time, the “Second Program Financing 

Agreements”) and Legislative Appropriations are payable by said Boards pursuant to the Second 

Program Financing Agreements and the Act.   

As provided in the Second Program General Bond Resolution, Bonds may be 

issued from time to time pursuant to Supplemental Resolutions in one or more Series and in 

various principal amounts, may mature at different times, may bear interest at different rates and, 

subject to the provisions thereof, may otherwise vary.  The aggregate principal amount of Bonds 

which may be issued under the Second Program General Bond Resolution is not limited except 

as may be limited by law, and as provided in or permitted by the Resolution (as hereinafter 

defined), and all Bonds issued and to be issued under the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution are and will be equally secured by the pledges and covenants made therein, except as 

otherwise expressly provided in or permitted by the Second Program General Bond Resolution. 

This Bond is one of a Series of Bonds designated “Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series __ [(Federally Taxable)]” (herein called the “2025 Bonds”) 

issued in the aggregate principal amount of $____________ under and pursuant to the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution and a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Authority on 

March 24, 2025, including as a part thereof a Series Certificate of the Authority dated 

___________, 2025 (the “Series Certificate”) (together herein called the “Supplemental 

Resolution”; collectively with the Second Program General Bond Resolution, the “Resolution”).  

Copies of the Resolution, including the Supplemental Resolution, are on file at the office of the 

Authority and at the designated office of the Trustee, and reference to the Resolution and any 



 

A-3 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

and all supplements thereto and amendments thereof and to the Act is made for a description of 

the pledges and covenants securing the Bonds, including the 2025 Bonds; the nature, extent and 

manner of enforcement of such pledges; the rights and remedies of the Owners of the Bonds with 

respect thereto; the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are issued and may be issued 

thereunder; and definitions of certain terms used herein.  To the extent and in the manner 

permitted by the terms of the Resolution, the provisions of the Resolution or any resolution 

amendatory thereto or supplemental thereof may be amended by the Authority, in some cases 

without the consent of any Owners of Bonds and in some cases with the consent of the Owners 

of at least fifty-one percent in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, and, in case less 

than all of the several Series of Bonds would be affected thereby, with such consent of the 

Owners of at least fifty-one percent in principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected 

then Outstanding. 

The principal of the Bonds may be declared due and payable before the maturity 

thereof as provided in the Resolution and the Act. 

The 2025 Bonds maturing on or before ______, 20__ shall not be subject to 

redemption prior to their stated maturities.  The 2025 Bonds maturing on or after ______, 20__ 

shall be subject to optional [and mandatory sinking fund] redemption prior to their stated 

maturities, and shall be selected for redemption, as set forth in the Series Certificate. 

If this Bond (or a portion hereof in installments of $5,000 or any integral multiple 

thereof) is redeemable and shall be called for redemption, notice of the redemption hereof shall 

be given not less than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date, by mail to the Registered 

Owner of this Bond at the address of the Registered Owner as shown on the registration books of 

the Authority.  Notice having been given in the manner provided, this Bond or the portion hereof 

so called for redemption shall become due and payable on the redemption date designated by the 

Authority, and the Redemption Price of and accrued interest, if any, on this Bond or portion 

hereof to be redeemed shall be paid upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the office 

specified in such notice, together with, in the event this Bond is presented by other than the 

Registered Owner, a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the Registered Owner or the 

Registered Owner’s duly authorized attorney; provided, however, that any notice of redemption 

may be made conditional upon the availability of sufficient moneys to pay the Redemption Price, 

plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date.  If less than the entire principal amount 

of this Bond shall be redeemed, the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender 

of this Bond, without charge to the Registered Owner hereof, for the unredeemed balance of the 

principal amount of this Bond so surrendered, a new registered 2025 Bond or Bonds of like 

maturity in any authorized denomination. 

Notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, if on the date fixed for 

redemption of this Bond or any portion hereof, moneys for the Redemption Price of this Bond or 

such portion hereof to be redeemed, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, 

shall be held by the Paying Agent so as to be available therefor on said date, then this Bond or 

the portion hereof called for redemption shall become due and payable at the applicable 

Redemption Price herein provided, and from and after the redemption date, interest on this Bond 

or the portion hereof called for redemption shall cease to accrue. 



 

A-4 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

This Bond is transferable, as provided in the Resolution, only upon the books of 

the Authority kept for that purpose at the designated office of the Registrar, by the Registered 

Owner hereof in person, or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon the surrender of this 

Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed 

by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney, and thereupon a new registered 2025 

Bond or Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, tenor and maturity, shall be issued to the 

transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Resolution, and upon the payment of the 

charges, if any, therein prescribed. 

This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit under the Resolution until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have been duly 

executed by the Registrar. 

This Bond shall not be a debt of the State of Tennessee, and the State shall not be 

liable hereon. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND DECLARED that all acts, 

conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the State of Tennessee and the 

Resolution to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the 

issuance of this Bond, exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and 

manner as required by law and that the issue of the 2025 Bonds, together with all other 

indebtedness of the Authority, is within every debt and other limit prescribed by law. 



 

A-5 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Tennessee State School Bond Authority has 

caused this Bond to be executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of its 

Chairman, Secretary, Assistant Secretary or any other Authorized Officer and its seal to be 

affixed hereto or impressed or imprinted hereon or a facsimile thereof affixed hereto or 

reproduced hereon, and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of one other of such 

officers, or as otherwise required by law, all as of the date of this Bond set forth above. 

 TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL 

  BOND AUTHORITY 

 
By:  

 

  Authorized Signatory  

(SEAL)  

Attest:  

By:  
  

 Authorized Signatory   



 

A-6 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This will certify that this Bond is one of the 2025 Bonds described in the 

within-mentioned Resolution. 

REGIONS BANK,  

 as Registrar 

Date of Authentication: 

_______________________________ By:_____________________________ 

Authorized Signatory 



 

A-7 
3958628.4  048087  RSIND 

ASSIGNMENT 

For value received, the undersigned hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

(Please print or type name and address, including postal zip code, of Assignee) 

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR 

OTHER TAX IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE 

 

 

the within Bond and all rights hereunder, hereby irrevocably constituting and appointing 

______________________, Attorney, to transfer such Bond on the books kept for the 

registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:                                

Signature Guaranteed: 

                                                                       

NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed 

by a member firm of The New York Stock 

Exchange, Inc. or a commercial bank or 

trust company 

                                                                        

(Signature of Registered Owner) 

NOTICE:  The signature above must 

correspond with the name of the registered 

owner as it appears on the front of this Bond 

in every particular, without alteration or 

enlargement or any change whatsoever. 

 

 

 



PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED ________, 2025 

NEW ISSUES          BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

$___________* 2025 SERIES A 

$__________* 2025 SERIES B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: November 1 (as shown on inside front cover) 

 

This Official Statement has been prepared by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) to 

provide information relating to the Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series A (the 

“2025A Bonds”) and 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2025B Bonds”) (collectively, the “Offered Bonds”).  Selected 

information is presented on this cover page for the convenience of the user.  To make an informed decision regarding the 

Offered Bonds, a prospective investor should read this Official Statement in its entirety. 

Security The Offered Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely from and secured by Annual 

Financing Charges (as defined herein) payable to the Authority by the Board of Trustees of The University 

of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System 

of the State of Tennessee, Legislative Appropriations (as defined herein) payable to the Authority and other 

funds as more fully described herein.  The Authority has no taxing power.  (See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein). 

Purpose See “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS” herein. 

Interest Payment Dates May 1 and November 1, beginning November 1, 202_. 

Interest Rates/Prices/Yields See inside front cover. 

Denominations $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. 

No Debt Service Reserve The Offered Bonds currently will not be secured by any funded debt service reserve.  See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Debt Service Reserve Fund” herein. 

Book-Entry Only System The Depository Trust Company.  See Appendix F. 

Redemption See “DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS – Redemption” herein. 

Tax Status In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel (“Bond Counsel”) to the Authority, under 

existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants 

described herein, (i) interest on the 2025A Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and (ii) 

interest on the 2025A Bonds is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax 

under the Code; however, interest on the 2025A Bonds is included in the “adjusted financial statement 

income” of certain corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code.  

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2025B Bonds is not excludable from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes. 

The Offered Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from Tennessee taxes, subject to certain exceptions.   

See “TAX MATTERS” herein. 

Ratings See “RATINGS” herein. 

Trustee/Paying Agent Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee. 

The Offered Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Initial Purchasers subject to certain conditions, 

including the approval of legality by Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  Certain legal matters in 

connection with the Offered Bonds are subject to the approval of the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, 

as counsel to the Authority.  The Offered Bonds are expected to be available through the facilities of The Depository Trust 

Company on or about __________, 2025. 
 

The Offered Bonds will be awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding to be held via IPREO LLC’s 

BiDCOMPTM/PARITY® Competitive Bidding System on behalf of the Authority on ________, 2025, unless postponed or cancelled, 

as set forth in the Notice of Sale contained in Appendix I. 

 

Dated:  ________, 2025 

T
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i

n
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 c
o

n
ta

in
e
d

 h
e
re

in
 a

re
 s

u
b

je
c
t 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

r
 a

m
e
n

d
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

o
u

t 
n

o
ti

c
e
. 
 U

n
d

e
r
 n

o
 c

ir
c
u

m
st

a
n

c
e
s 

sh
a
ll

 t
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 

c
o

n
st

it
u

te
 a

n
 o

ff
er

 t
o
 s

el
l 

o
r
 a

 s
o

li
c
it

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 b

u
y
, 

n
o

r
 s

h
a

ll
 t

h
e
r
e 

b
e
 a

n
y
 s

a
le

 o
f,

 t
h

e
se

 s
ec

u
r
it

ie
s 

in
 a

n
y

 j
u

ri
sd

ic
ti

o
n

 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 s
u

c
h

 o
ff

er
, 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

r 
sa

le
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 u

n
la

w
fu

l 
p

r
io

r 
to

 r
eg

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

o
r
 q

u
a

li
fi

c
a

ti
o

n
 u

n
d

e
r
 t

h
e 

se
c
u

r
it

ie
s 

la
w

s 
o

f 
a

n
y

 s
u

c
h

 j
u

r
is

d
ic

ti
o

n
. 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



*Preliminary; subject to change.  2025A Bonds maturing on or after _________,____, (subject to change) and 2025B Bonds maturing on or after _________,____, may be structured 

as Term Bonds as provided in the Notice of Sale attached hereto as Appendix I. See also “DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS – Redemption – Mandatory Sinking Fund 

Redemption”.  

†CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services ("CGS"), which is managed on behalf of the 

American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems Inc. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. 

CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience of reference only.  The Authority is not responsible for the selection or use of these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as 

to their correctness on the Offered Bonds or as indicated herein. 

 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates, Yields, and CUSIP Numbers 

 

$___________* 2025 Series A  

 

 

 

 

 

$__________* 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

 

 

 



 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Bill Lee, Governor, Chairman 

Jason E. Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary 

Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

David H. Lillard, Jr., State Treasurer 

Jim Bryson, Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

Randy Boyd, President of the University of Tennessee 

Dr. Flora Tydings, Chancellor of the Tennessee Board of Regents 

 

 

STAFF 

Sandra Thompson, Director, Division of State Government Finance, Assistant Secretary 

Sharon Schmucker, Manager, Division of State Government Finance 

Mark Graubner, Manager, Division of State Government Finance 

Jacqueline Felland, Senior Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance 

 

 

BOND COUNSEL TO AUTHORITY 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York 

 

 

AUTHORITY'S COUNSEL 

Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, Nashville, Tennessee 

 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Memphis, Tennessee 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offering of any security other than the Offered Bonds 

specifically offered hereby.  No dealer, broker or other person has been authorized by the Authority to give any 

information or to make any representation other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or 

made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the 

Authority.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy, nor 

shall there be any sale of, the Offered Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make  

such offer, solicitation or sale. 

Certain information set forth herein has been provided by the Authority.  Certain other information set 

forth herein has been obtained by the Authority from sources believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as 

to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation, by the Underwriters.  The information 

and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 

Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has 

been no change in the affairs of the Authority since the date hereof.   

This Preliminary Official Statement has been “deemed final” as of its date by the Authority, except for 

the omission of offering prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal 

amount per maturity, delivery dates and other terms of the Offerred Bonds depending on such matters, in 

accordance with Rule 15c2-12(b)(i) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

The prices and other terms respecting the offering and sale of the Offered Bonds may be changed from 

time to time by the respective Initial Purchaser after such Offered Bonds are released for sale, and the Offered 

Bonds may be offered and sold at prices other than the initial offering prices, including sales to dealers who may 

sell the Offered Bonds into investment accounts. 

 IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE RESPECTIVE INITIAL PURCHASER MAY 

OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET 

PRICES OF THE OFFERED BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE 

PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED 

AT ANY TIME. 

 NO REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THE OFFERED BONDS HAS BEEN FILED 

WITH THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") OR ANY STATE SECURITIES 

AGENCY.  THE OFFERED BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC 

OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY, NOR HAS THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY 

PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  ANY 

REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE. 

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Authority and 

the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved.  

 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................ 1 
PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS ....................................... 2 

Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds ................................. 2 
Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds ..................... 3 

DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS ................................. 3 
General ....................................................................................... 3 
Fiduciaries .................................................................................. 3 
Redemption ................................................................................ 3 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 6 
Financing Agreements ................................................................ 6 
Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges ........................... 6 
Legislative Appropriations ......................................................... 7 
Statutory Covenant ..................................................................... 8 
Flow of Funds ............................................................................ 8 
Additional Bonds ........................................................................ 9 
Qualified Swaps ....................................................................... 10 
Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans ................. 10 
Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies ................................. 11 
Termination of Existence ......................................................... 11 
2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing 

Agreements .............................................................................. 11 
THE AUTHORITY ........................................................................ 12 

Membership of the Authority ................................................... 12 
Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority .............................. 14 

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION ........................... 14 

General ..................................................................................... 14 
Capital Projects ........................................................................ 15 
Tennessee Promise ................................................................... 15 
Tennessee Reconnect ............................................................... 16 
Outcomes-Based Funding ........................................................ 16 
Employee Retirement Benefits ................................................ 17 
Other Post-Employment Benefits ............................................ 19 
Public Health Epidemics or Outbreaks .................................... 19 
Cybersecurity ........................................................................... 19 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF 

PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY............................................. 20 
RATINGS ...................................................................................... 21 
LITIGATION ................................................................................. 21 
TAX MATTERS ............................................................................ 21 

Federal Tax Matters – 2025A Bonds ....................................... 21 
Federal Tax Matters – 2025B Bonds........................................ 23 
Disposition and Defeasance ..................................................... 24 
State of Tennessee Tax Matters – Offered Bonds .................... 25 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................................................................ 25 
LEGAL OPINIONS ....................................................................... 25 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

 .............................................................................................. 26 
SALE BY COMPETITIVE BIDDING .......................................... 26 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ...................................... 26 
MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................... 27 

 

 

APPENDIX A: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY ...................................................................................... A-1 

APPENDIX B: TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION ......... B-1 

APPENDIX C: GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS .................................................................................................................. C-1 

APPENDIX D: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS ....................................... D-1 

APPENDIX E: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION ................................................................ E-1 

APPENDIX F: BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM ........................................................................................................................ F-1 

APPENDIX G: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING ........ G-1 

APPENDIX H: FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL ................................................................................ H-1 

APPENDIX I: NOTICE OF SALE................................................................................................................................................ I-1 

 

  



 

  

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 



 

1 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

$___________* 2025 SERIES A 

$__________* 2025 SERIES B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement (including the cover and inside cover pages hereof and the Appendices hereto) 

is to set forth information concerning (i) the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”), (ii) the Board of 

Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”), (iii) the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents”), (iv) the Institutions (as 

defined below), and (v) the Authority's $___________* aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second 

Program Bonds, 2025 Series A (the “2025A Bonds” and $___________* aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational 

Second Pogram Bonds, 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2025B Bonds"). The 2025A Bonds and the 2025B Bonds are 

referred to herein collectively as the “Offered Bonds.”  The Board of Trustees and the Board of Regents are referred to 

collectively as the “Boards.”  “Institutions” consist of (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches 

and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever 

located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities proved therein, and the Board of 

Regents, in the aggregate.  For further information regarding the Boards and Institutions see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – General.” 

The capitalization of any word not conventionally capitalized and not otherwise defined herein indicates that such 

word is defined in the Glossary of Certain Terms attached hereto as Appendix C, in the Resolution (as defined herein), or in 

the Financing Agreements (as defined herein). 

The Offered Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act , as amended, Sections 

49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated (the “Act”); the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended July 26, 2004, and May 9, 2013, authorizing the issuance 

thereunder from time to time of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (the “Bonds”) ; and a Supplemental 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on March 24, 2025, authorizing and providing for the issuance of the Offered Bonds 

(such General Bond Resolution as amended and supplemented from time to time, including by such Supplemental Resolution, 

the “Resolution”). For a “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION,” see Appendix E. 

The Act empowers the Authority, among other things, to issue its bonds and notes to obtain funds, or to refund its 

bonds or notes issued to obtain funds, to finance higher education facilities (as defined in Appendix C, the “Projects”) for the 

purposes of the Institutions and the Boards.   

A portion of the proceeds of the Offered Bonds will be used to prepay the principal (approximately $___________) 

of the loans outstanding under a Revolving Credit Agreement dated May 1, 2024 (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”), by 

and between the Authority and Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”) with respect to certain Projects and to finance additional 

costs of certain such Projects and costs of other Projects.  All loans under the Revolving Credit Agreement are referred to 

herein collectively as “Revolving Credit Loans.”  For a description of the Revolving Credit Agreement, see “SECURITY 

AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Agreement.”  The 

remaining proceeds will be applied as described in “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS –Application of the Offered 

Bond Proceeds.” 

The Offered Bonds will be payable and secured under the Resolution on a parity with all other Bonds heretofore and 

hereafter issued pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, except as described herein with respect to the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund or otherwise as permitted by the Resolution.  Currently, the aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued 

under the Resolution is not limited by law or the Resolution.  As of February 28, 2025, $1,602,240,000 (unaudited) aggregate 

principal amount of Bonds was outstanding, excluding the Offered Bonds.  In addition, as of February 28, 2025, the Authority 

had $166,374,107 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans outstanding, which included 

$14,770,374 not yet allocated to Institutions and the Revolving Credit Loans that will be prepaid by the Offered Bonds.  See 

“THE AUTHORITY – Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority.” 

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

2 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from and secured by the 

Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, 

subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.   

The Authority and each Board have entered into a separate Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended (each, a “Financing Agreement”).   The Financing Agreements obligate the Authority to use 

its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  Annual Financing Charges 

payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds issued for that Project) are required 

under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become due, only from Fees an d Charges 

collected by or on behalf of the Institution for which the project was financed and, if necessary, from Legislative 

Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of such Institution as described herein.  See “SECURITY FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE BONDS – Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges” and “– Legislative Appropriations.”  Under 

each Financing Agreement, the relevant Board covenants and agrees to establish and collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment o f 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution. 

The Offered Bonds are not currently secured by any debt service reserve and the Authority has no present intent to 

fund such a reserve at a later date.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service 

Reserve Fund.” 

The Financing Agreements and the Resolution constitute the second and only presently available Authority loan 

program for the Boards. 

For a summary of the provisions of the Financing Agreements, see Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 

PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS.”  For a discussion regarding the security and sources of payment for 

the Offered Bonds, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”      

PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds 

The Offered Bonds are being issued for the purposes of (i) prepaying the principal portion of the outstanding 

Revolving Credit Loans with respect to certain Projects identified below, (ii) financing additional costs of certain such 

Projects and costs of certain other Projects identified below,  and (iii) funding costs of issuance of the Offered Bonds.   

The following table shows the Projects to be financed and/or refinanced with the proceeds of the 2025A Bonds and 

the proceeds of the 2025A Bonds expected to be applied to each (excluding costs of issuance, original issue discount or 

premium, capitalized interest, and underwriters’ discount) of the 2025A Bonds for each Project: 

 

The following table show the Projects to be financed and/or refinanced with the proceeds of the 2025B Bonds and the proceeds of 

the 2025B Bonds expected to be applied to each (excluding costs of issuance, original issue discount or premium, capitalized 

interest, and underwriters’ discount) of the 2025B Bonds for each Project: 

 

  

Institution Project Amount

Tennessee Technological University New Tucker Stadium West 42,204,066$          

University of Tennessee - Knoxville Arena Renovations and Systems Improvements 11,500,000            

Total 53,704,066$       



 

3 

 

Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds 

The sources and application of funds in connection with the issuance of the Offered Bonds are as follows: 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

General 

The Offered Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery and will mature at the times and in the principal amounts 

as set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  Interest on the Offered Bonds will be payable semi-annually on May 1 and 

November 1, commencing  November 1, 2025.  The Offered Bonds will be offered in authorized denominations of $5,000 or 

integral multiples thereof. 

Interest on the Offered Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  Interest 

will be payable to the registered owners of the Offered Bonds as of the fifteenth day of each April and October (whether or 

not a Business Day). 

Upon initial issuance, the Offered Bonds will be available only in book-entry form.  The Depository Trust Company, 

New York, New York (“DTC”) will act as initial securities depository for the Offered Bonds and the ownership of one fully 

registered bond for each maturity of the Offered Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of that maturity will be registered 

in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and deposited with DTC.  Beneficial owners of Offered Bonds will not 

receive physical delivery of bond certificates except under limited circumstances.  See Appendix F - “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

SYSTEM” for a description of DTC and its book-entry only system. 

Fiduciaries 

Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, is the Trustee under the Resolution and the Paying Agent and Registrar for the 

Offered Bonds. 

Redemption 

Optional Redemption – 2025A Bonds.  The 2025A Bonds maturing on or before November 1, 2034*, are not subject 

to redemption prior to maturity.  The 2025A Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2035*, are subject to redemption prior 

to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after November 1 , 2034*, as a whole, or in part from 

time to time in any order of maturity determined by the Authority, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of 

such Offered Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal amount to the 

date fixed for redemption. 

Optional Redemption – 2025B Bonds.  The 2025B Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2034*, are subject to 

redemption prior to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after November 1 , 2035*, as a 

whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity determined by the Authority, at a Redemption Price equal to the 



 

4 

principal amount of such 2025B Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal 

amount to the date fixed for redemption. 

Prior to November 1, 2035*, the 2025B Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities at the option 

of the Authority, at any time as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity as determined by the Authorit y, 

at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined below). 

The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” of any 2025B Bonds to be redeemed is an amount equal to the greater of (i) 

100% of the principal amount of such 2025B Bonds to be redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present value of the applicable 

remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to the maturity date of such 2025B Bonds to be redeemed not 

including any portion of those payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which such 2025B Bonds are to be 

redeemed, discounted on a semiannual basis to the date on which such 2025B Bonds are to be redeemed, assuming a 360-day 

year consisting of twelve 30-day months, at the Treasury Rate (as defined below) plus __ basis points for the bonds maturing 

to and basis points for bonds maturing; plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest on such 2025B Bonds on such 

redemption date  

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date for any particular 2025B Bond, the greater of:  

(i) the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of the United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity 

(as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become publicly 

available at least two business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, the redemption date (excluding 

inflation indexed securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of simil ar 

market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to maturity; provided, however, that if the period from 

the redemption date to maturity is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury 

securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used; or   

 (ii) the rate per annum, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount, equal to the semiannual equivalent yield 

to maturity or interpolated maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue (defined below), assuming that the Comparable 

Treasury Issue is purchased on the redemption date for a price equal to the Comparable Treasury Price (defined below), as 

calculated by the Designated Investment Banker (defined below). 

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2025B Bond, the United 

States Treasury security or securities selected by the Designated Investment Banker that has an actual or interpolated maturi ty 

comparable to the remaining average life of the 2025B Bond to be redeemed.  

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2025B Bond, (i) if the 

Designated Investment Banker receives at least four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (defined below), the average of 

such quotations for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations , or 

(ii) if the Designated Investment Banker obtains fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all 

such quotations.  

"Designated Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers (as defined below) appointed by the 

Authority.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of four firms specified by the Authority from time to time, which firms 

shall be primary United States government securities dealers in the City of New York (each a “Primary Treasury Dealer”); 

provided, however, that if any of them ceases to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, the Authority will substitute another Primary 

Treasury Dealer.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption 

date for a particular 2025B Bond, the average, as determined by the Designated Investment Banker, of the bid and asked 

prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing 

to the Designated Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:30 P.M., New York City time, at least two 

business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, such redemption date.    

The redemption price of such 2025B Bonds to be redeemed will be determined by an independent accounting firm, 

investment banking firm or financial advisor retained by the Authority to calculate such redemption price. The Authority may 

conclusively rely on the determination of such redemption price by such independent accounting firm, investment banking 

firm or financial advisor and will not be liable for such reliance.  

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The 2025A Bonds maturing on November 1, ____*, are Term Bonds subject 

to redemption in part on November 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a 

Redemption Price equal to the principal amount or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrue d thereon 



 

5 

to the date fixed for redemption, from Sinking Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt Service 

Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on November 1 of each year shown below the principal amount of such 2025A Bonds 

specified for such year:  

  

 

The 2025B Bonds maturing on November 1, ____, are Term Bonds subject to redemption in part on November 1 in 

each of the years and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount  

or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, from Sinking 

Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt Service Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on 

November 1 of each year shown below the principal amount of such 2025B Bonds specified for such year:  

 

Selection of the 2025A Bonds to be Redeemed. If less than all of the 2025A Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 

the particular 2025A Bonds or portions thereof of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Registrar in any 

manner which it deems fair and appropriate. For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the 2025A 

Bonds and DTC or a successor securities repository is the sole registered owner of such 2025A Bonds, in the event of a 

redemption of less than all of the 2025A Bonds of a maturity, the particular ownership interests of the 2025A Bonds of such 

maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC and Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or by any such 

successor securities depository or any other intermediary, in accordance with their respective operating rules and procedures . 

In the event of a partial redemption, DTC’s rules and procedures currently provide for the redemption to be processed by 

random lottery. Any failure of DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant, or any other  

intermediary, to make such selection, or to make or fail to make any such selection in any particular manner, will not affect 

the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of the 2025A Bonds. See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”  

Selection of the 2025B Bonds to be Redeemed. If less than all of the 2025B Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 

the 2025B Bonds of such maturity shall be redeemed pro rata as nearly as practicable (in integral multiples of $5,000) in the 

proportion that the principal amount of the outstanding 2025B Bonds of such maturity owned by each registered owner bears 

to the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 2025B Bonds of such maturity.  For so long as a book-entry only system 

is in effect and DTC or a successor securities repository is the sole registered owner of the 2025B Bonds, in the event of a 

redemption of less than all of the 2025B Bonds of a maturity, the particular ownership interests of the 2025B Bonds of such 

maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC and Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or by any such 

successor repository or any other intermediary, in accordance with their respective operating rules and procedures.  To the 

extent practicable, the Paying Agent will request that DTC select the amount of such interests of 2025B Bonds to be redeemed 

on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis in integral multiples of $5,000 in accordance with DTC procedures 

then in effect.  The Authority can provide no assurance that DTC or its successor, Direct DTC Participants and Indir ect DTC 

Participants, or any successor repository or any other intermediary will allocate the redemption of 2025B Bonds on such 

basis.  If, at the time of redemption of the 2025B Bonds, either (i) the operational arrangements of DTC do not allow for the 

redemption of the 2025B Bonds on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis, or (ii)  the Paying Agent has failed 

to notify DTC that the 2025B Bonds to be redeemed are to be redeemed pursuant to DTC’s pro rata pass-through distribution 

of principal procedures, or has failed to furnish to DTC the factor to be applied by it in determining the pro rata allocatio n of 

the principal to be redeemed, then in each such case the 2025B Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed may be selected in 

accordance with DTC operating rules and procedures, which currently provide for the redemption to be processed by random 

lottery.  Any failure of DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant, or of any other 

intermediary, to make such selection or proportional allocation, for whatever reason, will not affect the sufficiency or the 

validity of the redemption of 2025B Bonds.  See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption is to be mailed not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date, to 

the Owner of each Offered Bond to be redeemed at the address that appears on the registration books, but failure to receive 

any such notice shall not affect the validity of the redemption proceedings.  Any notice of re demption may provide that such 

redemption is conditional on the availability of sufficient moneys to pay the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued and 

unpaid to the redemption date.   

Year Principal Amount

Nov. 1, 20__ Maturity

Year Principal Amount

Nov. 1, 20__ Maturity



 

6 

For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the Offered Bonds, the Registrar will give notice 

of redemption to DTC or its nominee or its successor.   See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”  Any failure of 

DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant,  or any other intermediary, to notify a 

beneficial owner of an Offered Bond of any redemption will not affect the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of 

such Offered Bond.  Neither the Authority, nor the Trustee or Registrar, can give any assurance that DTC or its successor, 

the Direct DTC Participants or the Indirect DTC Participants, or any other intermediary, will distribute such redemption 

notices to the beneficial owners of the Offered Bonds, or that they will do so on a timely basis.  

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject 

to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Annual Financing Charges 

and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and all 

moneys and Investment Obligations credited to the Funds and Accounts established by the Resolution, are pledged for the 

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds in accordance 

with the Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and  

on the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution.  All covenants and agreements set forth in the Resolution to be 

performed on behalf of the Authority shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Owners of all of the Bond s, 

except as expressly provided in or permitted by the Resolution. The Authority has elected to establish a separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the Offered Bonds, but with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, 

the Offered Bonds will not be secured by a funded debt service reserve.  See “Debt Service Reserve Fund” below. 

The definition of "Institution" contained in the Act was amended by Chapter 174, Public Laws of 2013  and, the 

definitions of "Institution" contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreements with the Board of Regents and the 

Board of Trustees, respectively, relating to that definition, have been amended accordingly. These amendments apply to all 

of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued 

(including the Offered Bonds).  See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - 2013 Amendments 

to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements", Appendix C - "GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS", Appendix 

D - "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS - Amendment", and Appendix E - 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Supplemental Resolution; Amendments" (clause (8) 

of the first paragraph). 

 THE OFFERED BONDS ARE SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE 

SOURCES PROVIDED IN THE RESOLUTION AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE 

STATE, ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OR THE AUTHORITY IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE OFFERED BONDS.  

 THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

Financing Agreements 

The Authority and each Board have entered into a Financing Agreement.  The Financing Agreements obligate the 

Authority to use its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  The 

Financing Agreements also obligate the Boards to pay to the Authority Annual Financing Charges sufficient, among other 

things, to provide for the payment of debt service on the Bonds.  Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project 

are required to be paid by the Board only from Fees and Charges of the Institution for which the project was financed.  The 

Boards are required to establish and collect fees and charges at the Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal 

Year not less than two times the amount required for the payment of, among other things, all Annual Financing Charges 

payable in such Fiscal Year with respect to all Projects for the Institution .  The Annual Financing Charges required of the 

Institution also are payable, if necessary, from Legislative Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of the Institution.  

See “Legislative Appropriations” below. 

Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges 

The Financing Agreements require that as long as any Debt (including the Offered Bonds) remains outstanding for 

any Project, Annual Financing Charges shall be established and revised by the Authority from time to time in such amounts, 

payable at such times, as shall at all times be sufficient to enable the Authority to (i) pay the principal of and premium, if 

any, and interest on such Debt as and when the same become due and payable, (ii) pay or replenish reserves therefor as and 



 

7 

when required by the Resolution, and (iii) make any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority 

under or pursuant to the Resolution. 

The Boards are required by the Financing Agreements to pay to the Authority all Annual Financing Charges in such 

amounts, at such times, in such manner and at such places as shall be specified in writing from time to time by the Authority .  

It is the current policy of the Authority that the Boards make payments to the Authority at least 5 days prior to their respective 

due dates.  This policy may be changed by the Authority in a manner consistent with the immediately preceding sentence and 

paragraph.  Under the Financing Agreements, the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual Financing Charges is absolute and 

unconditional, and Annual Financing Charges are required to be paid in full without set -off or counterclaim. 

The Boards covenant and agree in the Financing Agreements to establish and collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment o f 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution.   

Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds 

issued for that Project) are required under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become 

due, only from Fees and Charges of the Institution.  “Fees and Charges” means all revenues, fees, rentals and other charges 

received by or on behalf of an Institution which are available to pay Annual Financing Charges.  See Appendix B – “TSSBA 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION” for a description of the Institutions for which Projects are being financed with 

the proceeds of the Offered Bonds and for detail regarding each Institution’s historical statement of collection of Fees and 

Charges, as well as the debt service on Bonds attributable to such Institution.  

Each Institution’s total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (see “Legislative Appropriations” below) 

may be used to pay costs of operating and maintaining such Institution as well as the Annual Financing Charges.  Each Board 

may pledge, assign or otherwise use or encumber any Fees and Charges relating to an Institution to obligations of the 

Institution or of the Board in addition to the Bonds if the aggregate of the Fees and Charges collected by the Institution in the 

preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregate (without duplication) 

of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year.  

The Financing Agreements also require that, in addition to Annual Financing Charges, the Authority may establish 

and revise from time to time, and the Boards shall apply Fees and Charges from their respective Institutions to pay fees 

(“Administrative Fees”) to compensate the Authority for costs relating to (i) the issuance and payment of Debt and (ii) the 

administration of the Financing Agreements and the Resolution. 

The Financing Agreements as amended in 2013 (Chapter 174, Public Laws of 2013) allows the Board of Regents to 

satisfy its obligation to pay Annual Financing Charges to the Authority with respect to all Projects from the Fees and Charge s 

imposed by all of its constituent institutions, in the aggregate.  The deductions and payments to the Authority from Legislative 

Appropriations for non-payment by the Board of Regents of Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees with respect 

to a Project could be made from appropriations made by the General Assembly for the operation and maintenance of all of 

the constituent institutions of the State University and Community College System, as was previously, and will continue to 

be, the case with respect to the University of Tennessee system.  Similarly, amounts appropriated for certain other services,  

programs and activities of both the Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees, and for the two Boards themselves, may be 

deducted and paid to the Authority in the event of non-payment under the respective Financing Agreements.  See “SECURITY 

AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative Appropriations.”  The amendments to the Financing 

Agreements also apply to the eligibility of Projects for financing by the Authority as described in Appendix D – “SUMMARY 

OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS – Approval of Projects and Project Costs.” 

 

Legislative Appropriations  

In accordance with the Act, the Financing Agreements provide that if any Annual Financing Charges or 

Administrative Fees shall not be paid by a Board when due and payable with respect to a Project, or if the Board shall notify  

the Authority of any inability to make such payment from Fees and Charges, then the Board shall deduct from the amounts 

appropriated by the General Assembly of the State of Tennessee (the “General Assembly”) for the operation and maintenance 

of the respective Institution and pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current 

with respect to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.  The Boards also agree in the Financing 



 

8 

Agreements that the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, or his successor, after notice from the Authority that the  

respective Board has failed to pay Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees due and payable with respect to a Project, 

shall, to the extent permitted by law, deduct from the amounts appropriated by the General Assembly for the operation and 

maintenance of the respective Institution the amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current with respect 

to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.  The Authority has established and tested detailed 

procedures for ensuring that these deductions will be made in a manner that ensures the timely payment of debt service.  It 

has not been necessary, to date, to utilize these procedures. 

A significant source of funding for the State's public institutions of higher education has been and continues to be 

annual appropriations made by the General Assembly.  See “Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appropriations and Debt 

Service for the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B and “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION.”  However, the General 

Assembly is under no obligation to continue to make appropriations for the operation and maintenance of any Institution or 

of the Institutions generally, or to do so in any particular amount.  See, however, “Statutory Covenant” and “Additional 

Bonds” below.  The State of Tennessee (or “State”) is not liable on the Bonds and the Bonds are not a debt of the State.  

Under the State Constitution, public money may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  Such 

expenditures include, but are not limited to, funding any judgment in the Tennessee Claims Commission  as discussed below 

under - “Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies.”  The General Assembly in 2001 confirmed that the earnings, revenues, 

and assets of the Authority are continuously appropriated for expenditures authorized by or pursuant to the Act, which 

includes debt service on Second Program Bonds and Revolving Credit Loans.  That legislation also confirmed that the 

earnings, revenues or other assets of any public higher education entity whose contracts or agreements support the payment 

of the Authority’s debt service are continuously appropriated for expenditures in accordance with or pursuant to such contracts 

or agreements which include the Financing Agreements.  The Authority can provide no assurance as to the continuation of 

these continuing appropriations. 

Statutory Covenant 

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Authority, on behalf of the State, in the Resolution pledges to and 

agrees with the Owners of the Bonds that the State will not limit or alter the rights vested by the Act in the Authority to f ulfill 

the terms of any agreements made with Bondowners, or in any way impair the rights and remedies of such Owners until the 

Bonds, together with the interest thereon, with interest on any unpaid installments of interest, and all costs and expenses i n 

connection with any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such Owners, are fully met and discharged. 

Flow of Funds 

All Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations held or collected by the Authority are required by the 

Resolution to be deposited to the General Fund established under the Resolution, which shall be held by the State Treasurer 

or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian.   However, in lieu of such deposit, the Authority may direct 

and cause any Board to transmit directly to the Trustee any amount of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative 

Appropriations payable by such Board that is required to be transferred by the Author ity to the Trustee in the amounts and 

by the times required for purposes of the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund.   

All moneys credited to the General Fund shall be applied by the Authority in the following manner and order:  

First, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Fund such sums as are required to be deposited therein under 

the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; and  

Second, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Reserve Fund such sums as are required to be deposited 

therein pursuant to the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; provided, however, that no transfer shall be 

required prior to the date required, notwithstanding that as a result, lower priority transfers (described in the following 

paragraph) may be made at any time prior to higher priority transfers that could be but are not required to be made at the sa me 

time. 

Any moneys credited to the General Fund in any month and not applied in such month, or required or otherwise 

expected to be applied thereafter in such month or in the next succeeding month, may be used for any lawful purpose of the 

Authority including, but not limited to, the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Subordinated 

Obligations, the establishment of reserves for such payment, the payment or reimbursement of Administrative Expenses of 

the Authority, or the purchase or redemption of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations. 

The Debt Service Fund shall be held by the Trustee or at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist an Event 

of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian ; it is currently being held by 



 

9 

the Trustee.  Moneys credited to the Debt Service Fund shall be deposited in the following amounts and order of priority, 

except that deposits from excess Construction Fund moneys shall be applied as directed by the Authority:  

First, at least one Business Day prior to each interest payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund 

an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the interest becoming due on the Outstanding Bonds on 

such interest payment date; 

Second, at least one Business Day prior to each principal payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service 

Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the principal amount of Bonds (including the principal  

amount of any Put Bonds tendered for payment by the Authority and not purchased in lieu of redemption prior to the 

redemption date thereof) of the Outstanding Serial Bonds becoming due on such principal payment date; and  

Third, at least one Business Day prior to each Sinking Fund Payment Date for the Term Bonds, there shall be 

deposited in the Debt Service Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the Sinking Fund 

Installments becoming due upon the redemption of such Term Bonds on such Sinking Fund Payment Date.  

Debt Service Reserve Fund 

General 

The Resolution establishes a Debt Service Reserve Fund for the payment of all Series of Bonds, with a separate Debt 

Service Reserve Account therein for each Project financed, as described below.  The Resolution also permits the Authority 

to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to be applied solely to the payment of a particular Series of 

Bonds and to establish the requirements for that separate account; however, there is no requirement that such separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund be funded.  Such separate account, if funded, would secure only the Series of Bonds for 

which it was created and the related Series of Bonds would not have access to any other accounts in the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund.  The Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be held by the Trustee or, at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist 

an Event of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian .  It is currently 

being held by the Trustee. 

No Debt Service Reserve for the Offered Bonds and Certain Other Bonds 

The Authority has elected to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the 

Offered Bonds, but with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, the Offered Bonds do not have a funded debt 

service reserve account.  Specifically, the Offered Bonds shall have no claim or lien on, nor shall any Offered Bonds be 

payable from, any accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, except from the separate account established for the Offered 

Bonds to the extent that such account may be funded in the future, although the Authority is under no obligation to fund the 

accounts and has no present intent to provide such funding.  The Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds similarly have no funded debt service reserve accounts and requirements and the provisions 

of the preceding sentence apply to them as well.   

Additional Bonds 

Additional Bonds may be issued under the Resolution from time to time in Series, including refunding Outstanding 

Bonds, but only upon, among other things: 

1. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a Counsel's Opinion to the effect that (i)  the Authority has the 

right and power under the Act as amended to the date of such Opinion to adopt the Resolution (with such 

approvals as may be required by the Act as so amended), the Resolution has been duly and lawfully adopted 

by the Authority (and such approvals given), is in full force and effect and is valid and bind ing upon the 

Authority; (ii) the Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to create of the Annual Financing 

Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, 

moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the 

purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution; and (iii)  the Bonds of such Series are valid and 

binding obligations of the Authority as provided in the Resolution, entitled to the benefits of the Resolution 

and of the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's Opinion, and such Bonds have been duly and validly 

authorized and issued in accordance with the law, including the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's 

Opinion, and in accordance with the Resolution. 

2. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a certificate of the Authority stating that:  



 

10 

(a) the principal amount of the Bonds then to be issued, together with the principal amount of the Bonds 

theretofore issued, will not exceed in aggregate principal amount any limitation thereon imposed by 

law; 

(b)  the Authority is not in default in the performance of any other covenants, conditions, agreements or 

provisions contained in the Resolution, including but not limited to that there is no deficiency in the 

amounts required by the Resolution to be paid into the Debt Service Fund except, in the case of 

Refunding Bonds, if, upon the application of the proceeds of such Bonds or upon the issuance and 

delivery of such Bonds, all such defaults shall be cured; 

(c) the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, upon the issuance and delivery of any such 

Series of Bonds, shall not be less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement;  

(d) the Financing Agreements obligate the Boards to pay, in the aggregate, Annual Financing Charges with 

respect to Projects for which Bonds have been issued and the additional Bonds being issued sufficient 

in amount, together with capitalized interest, to pay as the same shall become due the principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on the Bonds then 

Outstanding and the additional Bonds being issued; and 

(e) the provisions of the Act authorizing the Boards to deduct from amounts appropriated by the General 

Assembly for the operation and maintenance of the Institution for which each Project is undertaken and 

pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make up any deficiencies in the 

Fees and Charges and other moneys available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges due 

the Authority have not been repealed or amended to the detriment of Bondowners.  

Additional Bonds are required to be authorized by Supplemental Resolution, which may delegate to authorized 

officers the power to determine, supplement, modify or amend specified details of such Bonds by means of a Series 

Certificate, which shall be filed with the Trustee and deemed for all purposes of the Resolution to have been adopted by the 

Authority and to be a part of the Supplemental Resolution to which it relates.  

Additional Bonds may take the form of and have features incident to, among other things, Capital Appreciation 

Bonds, Variable Interest Rate Bonds, or Put Bonds, and in connection with the issuance of any Bonds the Authority may enter 

into Credit Facilities and Qualified Swaps.  For a description of certain related provisions that may be included in 

Supplemental Resolutions, see Appendix E - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Certain 

Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements.” 

Qualified Swaps 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relatin g 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, however, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap.  The Authority has not 

entered into any Qualified Swaps and has no current plans to do so. 

Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans 

Revolving Credit Loans under the Revolving Credit Agreement constitute Subordinated Obligations under the 

Resolution.   

The Revolving Credit Agreement permits Revolving Credit Loans thereunder from time to time (and prepayments 

and reborrowings) in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time not to exceed $200,000,000 to fund Project Costs 

and certain other limited purposes.  Generally, the Revolving Credit Agreement is intended to provide interim financing in 

anticipation of the issuance of Bonds, although in some cases the Authority may retire loans from othe r available sources.  

The commitment of the Banks under the Revolving Credit Agreement to fund Revolving Credit Loans expires May 28, 2027, 

unless that period is extended pursuant to the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Commitment Expiration Date”).  

Revolving Credit Loans outstanding on the Commitment Expiration Date may be converted to term loans amortizing, in 



 

11 

approximately equal principal installments, over a period ending with the earliest to occur of (i)  the third anniversary of the 

conversion, (ii) the date other debt is issued to repay the term loans, and (iii) with respect to any loan that has been converted 

to a term loan, the eighth anniversary of the original loan.  Revolving Credit Loans prior to conversion to term loans bear 

interest at 80% of one-month Term SOFR, plus a ratings-based spread, for tax-exempt loans, and at one-month TERM SOFR 

plus a ratings-based spread for taxable loans.  Term loans initially bear interest at a fluctuating rate equal to the greatest of 

(i) the Bank’s prime rate plus 1%, (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus 2% or (iii) 7% (the “Base Rate”), plus 1% .  If the 

Authority’s long-term unenhanced Bond rating is reduced below the Baa1/BBB+, or in the event of an event of default, 

interest is payable at the Base Rate plus 4%.  Interest on the loans is payable monthly.  The Bank has several available 

remedies under the Revolving Credit Agreement upon an event of default thereunder, including acceleration of loans.   

On February 28, 2025, the Authority had $166,374,107 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of Revolving Credit 

Loans outstanding, which includes $14,770,374 not yet allocated to Institutions, a portion of which will be prepaid with 

proceeds of the Offered Bonds as decribed in “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS”.   

Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies 

The State has waived the Authority’s immunity from suit and extended its consent to be sued for actions on the 

Bonds, but has not done so for other contractual obligations of either the Authority or the Boards, including the Financing 

Agreements.  Current State law provides that monetary claims against the State (including, for this purpose, the Authority 

and the Boards) for breach of its contractual obligations and certain other causes where sovereign immunity has been waived 

may be heard and determined exclusively in the forum of the Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, 

where the Authority or the Boards may be liable only for actual damages and certain costs.  

Under the State Constitution, public moneys may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  

Sovereign immunity or other legal principles may bar actions to compel the General Assembly to appropriate moneys or to 

compel the payment of appropriated moneys. 

For a description of remedies available to Bondowners under the Resolution, see Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF 

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – Remedies.” 

Termination of Existence 

The Governmental Entity Review Law provides for the termination of various governmental entities on specified 

dates, which in the case of the Authority is June 30, 2030, in the case of the Board of Regents is June 30, 2026, and in the 

case of the Board of Trustees is June 30, 2028.  The law also provides that if the General Assembly does not extend the 

termination date of an entity, the existence of the entity will continue for an additional year without any diminution, reduc tion 

or limitation of its powers.  However, the State is required to preserve the rights of the holders of any outstanding indebtedness 

of the entity at the time of termination and the obligations and rights of such entity shall accrue to the State. 

2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements 

Legislation was enacted by the General Assembly at its 2013 session and signed into law by the Governor (Chapter 

174, Public Laws of 2013) to amend the definition of “Institution” in the Act from “the University of Tennessee, including 

all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and each constituent institution of the state university and community 

college system described in § 49-8-101(a). Each constituent institution of the state university and community college system, 

whether or not it confers degrees, shall be deemed an institution of higher education for purposes of this part;” to “(i) the  

University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and 

activities provided therein, and the board of trustees of the University of Tennessee, in the aggregate,  and (ii) the state 

university and community college system, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever located (whether or not 

conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Regents of the state 

university and community college system, in the aggregate.”  This has the effect of the State University and Community 

College System being treated for purposes of the Act as a collective entity in the same way the University of Tennessee 

system previously was, and will continue to be, treated.   

The definitions of “Institution” contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreement and other provisions of 

the Financing Agreement with the Board of Regents relating to that definition were amended accordingly, as permitted 

thereby, on May 9, 2013.  See Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING 

AGREEMENTS – Amendment”; Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – 

Supplemental Resolution; Amendments” (clause (8) of the first paragraph) ; and “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” 



 

12 

The amendments described above apply to all of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued (including the Offered Bonds).  One principal effect of the amendments 

is to allow the Board of Regents to satisfy its obligation to pay Annual Financing Charges to the Authority with respect to a ll 

Projects from the Fees and Charges imposed by all of its constituent institutions, in the aggregate, instead of on an institution-

by-institution basis as was previously the case.  Another is that the deductions and payments to the Authority from Legislative 

Appropriations for non-payment by the Board of Regents of Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees with respect 

to a Project could be made from appropriations made by the General Assembly for the operation and maintenance of all of 

the constituent institutions of the State University and Community College System, as was previously, and will continue to 

be, the case with respect to the University of Tennessee system, and not just from the appropriations for the operation and 

maintenance of the particular constituent institution for which such Project was undertaken or used.  Similarly, amounts 

appropriated for certain other services, programs and activities of both the Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees, and 

for the two Boards themselves, may be deducted and paid to the Authority in the event of non -payment under the respective 

Financing Agreements.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative 

Appropriations.”  The amendments to the Financing Agreements also apply to the eligibility of Projects for financing by the 

Authority as described in Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

– Approval of Projects and Project Costs.” 

Included in “Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for the Long -Term Debt Secured By 

Financing Agreements – College and University Funds – For the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B is a calculation of coverage 

consistent with the amendments described above. 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority, created in 1965 under the Act, is a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State. 

In addition to its authority to issue bonds and notes to finance Projects, the Authority in 1980 was empowered by the General  

Assembly to issue bonds or notes to provide funds for the making of student loans by the Tennessee Student Assistance 

Corporation.  The principal amounts of such bonds or notes issued may not exceed $5,000,000 and must be secured separate 

and apart from any bonds or notes of the Authority issued to provide funds to finance Projects.  As of the date of this Official 

Statement, no bonds or notes have been issued for the making of student loans. 

The Authority also is authorized to issue qualified school construction bonds (“QSCBs”), as defined in Section 54F 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  QSCBs are issued under the provisions of the Authority’s 

Qualified School Construction Bonds General Bond Resolution, which was adopted by the Authority on November 5, 2009, 

as supplemented (the “QSCB Resolution”), are not supported by either the First Program or Second Program Financing 

Agreements, and are not secured by either the First Program or Second Program General Bond Resolution. The proceeds of 

QSCBs are loaned to cities, counties and metropolitan governments in the State for construction, renovation and equipment 

of public school facilities.  Under the QSCB program, each borrower executes a loan agreement pursuant to which it agrees 

to pay the principal of and interest on its loan and pledges to such payments its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing 

power and its Unobligated State-Shared Taxes in the event of non-payment by such borrower. For certain of the QSCBs, a 

Federal income tax credit is given to bondholders in lieu of the payment of interest on bonds, and in certain other QSCBs an 

election is made by the Authority to receive direct interest subsidy payments from the United Stat es Treasury, which, if not 

needed to cure defaults under loan agreements with the borrowers, are transferred to them.   As of February 28, 2025, the total 

par amount of QSCBs outstanding was $389,440,000 (unaudited), and the book value of pledged sinking fund accounts totaled 

$367,293,480.04 (unaudited). 

The Authority is also required to approve any borrowings consummated by  the Board of Trustees, by the Board of 

Regents or by any of the Institutions, whether such borrowings are made through the Authority or independently .   

Membership of the Authority 

The powers of the Authority, as defined in the Act, are vested in and exercised by its members who consist of the 

Governor, the Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, the State Treasurer, the Commissioner of Finance and 

Administration, the Chancellor of the Board of Regents, and the President of The University of Tennessee.  The Governor 

serves as Chairman of the Authority, and the Comptroller of the Treasury serves as the Secretary.  

The Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, and the State Treasurer are the Constitutional Officers of 

the State and are elected from time to time by the General Assembly.  The Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

serves at the pleasure of the Governor.  The Chancellor of the Board of Regents and the President of The University of 

Tennessee serve at the pleasure of their respective Boards.  



 

13 

  



 

14 

Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority 

As of February 28, 2025 (unaudited), the Authority had issued, and there was outstanding under the Resolution, 

Bonds (excluding the Offered Bonds) as follows:  

 

 

There also are outstanding Revolving Credit Loans as described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 

FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans.” 

The Authority continually monitors its debt structure and capital requirements, and depending on such requirements, 

financial market conditions and other factors, may issue additional bonds or notes and may refund (whether or not for savings ) 

any of its outstanding bonds and notes.  For additional financial information concerning the Authority, see Appendix A hereto.  

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION 

General 

Public higher education in Tennessee is coordinated by the Tennessee Higher Education Commission (the 

“Commission”) and consists of eight boards:  The University of Tennessee system governed by the Board of Trustees and the 

State University and Community College system comprised of six state universities – Austin Peay State University, East 

Tennessee State University, Middle Tennessee State University, Tennessee State University, Tennessee Technological 

University, and University of Memphis (the “State Universities”)  – governed by individual State University boards (subject 

to certain financial controls by the Board of Regents as described below) and 37 community colleges and state colleges of 

applied technology (the “Community College System”) governed by the Board of Regents .  

The Commission consists of the three Constitutional Officers ( the Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, 

and State Treasurer), six lay members with six-year terms appointed by the Governor, one lay member with a six-year term 

appointed by the Speaker of the Tennessee House of Representatives, one lay member with a six-year term appointed by the 

Speaker of the Tennessee Senate, one lay member with a six-year term appointed jointly by the Speaker of the Tennessee 

House of Representatives and the Speaker of the Tennessee Senate, and two student members appointed by the Govenor for 

two-year terms (one from The University of Tennessee system and one not from The University of Tennessee system; one 

voting each year).  It develops a statewide Master Plan used in making policy recommendations concerning such matters as 

the need for existing degree programs, the development of new degree programs, and the review of tuition and fees.  The 

Commission is charged with conducting annual reviews and licensing non-accredited, degree-offering postsecondary 

educational institutions; has the responsibility for studying the use of public funds appropriated for higher education ; and 

recommends the appropriation of state funds for public higher education institutions.   

The Boards have entered into Second Program Financing Agreements, by which the Authority provides funding for 

Projects.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”  

Principal 

Outstanding

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (Unaudited)

2012 Series B (Federally Taxable)  $          50,025,000 

2014 Series A (Federally Taxable) 21,590,000 

2014 Refunding Series B 13,520,000 

2015 Series A (Federally Taxable) 20,985,000 

2015 Series B 70,530,000 

2017 Series A            206,860,000 

2017 Refunding Series B            101,160,000 

2017 Refunding Series C (Federally Taxable)                9,720,000 

2019 Series A            121,205,000 

2019 Series B (Federally Taxable)              48,195,000 

2021 Series A (Federally Taxable)            649,080,000 

2022 Series A            275,080,000 

2022 Series B (Federally Taxable)              14,290,000 

Total Outstanding Second Program Bonds $  1,602,240,000 



 

15 

The University of Tennessee was founded in 1794 as Blount College.  The University was designated in 1869 as the 

Federal land-grant institution in Tennessee.  The Board of Trustees is the governing body of The University of Tennessee.  

The University has five main campuses (Knoxville, Martin, Chattanooga, Southern and Health Science Center), with 33 

colleges, schools, and divisions, and together with the Board of Trustees constitute a single “Institution” under the Act and  

the Board of Trustees’ Second Program Financing Agreement.  Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annoated Title 49, Chapter 9, 

Section 103, the Univeristy of Tennessee is authorized to borrow money, incur debt and issue bonds, notes or other evidence 

of indegtedness for specified purposes, with the prior approval of the Authority.  

The Board of Regents was created by the General Assembly in 1972. The Board of Regents governs the Community 

College System, which currently includes 13 community colleges and 24 Tennessee colleges of applied technology 

(“TCATs”).  Institutions governed by the Board of Regents are: Chattanooga State Community College, Cleveland State 

Community College, Columbia State Community College, Dyersburg State Community College, Jackson State Community 

College, Motlow State Community College, Nashville State Community College, Northeast State Community College, 

Pellissippi State Community College, Roane State Community College, Southwest Tennessee Community College, Volunteer 

State Community College, and Walters State Community College, as well as the TCATs located throughout the State.  The 

State University and Community College System and the Board of Regents consitute a single “Institution” under the Act and 

the Board of Regents’ Second Program Financing Agreement.  Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 8, 

Section 203, none of the State Universities, or the Board of Regents, are authorized to borrow any monies, whether by bonds  

or notes, without prior approval of the Authority. 

Prior to the FOCUS Act, 2016 Public Chapter 869, each of the State Universities were governed solely by the Board 

of Regents. Pursuant to the FOCUS Act, the State Universities are now governed by  their own individual State University 

boards subject to certain powers and duties of the Commission.  In addition, the Board of Regents has authority over and 

must give final approval to the State Universities’ operating budget.  Funds appropriated for the State Universities are first 

distributed to the Board of Regents, which then distributes the funds to the State Universities, minus any deductions required 

by the Second Program Financing Agreements. In addition, the Board of Regents retains all powers and duties with respect 

to the State Universities (as well as the Community College System), including any  projects, which are necessary for the 

Board of Regents to fulfill its covenants, representations, agreements and obligations under the Second Program Financing 

Agreements.  The Board of Regents retains sole governance of the Community College System.  The State University and 

Community College System and the Board of Regents constitute a single “Institution” under the Act and the Board of Regents’ 

Second Program Financing Agreement. Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 8, Section 203, none of the 

State Universities are authorized to borrow any monies, whether by bonds or notes, without approval of the Authority.  

For statements of outstanding debt by Institution, debt service coverage, fees and charges, appropriations and debt 

service by Institution, and certain other statistical information, see Appendix B hereto.  

Capital Projects 

Capital projects that have been approved by the Authority (see “REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR 

FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY” below) generally are funded initially by Revolving Credit Loans until they 

are at least approximately 75% complete, after which they are refinanced with Bonds, and occasionally are financed directly 

with Bonds.  As of _______, 2025, projects authorized to be financed for the University of Tennessee system have a total 

cost of $___________, of which $__________ had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans, and for the Tennessee Board 

of Regents system have a total cost of $___________, of which $__________ had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans 

(all unaudited).  The Governor’s budget for fiscal year 2024-2025, as amended by the Appropriations Bill (Public Chapter 

966), includes capital projects to be funded by the Authority in the amount of $330,350,000, of which $299,650,000 is for 

the University of Tennessee system and $30,700,000 is for the Tennessee Board of Regents system.  If we have 2025-2026 

budget information, we should include. 

Tennessee Promise  

The Tennessee Promise is both a scholarship and mentoring program that  began with the high-school graduating 

Class of 2015. The program provides two years of tuition-free education at a community college or technical school in 

Tennessee as a last-dollar scholarship, meaning the scholarship will provide funding to cover tuition and mandatory fees not 

covered by any Pell grant, TN Education Lottery Scholarship programs, or Tennessee Student Assistance Awards. Students 

may use the scholarship at any of the State’s community colleges, Tennessee Colleges of Applied Technology (TCATs), or 

other eligible institution offering an associate degree program. A critical component of Tennessee Promise is the individual 

guidance each participant will receive from a volunteer mentor who will assist the student as he or she navigates the college 

admissions process, regardless of the educational institution at which the student ultimate ly enrolls. Tennessee Promise 

participants must complete eight hours of community service before the start of each semester in which they receive the 



 

16 

scholarship, maintain satisfactory academic progress (2.0 GPA), and file the Free Application for Federal Student Aid  

(“FAFSA”). 

Tennessee Promise is funded from interest earnings from the endowment’s corpus, which was established with 

approximately $312.5 million from the Tennessee Education Lottery reserve and approximately $48.8 million from Tennessee 

Student Assistance Corporation’s operating fund and from annual net lottery proceeds (lottery revenues less lottery 

expenditures) all of which are deposited into a special reserve. The endowment cannot be used to fund awards but any amount 

from the special reserve, including interest earnings, can be used to fund the scholarships.  In part because of the program’s 

last-dollar nature and lottery source of funding, Tennessee Promise is not expected to result in a material financial burden to 

the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its capital 

project program through the Authority. 

Tennessee Reconnect 

Like the Tennessee Promise program, Tennessee Reconnect is a last-dollar scholarship program which began with 

the 2018-2019 academic year.  Tennessee Reconnect provides tuition-free education towards a certificate or associate degree 

at a community college or other eligible institution in Tennessee.  Tennessee Reconnect also provide s individual guidance 

for each participant through a college success program, which is designed to assist the student as he or she navigates the 

college admissions process, regardless of the educational institution at which the student ultimately enrolls.  Participation in 

Tennessee Reconnect will be limited to students who, among other things, are Tennessee residents, are classified as 

independent students pursuant to FAFSA guidelines or at least 23 years of age on or before January 1 in the year of initial 

enrollment and who have not previously earned an associate or baccalaureate degree.  

Tennessee Reconnect is funded from lottery proceeds. The program is not expected to result in a material financial 

burden to the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its 

capital project program through the Authority. 

Outcomes-Based Funding  

Legislative appropriations for higher education insitutions are based on an outcomes-based funding formula model 

that rewards institutions for the production of outcomes that further the educational attainment and productivity goals of th e 

State’s Master Plan for the future development of public higher education that has been app roved by the Commission. This 

model was effective beginning with fiscal year 2010-2011 and was phased in over a three year period. The model underwent 

a thorough review in the summer of 2015, culminating in the implementation of the 2015 -2020 outcomes-based funding 

formula. Another thorough review of the formula and update was completed in 2022, for use through 2025 , which is described 

below. 

The outcomes were chosen to represent broad activities across institutions and are grouped into the categories of 

student progression, degree production, efficiency, and other important institutional functions.  The outcomes are weighted 

according to institutional mission, reflecting an institution’s basic Carnegie Classification (a major national framework for  

describing how institutions are alike and different) as a core differentiation.   

Outcomes Included in the University Formula 

Students Accumulating 30hrs Bachelor and Associate Degrees 

Students Accumulating 60hrs Masters and Ed Specialist Degrees 

Students Accumulating 90hrs Doctoral and Law Degrees 

Research, Service and Sponsored Programs 

Expenditures 

Degrees per 100 Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”) 

Six-Year Graduation Rate 

 

Outcomes Included in Community College Formula 

Students Accumulating 12hrs Dual Enrollment Students 

Students Accumulating 24hrs Associates Degrees 

Students Accumulating 36hrs Short- and Long-term Certificates 

Job Placements Transfers Out with 12 credits 

Work Force Training Hours Awards per 100 (“FTE”) 

 

The outcomes-based model does not specifically use enrollment to distribute funds. It instead utilizes a three-year 

average of outcome data. The outcome data is then weighted to reflect both the priority of that outcome at a particular 

institution and an institution’s Carnegie Classification. Institutions are also rewarded with a premium for the student 



 

17 

progression and undergraduate award production data attributable to low-income and/or adult students and universities and 

low-income, adult and/or academically underprepared students at communtiy colleges . Additionally, students completing an 

undergraduate award in a high-need academic program also qualify for a premium. Student progression measures the 

accumulation of credit hours, thereby incorporating course completions. 

The outcomes-based model provides more stability by spreading the financial incentives across more variables.  

Additionally, the institutional specific weights allow the State to be clear in its expectations, while not prescribing to 

institutions how to achieve higher levels of outcomes. Unlike performance funding, the outcomes based formula does not 

have annual targets or benchmarks. Therefore, institutions are not penalized for failure to achieve a predetermined annual 

target. 

Employee Retirement Benefits  

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - General 

Employees of the University of Tennessee and the Board of Regents are authorized to participate in the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System (“TCRS”), a defined benefit pension plan, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, 

Chapter 35 except that employees exempt from the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act may waive membership in TCRS and 

elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program (“ORP”), a defined contribution plan.  The general administration and 

responsibility for the proper operation of TCRS are vested in a twenty member Board of Trustees.  The Treasury Department, 

a constitutional office in the legislative branch of state government, is responsible for the administration of TCRS, includi ng 

the investment of assets in the plan, in accordance with state statute and in accordance with the poli cies, rules, and regulations 

established by the Board of Trustees. 

The TCRS covers three large groups of public employees; state employees and higher education employees, K -12 

teachers, and employees of certain local governments.  As of June 30, 2024, there were 62,037 active members in TCRS in 

the state and higher education employee group.  This total includes 20,481 employees of the University of Tennessee and the 

Board of Regents who are members of TCRS. 

The State of Tennessee is ultimately responsible for the financial obligations of the benefits provided by TCRS to 

state employees and higher education employees participating in the Legacy Pension Plan to the extent such obligations are 

not covered by employee contributions and investments earnings.  The obligation is funded by employer contributions as 

determined by an actuarial valuation.  The Hybrid Retirement Plan provided to state employees and higher education 

employees hired after June 30, 2014, includes provisions to control employer contributions and unfunded liabilities.  As such, 

plan provisions of the Hybrid Retirement Plan are automatically adjusted when employer contributions and/or unfunded 

liabilities exceed statutory limits.  Employees hired on or before June 30, 2014, in the state and higher education group are 

noncontributory.  New employees hired on or after July 1, 2014, contribute 5% of their salary. 

By statute, an actuarial valuation of TCRS is to be conducted at least once in each two year period.  The purpose of 

the actuarial valuation is to determine the financial position of the plan pursuant  to Governmental Accounting Standards 

Board Statement No. 68 (“GASB 68”) and to determine the actuarially determined contributions ( “ADC”).  Effective June 

30, 2015, the Board of Trustees adopted a funding policy whereby an actuarial valuation is conducted annually to determine 

the ADC rate for participating employers and to determine the information required by GASB 68 to be presented in financial 

statements.  The actuarial valuation for June 30, 2015, and forward includes both the determination of employer contribution 

rates and accounting information.   

The actuarially determined contribution rate includes funding for the normal cost, the accrued liability cost, and the 

TCRS administrative cost. 

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - Actuarial Valuation GASB 68 Financial Status  

An actuarial valuation was performed to determine the TCRS financial position in order to provide information 

related to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  At June 30, 2024, (measurement date of 

June 30, 2023), the net pension liability in the closed plan for the state and higher education employee group was $1.1 billion, 

resulting in plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability of 94.48 %.  For the same period, the net 

pension asset in the open plan for the state and higher education employee group was $7.2 million, resulting in a funded ratio 

of 101.03%.  A measurement date of the previous fiscal year end is used for GASB 68 purposes.  

Pension Plan for Employees Hired on or before June 30, 2014 (Closed Plan) 

Employees enrolled in the pension plan on or before June 30, 2014, do not make contributions to the plan.  Eligibility 

to retire is age 60 or 30 years of service credit.  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested 



 

18 

after accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on ch anges 

in the customer price index (“CPI”) but capped at 3%. 

Higher education institutions are required to contribute at an actuarially determined contribution rate.  The employer 

contribution rates are developed with each actuarial valuation and are delayed by one year for budget purposes.  The June 30, 

2022, actuarial valuation provided the employer contribution rates for the period July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024.  For 

the employees of Tennessee’s higher education institutions, the employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2024, stated as a 

percentage of salary, was 21.95%.  For fiscal year 2025, the employer rate is 22.22%.  Previously, actuarial valuations were 

performed every two years.  Beginning June 30, 2015, the actuarial valuation is performed annually for both accounting 

purposes and funding purposes.  The employer contribution requirements of the higher education institutions are established 

and may be amended by the TCRS Board of Trustees.   

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or before June 30, 2014, do not make contributions to the plan.  

Employer contributions to the ORP are 10% of salary up to the social security wage base and 11% of salary above the social 

security wage base.  Schedules of employer contribution rates and funding are shown below.  Additionally, state and higher 

education employees may participate on a voluntary basis in the state’s 401K deferred compensation plan. For fiscal year 

2023 and fiscal year 2024, employees are eligible to receive up to a $100 monthly match from the employer.  

New Retirement Plan for Employees Hired on or after July 1, 2014 

As authorized by Public Chapter 259, Acts of 2013, employees first hired on or after July 1, 2014, participate in a 

hybrid pension plan consisting of a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  Employees contribute at 5% of 

salary to the defined benefit plan.  Employees contribute 2% of salary to the defined contribution plan unless the employee 

opts out of making such contribution.  The total employer cost for the two plans is limited to 9% of salary with 4% targeted 

to the defined benefit plan and 5% to the defined contribution plan.  Employees are also eligible to participate in the state’s 

401K deferred compensation plan. For fiscal year 2023 and fiscal year 2024, employees are eligible to receive up to a $100 

monthly match from the employer. 

The benefit accrual formula under the defined benefit plan is 1%.  Eligibility to retire is age 65 or the rule of 90 

(where age and service equals 90).  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested after 

accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on changes in 

the CPI but capped at 3%. 

There is a stabilization reserve created for any employer contributions that exceed the ADC rate that will be utilized 

to control cost and unfunded liabilities.  Federal government grant programs will only permit a reimbursement of the ADC.  

The defined benefit component of the hybrid plan has automatic cost controls and automatic controls over unfunded 

accrued liability.  The automatic controls are based on the results of the actuarial valuation.  Control features include utilizing 

funds in the stabilization reserve (if any), limiting retiree cost of living adjustments, shifting future employer contributi ons 

from the defined contribution plan to the defined benefit plan, requiring additional employee contributions, and adjusting 

benefit accruals.  The control features only apply to the new hybrid plan and do not apply to the closed pension plan.  

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or after July 1, 2014, contribute 5% of salary with employers 

contributing 9% of salary. 

  



 

19 

Summary of Employer Contributions for All Plans 

 

For each year above, contributions made by the University of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents institutions 

equal the ADC. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits  

GASB Statements (nos. 74 and 75) provide accounting and financial reporting requirements for retiree healthcare 

plans and employer participants, commonly known as Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”).  The latest actuarial 

valuation of the employee group OPEB plan (EGOP) is as of July 1, 2023, and includes OPEB costs attributable to the State 

and, separately, for certain of its component units (including the Boards) that are required to participate in the State reti rement 

and benefit plans.  The study, which used the entry age normal actuarial cost method, indicates for the fiscal year ended June 

30, 2024, the net OPEB liability of the University of Tennessee would be approximately $64,689,382, while the net OPEB 

liability of the State University and Community College System would be approximately $67,306,334.   The report may be 

viewed at Other Postemployment Benefits (tn.gov).  Each participating employer in the plan, including the Boards, will be 

charged for their share of current and future OPEB costs through an actuarially determined contribution rate.  

Prior to January 1, 2019, the State had not pre-funded any actuarially determined OPEB liability and instead used a 

pay-as-you-go funding arrangement for actual costs of OPEB liabilities incurred. However, pursuant to Sections 9 -27-801, et 

seq. Tennessee Code Annotated, a trust (the “OPEB Trust”) was established and began operating effective January 1, 2019, 

whereby the State Employee Group Plan was converted to a prefunding arrangement where assets are accumulated in the 

OPEB Trust and benefit payments are made directly from the OPEB Trust. The State has the flexibility to adjust the benefits 

and premium sharing provisions provided by insurance plans and to adjust the various OPEB plan options and operations on 

an annual basis. 

The trustees (the “Trustees”) of the OPEB Trust are the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the chair of 

the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the Senate, the chair of the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the House 

of Representatives, and the State Treasurer, in his capacity as chair of the board of TCRS.  

Public Health Epidemics or Outbreaks  

Public health epidemics or outbreaks, such as COVID-19, could adversely impact the world economy and the 

economies of the United Stated, the State of Tennessee, the Authority and the Institutions.  The extent to which such public 

health epidemics or outbreaks may impact the State, State support for public higher education and the operations and financial 

condition of the Institutions will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with 

confidence, including the duration of the outbreak and the actions to contain the threat or treat its impact, among others.  

Cybersecurity 

The Authority and the Institutions utilize various computer systems and network technology to perform many of their 

vital operations.  Such operations often include the storage and transmission of sensitive information.  As a result, the 

Authority and/or the Institutions may be the target of cyberattacks attempting to gain access to such information.  In addition 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.tn.gov%2Ffinance%2Frd-doa%2Fopeb22121.html&data=05%7C02%7CJacqueline.Felland%40cot.tn.gov%7Ca208c65bdb554629423a08dd2f407780%7C5e1bb2d80f0e4905acc97351f8506ff6%7C0%7C0%7C638718676118772600%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=tsAmwwiV2b0X%2FuhBZKiAiE6keEwuQb9PdVeAj0bnuBA%3D&reserved=0


 

20 

to intentional attacks, information breaches may occur due to unintentional user error.  A successful cyberattack or 

unintentional breach may require the expenditure of an unknown amount of money or time to resolve, substantially interrupt 

State and/or campus services and operations and subject the Institutions and/or the State to legal action. Attempted 

cybersecurity attacks, whether anonymous or targeted, occur on a periodic frequency that is not uncommon to organizations 

or entities similar to the Authority and the Institutions.  To mitigate against such risks, the State and its departments, agencies, 

and divisions, including Institutions, have instituted various technical controls, policies and procedures to protect their 

network infrastructure, including a cybersecurity training requirement for certain departments, as well as general 

cybersecurity training and awareness for all employees.  The Strategic Technology Solutions Division of the State’s 

Department of Finance and Administration works with various State departments, agencies and divisions, as necessary, to 

develop specific cybersecurity policies and procedures.  Using a framework provided by the National Institute of Standards 

and Technology, each Institution has developed its own set of cybersecurity policies and procedures that are submitted to the 

State.  The State also maintains third-party insurance against cybersecurity incidents, and such coverage includes the 

Institutions. 

Certain of the Institutions have experienced varying levels of cyberattacks and unintentional network breaches, some 

of which have resulted in the inability to use certain computer systems, the misdirection of monies and the disclosure of 

personally identifiable information, including social security numbers.  One university experienced a cyberattack that caused 

$1.4 million intended for a vendor to be misdirected to another party.  In response to such attacks and breaches, the Institu tions 

have, where applicable, revised cybersecurity policies and procedures, increased cybersecurity training for employees, 

engaged third-party cyberincident reponders, provided free credit report monitoring for affected individuals and, in the case 

of the misdirected vendor payment, submitted a claim to the insurance provider.  Despite the State’s, including the 

Institutions’, measures to safeguard their network infrastructure from any future incidents, there are no guarantees that suc h 

measures will be successful. 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY 

For the purpose of carrying out the programs authorized by the Act and to permit the Authority to undertake the 

financing of Projects, the Authority’s existing policy generally requires the review and approval  of a project by different 

bodies of State government prior to the Authority’s approval of a project undertaken for either the Board of Trustees or the 

Board of Regents. 

The review and approval process is undertaken in the following sequence: 

(1)  A Project request is initiated by an Institution.  Such Project is expected to relate to that Institution’s five -year 

capital construction plan, if applicable. 

(2)  The Project is reviewed by the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents, as the case may be, and, if approved, 

is forwarded to the Tennessee Higher Education Commission and to the Authority. 

(3)  The Tennessee Higher Education Commission undertakes a review of the Project to determine its educational 

need and compatibility with the Institution’s master plan.  The Commission then forwards its comments and recommendations 

to the Commissioner of Finance and Administration and the State Building Commission.  At the same time, the Authority 

staff undertakes a review of the Project’s financial feasibility to determine if sufficient revenue has been pledged to cover  the 

debt service for that project.  The staff then forwards its comments and recommendations to the State Building Commission.  

(4)  The Project is then presented to the Authority which examines the Project’s funding and coverage of debt service 

while considering including the Project for inclusion under the Second Program Financing Agreement with the Board of 

Trustees or the Board of Regents, as the case may be. 

(5)  Upon approval by the Authority, the Project is then presented to the State Building Commission for approval of 

funding.  The State Building Commission is an agency of the State whose permanent members consist of the Governor, 

Lieutenant Governor, Speaker of the House of Representatives, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, State 

Treasurer and Commissioner of Finance and Administration.  The State Architect serves as its Chief Staff Officer.  

(6)  Upon approval for funding by the Authority and State Building Commission , the Project continues immediately 

to detailed architectural design.  When planning and specifications are complete, they are then forwarded to the State 

Architect’s office for review and submission to the State Building Commission for approval.  

Institutions may bring financings for the purchase of large equipment and computer software directly to the 

Authority.  Depending on the useful? average life, the item financed may be amortized under the Revolving Credit Agreement 

or through long-term or short-term fixed rate debt.  



 

21 

RATINGS 

Moody’s Investors Service Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned the Offered Bonds an enhanced rating of “___”, with a 

stable outlook, based in part on its assignment to the Authority’s Legislative Appropriations intercept program (see 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative Appropriations”) of a programmatic rating 

of “Aa1”, with a stable outlook.  S&P Global Ratings, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), has assigned the Offered 

Bonds a rating of “___”, with a stable outlook.  Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”) has assigned the Offered Bonds a rating of “___”, 

with a stable outlook.  A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Offered Bonds and there is no assurance that 

any rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward  or withdrawn entirely by 

the rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such revision or withdrawal may have an adverse effect 

on the market price of the Offered Bonds.  

LITIGATION 

There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or threatened against the Authority to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Offered Bonds or the financing of the Projects or the application of the 

proceeds of the Offered Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Offered Bonds or any proceedings of 

the Authority taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof, the Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of 

any monies or security provided for the payment of the Offered  Bonds or the existence powers of the Authority, the Board 

of Regents or the Board of Trustees.   

The Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees are engaged in litigation of various natures.  However, there is no 

litigation pending or threatened against the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees to restrain or enjoin the financing of 

the Projects or contesting or affecting the validity of any proceedings of the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees take n 

with respect to the Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of any monies or se curity provided for the payment of 

the Annual Financing Charges. 

TAX MATTERS 

Federal Tax Matters – 2025A Bonds 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority, under existing statutes and court 

decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants described herein, (i) interest on the 2025A Bonds 

is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code o f 1986, 

as amended (the “Code”), and (ii) interest on the 2025A Bonds is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative 

minimum tax under the Code, however for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022, interest on the 2025A Bonds is 

included in the “adjusted financial statement income” of certain corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum t ax 

under Section 55 of the Code.  In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel has relied on certain representations, certifications of 

fact, and statements of reasonable expectations made by the Authority, the Board of Trustees, the Board of Regents and 

others, in connection with the 2025A Bonds, and Bond Counsel has assumed compliance by the Authority, the Board of 

Trustees and the Board of Regents with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to 

assure the exclusion of interest on the 2025A Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.   

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any other federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to 

the 2025A Bonds, or the ownership or disposition thereof, except as stated above and in “State of Tennessee Tax Matters – 

Offered Bonds” below.  Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and 

assumes no obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to reflect any action thereafter taken or not taken, any fa ct 

or circumstance that may thereafter come to its attention, any change in law or interpretation thereof that may thereafter 

occur, or for any other reason.  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to the consequence of any of the events described in 

the preceding sentence or the likelihood of their occurrence.  In addition, Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of 

any action taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel regarding federal, state or local tax matters, 

including, without limitation, exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the 2025A Bonds. 

For the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to federal tax matters, see Appendix  H. 

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants 



 

22 

The Code establishes certain ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the 

2025A Bonds in order that interest on the 2025A Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income under Section 103 of the 

Code.  These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to use and expenditure of gross proceeds of 

the 2025A Bonds, yield and other restrictions on investments of gross proceeds, and the arbitrage rebate requirement that 

certain excess earnings on gross proceeds be rebated to the federal government.  Noncompliance with such requirements may 

cause interest on the 2025A Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their 

issue date, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered.  The Authority, the Board of Trustees 

and the Board of Regents have covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion 

of interest on the 2025A Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. 

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences 

The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral federal income tax matters with respect to the 2025A Bonds.  

It does not purport to address all aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner of a 2025A Bond.  

Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors 

regarding the federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the 2025A Bonds. 

Prospective owners of the 2025A Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations may result in 

collateral federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations (including S corporations 

and foreign corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life insurance companies, individual recipients of 

Social Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers 

deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry obligations the interest on which is excluded from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Interest on the 2025A Bonds may be taken into account in determining the tax 

liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code. 

Original Issue Discount 

“Original issue discount” (“OID”) is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated maturity of a 2025A 

Bond (excluding certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates) over 

the issue price of that maturity.  In general, the “issue price” of a maturity (a bond with the same maturity date, interest rate, 

and credit terms) means the first price at which at least 10 percent of such maturity was sold to the public, i.e., a purchaser 

who is not, directly or indirectly, a signatory to a written contract to participate in the initial sale of the 2025A Bonds .  In 

general, the issue price for each maturity of 2025A Bonds is expected to be the initial public offering price set forth on the 

cover page of the Official Statement.  Bond Counsel further is of the opinion that, for any  2025A Bonds having OID (a 

“2025A Discount Bond”), OID that has accrued and is properly allocable to the owners of the 2025A Discount Bonds under 

Section 1288 of the Code is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same extent as other interest 

on the 2025A Bonds.   

In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a 2025A Discount Bond accrues under a constant yield method, 

based on periodic compounding of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate determined by reference 

to the yield on that 2025A Discount Bond.  An owner’s adjusted basis in a 2025A Discount Bond is increased by accrued 

OID for purposes of determining gain or loss on sale, exchange, or other disposition of such Bond.  Accrued OID may be 

taken into account as an increase in the amount of tax-exempt income received or deemed to have been received for purposes 

of determining various other tax consequences of owning a 2025A Discount Bond even though there will not be a 

corresponding cash payment. 

Owners of 2025A Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of original 

issue discount for federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and the state and local tax 

consequences of acquiring, holding, and disposing of 2025A Discount Bonds. 

Bond Premium 

In general, if an owner acquires a bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued interest) or otherwise at a tax basis 

that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the bond after the acquisition date (excluding certain “qualified 

stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes “bond premium” 

on that bond (a “Premium Bond”).  In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a Premium Bond must amortize 

the bond premium over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield over the remaining term of the 

Premium Bond determined based on constant yield principles (in certain cases involving a Premium Bond callable prior to 

its stated maturity date, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date 

that results in the lowest yield on such bond).  An owner of a Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium by offsetting 

the qualified stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period under the owner ’s regular method of accounting against 



 

23 

the bond premium allocable to that period.  In the case of a tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the bond premium allocable to an 

accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period, the excess is a nondeductible loss.  U nder 

certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon disposition of the Premium Bond even 

though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner ’s original acquisition cost.  Owners of any 

Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of bond premium for federal income tax 

purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local tax consequences, in connection with the 

acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange, or other disposition of Premium Bonds. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

Information reporting requirements apply to interest paid on tax-exempt obligations, including the 2025A Bonds.  In 

general, such requirements are satisfied if the interest recipient completes, and provides the payor with, a Form W -9, “Request 

for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification,” or if the recipient is one of a limited class of exempt recipients.  A 

recipient not otherwise exempt from information reporting who fails to satisfy the information reporting requirements will be  

subject to “backup withholding,” which means that the payor is required to deduct and withhold a tax from the interest 

payment, calculated in the manner set forth in the Code.  For the foregoing purpose, a “payor” generally refers to the person 

or entity from whom a recipient receives its payments of interest or who collects such payments on behalf of the recipient.   

If an owner purchasing a 2025A Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in connection with the 

establishment of such account, as generally can be expected, no backup withholding should occur.  In any event, backup 

withholding does not affect the excludability of the interest on the 2025A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes.  Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup withholding would be allowed as a refund or a credit against the owner’s 

federal income tax once the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.  

Miscellaneous 

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the federal or state 

level, may adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the 2025A Bonds under federal or state law or otherwise 

prevent beneficial owners of the 2025A Bonds from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  In 

addition, such legislation or actions (whether currently proposed, proposed in the future, or enacted) and such decisions cou ld 

affect the market price or marketability of the 2025A Bonds. 

Prospective purchasers of the 2025A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing matters in 

this subsection “Federal Tax Matters – 2025A Bonds”. 

Federal Tax Matters – 2025B Bonds 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel to the Authority, interest on the 2025B Bonds (the “Taxable Bonds”) is included in 

gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the Code.  

For the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to federal tax matters, see Appendix  H. 

General 

The following discussion is a brief summary of the principal United States federal income tax consequences of the 

acquisition, ownership and disposition of Taxable Bonds by original purchasers of the Taxable Bonds who are “U.S. Holders ,” 

as defined herein.  This summary (i) is based on the Code, Treasury Regulations, revenue rulings and court decisions, all as 

currently in effect and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect; (ii) assumes that the Taxable Bo nds 

will be held as “capital assets”; and (iii) does not discuss all of the United States federal income tax consequences that may 

be relevant to a U.S. Holder in light of its particular circumstances or to U.S. Holders subject to special rules, such as in surance 

companies, financial institutions, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, persons holding the 

Taxable Bonds as a position in a “hedge” or “straddle ,” U.S. Holders whose functional currency (as defined in Section 985 

of the Code) is not the United States dollar, U.S. Holders who acquire Taxable Bonds in the secondary market, or individuals, 

estates and trusts subject to the tax on unearned income imposed by Section 1411 of the Code.  

Certain taxpayers who are required to prepare certified financial statements and file such financial statements with 

certain regulatory or governmental agencies may be required to recognize income, gain and loss with respect to the Taxable 

Bonds at the time that such income, gain or loss is taken into account on such financial statements instead  of under the rules 

described below. In addition, interest on the Taxable Bonds is included in the “adjusted financial statement income” of certain 

corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code.  



 

24 

U.S. Holders of Taxable Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors concerning the United States federal 

income tax and other consequences with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Taxable Bonds as well 

as any tax consequences that may arise under the laws of any state, local or foreign tax jurisdiction.  

Original Issue Discount 

In general, if Original Issue Discount (“OID”) is greater than a statutorily defined de minimis amount, a U.S. Holder 

of a Taxable Bond having a maturity of more than one year from its date of issue must include in federal gross income (for 

each day of the taxable year, or portion of the taxable year, in which such U.S. Holder holds such Taxable Bond) the daily 

portion of OID, as it accrues (generally on a constant-yield method) and regardless of the U.S. Holder’s method of accounting.  

“OID” is the excess of (i) the “stated redemption price at maturity” over (ii) the “issue price .”  For purposes of the foregoing: 

“issue price” means the first price at which a substantial amount of the Taxable Bond is  sold to the public (excluding bond 

houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers); 

“stated redemption price at maturity” means the sum of all payments, other than “qualified stated interest ,” provided by such 

Taxable Bond; “qualified stated interest” is stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt 

instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed rate; and “de minimis amount” is an amount equal to 0.25 percent 

of the Taxable Bond’s stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity.  A U.S. 

Holder may irrevocably elect to include in gross income all interest that accrues on a Taxable Bond using the constant -yield 

method, subject to certain modifications. 

Acquisition Discount on Short-Term Taxable Bonds 

Each U.S. Holder of a Taxable Bond with a maturity not longer than one year (a “Short -Term Taxable Bond”) is 

subject to rules of Sections 1281 through 1283 of the Code, if such U.S. Holder is an accrual method taxpayer, bank, regulate d 

investment company, common trust fund or among certain types of pass-through entities, or if the Short-Term Taxable Bond 

is held primarily for sale to customers, is identified under Section 1256(e)(2) of the Code as part of a hedging transaction,  or 

is a stripped bond or coupon held by the person responsible for the underlying stripping transaction.  In any such instance, 

interest on, and “acquisition discount” with respect to, the Short-Term Taxable Bond accrue on a ratable (straight-line) basis, 

subject to an election to accrue such interest and acquisition discount on a constant-interest-rate basis using daily 

compounding.  “Acquisition discount” means the excess of the stated redemption price of a Short -Term Taxable Bond at 

maturity over the U.S. Holder’s tax basis therefor . 

A U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Taxable Bond not described in the preceding paragraph, including a cash-method 

taxpayer, must report interest income in accordance with the U.S. Holder’s regular method of tax accounting, unless such 

U.S. Holder irrevocably elects to accrue acquisition discount currently. 

Bond Premium 

In general, if a Taxable Bond is originally issued for an issue price (excluding accrued interest) that reflects a 

premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Taxable Bond other than “qualified stated interest” (a “Taxable Premium 

Bond”), that Taxable Premium Bond will be subject to Section 171 of the Code, relating to bond premium.  In general, if the 

U.S. Holder of a Taxable Premium Bond elects to amortize the premium as “amortizable bond premium” over the remaining 

term of the Taxable Premium Bond, determined based on constant-yield principles (in certain cases involving a Taxable 

Premium Bond callable prior to its stated maturity date, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined 

on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the highest yield on such bond), the amortizable premium is treated as an 

offset to interest income; the U.S. Holder will make a corresponding adjustment to the U.S. Holder’s basis in the Taxable 

Premium Bond.  Any such election is generally irrevocable and applies to all debt instruments of the U.S. Holder (other than 

tax-exempt bonds) held at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies and to all such debt instruments 

thereafter acquired.  Under certain circumstances, the U.S. Holder of a Taxable Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain 

upon disposition of the Taxable Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the 

U.S. Holder's original acquisition cost. 

Disposition and Defeasance  

Generally, upon the sale, exchange, redemption, or other disposition (which would include a legal defeasance) of a 

Taxable Bond, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the 

amount realized (other than amounts attributable to accrued interest not previously includable in income) and such U.S. 

Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Taxable Bond.   

The Authority may cause the deposit of moneys or securities in escrow in such amount and manner as to cause the 

Taxable Bonds to be deemed to be no longer outstanding under the Resolution (a “defeasance”).  (See Appendix E, 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION-Defeasance” herein).  For federal income tax purposes, 



 

25 

such defeasance could result in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Code and a recognition by such owner of 

taxable income or loss, without any corresponding receipt of moneys.  In addition, the character and timing of receipt of 

payments on the Taxable Bonds subsequent to any such defeasance could also be affected.   

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to non-corporate U.S. Holders of the Taxable Bonds with 

respect to payments of principal, payments of interest, and the accrual of OID on a Taxable Bond and the proceeds of the sale  

of a Taxable Bond before maturity within the United States.  Backup withholding may apply to U.S. Holders  of Taxable 

Bonds under Section 3406 of the Code.  Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a 

beneficial owner, and which constitutes over-withholding, would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial 

owner’s United States federal income tax provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.  

U.S. Holders 

The term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of a Taxable Bond that is: (i) a citizen or resident of the United 

States, (ii) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any 

political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation r egardless 

of its source or (iv) a trust whose administration is subject to the primary jurisdiction of a United States court and which has 

one or more United States fiduciaries who have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.   

Miscellaneous 

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the federal or state 

level, could affect the tax status of the Taxable Bonds under State Law or the market price or marketability of the Taxable 

Bonds. 

Prospective purchasers of the Taxable Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing matters  

in this subsection “Federal Tax Matters – 2025B Bonds”. 

State of Tennessee Tax Matters – Offered Bonds 

In addition, in the opinion of Bond Counsel to the Authority, under existing laws of the State, the Offered Bonds and 

the interest thereon are exempt from taxation by the State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State,  

except for estate and gift taxes and taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of franchise and 

excise taxes. 

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any other state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the Offered 

Bonds, or the ownership or disposition thereof, except as stated above.  Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing 

statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and assumes no obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to 

reflect any action thereafter taken or not taken, any fact or circumstance that may thereafter come to its attention, any change 

in law or interpretation thereof that may thereafter occur, or for any other reason.  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to  

the consequence of any of the events described in the preceding sentence or the likelihood of their occurrence.  In addition, 

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel  

under state and local tax law. 

For the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to State tax matters, see Appendix  H. 

Prospective purchasers of the Offered Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing matters  

in this subsection “State of Tennessee Tax Matters – Offered Bonds”. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC (“PFM”) is employed by the Authority to perform professional services in the capacity 

of financial advisor.  In its role as financial advisor to the Authority, PFM has provided advice on the plan of financing an d 

structure of the Offered Bonds, and reviewed certain legal and disclosure documents, including this Official Statement, for 

financial matters.  PFM has not independently verified the factual information contained in this Official Statement, but relied 

on the information supplied by the Authority and other sources and the Authority’s certification as to the Official Statement.  

LEGAL OPINIONS 



 

26 

The validity of the Offered Bonds is subject to the approval of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New 

York, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  For the form of proposed Bond Counsel opinion relating to the Offered Bonds, see 

Appendix H.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon by the Attorney General and Reporte r of the State of Tennessee, as 

counsel to the Authority.  No representation is made to the holders of the Offered Bonds that such counsel have verified the 

accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements in this Official Statement, and such counsel assume no responsibility to 

the holders of the Offered Bonds except for the matters that will be set forth in their respective opinions.  

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2 -12(b)(5).  The 

Undertaking is for the benefit of the holders of the Offered Bonds; beneficial owners of the Offered Bonds will be third -party 

beneficiaries of the Undertaking.  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide certain financial information and 

operating data by specified dates, and to provide notice of certain enumerated events with respect to the Offered Bonds.  The 

specific nature of the information to be provided and the notices of enumerated events, and where they will be filed, is 

described in the summary of certain provisions of the Undertaking, attached hereto as Appendix G.   

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information relating to the Authority is contained in its audited financial statements.  The audited financial 

statements of the Authority for fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and 2024 are included herein as Appendix A.  Audited 

financial statements for certain prior years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and 

have been filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) 

system. 

Additional information relating to the Institutions is included in the audited financial statements of the State, 

including component unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of 

Tennessee, and of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board 

of Regents, showing information of the type described in the Statement of Net Position, and Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures and Changes in Net Position.  Financial statements of the State for fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, and for 

certain prior years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and have been filed with EMMA.  

SALE BY COMPETITIVE BIDDING 

The Offered Bonds will be awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding to be held via IPREO LLC’s 

BiDCOMPTM/PARITY® Competitive Bidding System on behalf of the Authority on _______, 2025, unless postponed or 

cancelled, as set forth in the Notice of Sale contained in Appendix I. 

The Offered Bonds are being offered for sale as provided in the Notice of Sale for the Offered Bonds. The Notice of 

Sale provides that the initial purchaser of each series of the Offered Bonds (each an “Initial Purchaser”) shall purchase all  

Offered Bonds of that series, if any Offered Bonds of such series are purchased. The obligation to each such purchase is 

subject to certain conditions set forth in the Notice of Sale, the approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain o ther 

conditions. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the Authority, that are 

not purely historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the Authority’s expectations, hopes, 

intentions, or strategies regarding the future. 

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  All forward-looking statements included in 

this Official Statement are based on information available to the Authority on the date hereof, and the Authority assumes no 

obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently 

subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the unde rlying 

assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and 

regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, 



 

27 

suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials.  

Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, 

and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and, 

therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement would prove to 

be accurate. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, the Act, the Financing Agreements, the Resolution, and the 

Undertaking contained herein do not purport to be complete and reference is made to each for full and complete statements 

of their provisions.  The Appendices attached hereto are a part of this Official Statement.  Any statements in this Official 

Statement involving matters of estimate or opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as 

representations of fact.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Authority and 

the purchasers or holders of any of the Offered Bonds. 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

 

 

By: ________________________               

Comptroller of the Treasury; 

Secretary to the Authority 

 



 

A - 1 

 

APPENDIX A 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“Authority ACFR”), 

including the audited Basic Financial Statements, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 has been filed with the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MRSB”) through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system (see 

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the Official Statement) and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Tennessee State School 

Bond Authority, 425 Rep. John Lewis Way N, 4th Floor, Nashville, Tennessee 37243, telephone (615) 401-7872, fax (615) 

741-5986.  The 2024 Authority ACFR and certain prior year Authority ACFRs are posted on the Authority’s website at 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-

reports.html. 

The following reports, each of which are included in the ACFR and have been posted on the Authority’s website, are 

incorporated herein by reference: 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Basic Financial Statements: 

 Statements of Net Position 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

 Statements of Cash Flows 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

Supplementary Schedules: 

 Supplementary Schedules of Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Cash Flows – Program Level 

Other Financial Statements 

The State of Tennessee Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“State ACFR”), including component unit 

reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, showing of the 

type described in the Statement of Net Position, Statement of Activities, and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 has been filed with EMMA and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Authority, as described 

above.  The 2024 State ACFR and certain prior year State ACFRs are posted on the website of the Tennessee Department of 

Finance and Administration at https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-ar.html.  The State ACFR and such component 

unit reporting is required to be filed annually with EMMA pursuant to the Authority’s continuing disclosure obligations as 

described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in 

APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

The most recent audited financial statements for the schools under the supervision of the Board of Trustees and 

Tennessee Board of Regents are posted on the website of the Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of Tennessee, Division 

of State Audit, at https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html.  Universities are audited on an annual 

basis and Community Colleges and TCATs are audited on a biennial basis.  Audits are prepared on a rolling basis and are 

published as they become available.  These financial statements are not required to be filed with EMMA as part of the 

Authority’s continuing disclosure obligations as described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

 

 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-cafr.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html


 

 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 



APPENDIX B 

 

B - 1 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION  

The information in this Appendix B includes selected statistical information relating to the Boards, the Institutions 

and their component institutions.  For a discussion of certain impacts of public health epidemics, or outbreaks, such as 

COVID-19, see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION – Public Health Epidemics or Outbreaks” in this Official 

Statement.  No assurance can be provided that the results included in this Appendix B will be indicative of future results.  

 

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1  Does not to include the Offered Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority" for total outstanding Bonds. 
2  Admin. expense is a fee imposed by the Authority on the Institutions estimated at the rate of 20 bps on the outstanding indebtedness of the Authority.  

The Authority has the right to change the amount charged based on actual expenses. 

 

12 Months 

June 30 Bond Debt Service

Admin. 

Expense

Annual Debt 

Service and Admin. 

Expense
1

2025 158,308 4,778 163,086

2026 156,342 4,461 160,803

2027 150,085 4,149 154,234

2028 140,656 3,849 144,505

2029 132,809 3,567 136,376

2030 129,796 3,302 133,098

2031 114,707 3,042 117,749

2032 113,387 2,813 116,200

2033 107,288 2,586 109,874

2034 104,404 2,371 106,775

2035 99,709 2,163 101,872

2036 99,708 1,963 101,671

2037 93,739 1,764 95,503

2038 91,593 1,576 93,169

2039 85,556 1,393 86,949

2040 83,736 1,222 84,958

2041 78,526 1,055 79,581

2042 76,304 897 77,201

2043 63,091 745 63,836

2044 58,159 619 58,778

2045 52,052 502 52,554

2046 44,360 398 44,758

2047 32,154 310 32,464

2048 32,151 245 32,396

2049 21,030 181 21,211

2050 21,031 139 21,170

2051 16,132 97 16,229

2052 16,131 65 16,196

2053 16,133 32 16,165

$  2,389,077 $  50,284 $  2,439,361

Requirements Secured by Financing Agreements

(Excluding Revolving Credit Facility)

(Expressed in Thousands)



 

B - 2 

 

Principal Amount of Debt Outstanding by Institution 

(Unaudited) 

As of February 28, 2025 

 

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1 Does not include the Offered Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority" for additional 

information regarding the outstanding Bonds (unaudited). 
2 Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans balance is as of June 30, 2024, which excludes $14,770,374 of Revolving Credit Loans not 

allocated to Institutions   
  

Institutions Bonds
1

Revolving Credit 

Loans
2

Total Debt

University of Tennessee System 963,301,129$           138,437,049$     1,101,738,178$     

Tennessee Board of Regents System 638,938,871                 13,166,684             652,105,555                  

TOTAL 1,602,240,000$        151,603,733$     1,753,843,733$             

Authority Debt



 

B - 3 

 

University and College Funds 

Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appropriations 

And Debt Service for the Last Ten Years  

 

The Total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (in some cases, as amended by the General Assembly) 

set forth in the following tables are applied to pay the cost of operation and maintenance of the following Institutions as w ell 

as the Debt Service Requirements1 (excluding Revolving Credit Loans and the Offered Bonds) listed below.  (Fiscal Years 

ended June 30) (Dollar amounts are expressed in thousands).   

 

  

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Debt Service Requirements consist only of principal and interest.  Excludes the Offered Bonds. 
2 Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 

 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
2

Year and Charges Appropriations
2

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2024 1,110,400$       849,639$             -$                                        89,487$                   

2023 1,050,528         847,216               -                                          80,812                     

2022 940,588            690,956               -                                          71,606                     

2021 818,094            643,823               -                                          72,059                     

2020 817,336            636,000               -                                          84,562                     

2019 817,648            612,411               -                                          83,887                     

2018 802,063            572,915               -                                          76,662                     

2017 778,509            532,161               -                                          73,722                     

2016 746,986            503,606               -                                          70,543                     

2015 700,757            479,221               -                                          55,553                     

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
2

Year and Charges Appropriations
2

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2024 1,601,923$       1,258,448$          -$                                        70,141$                   

2023 1,605,143         1,221,794            -                                          68,378                     

2022 1,567,223         1,026,416            -                                          63,183                     

2021 1,390,548         916,824               -                                          64,832                     

2020 1,430,945         892,751               -                                          62,355                     

2019 1,467,540         840,812               -                                          57,292                     

2018 1,385,505         784,012               -                                          56,107                     

2017 1,131,352         720,388               -                                          57,511                     

2016 1,102,572         675,048               -                                          56,299                     

2015 1,158,289         644,099               -                                          52,404                     



 

B - 4 

 

State of Tennessee 

Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for 

Long-Term Debt Secured By Financing Agreements1 

College and University Funds 

For the Last Ten Years 

(Expressed in Thousands) 

 

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Excludes Revolving Credit Loans 
2Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 
3 Annual Financing Charges consist of principal, interest and administrative fees.  Excludes the Offered Bonds. 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees 

and Charges

Legislative 

Appropriations
2

Annual Financing 

Charges
3

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2024 $  1,110,400 $  849,639 $  90,147 12.32 X 21.74 X

2023 1,050,528 847,216 81,516 12.89 X 23.28 X

2022 940,588 690,956 72,882 12.91 X 22.39 X

2021 818,094 643,823 73,384 11.15 X 19.92 X

2020 817,336 636,000 85,929 9.51 X 16.91 X

2019 817,348 612,411 85,606 9.55 X 16.70 X

2018 802,063 573,017 85,031 9.43 X 16.17 X

2017 780,867 527,569 74,793 10.44 X 17.49 X

2016 746,986 499,862 74,965 9.96 X 16.63 X

2015 700,757 475,416 56,855 12.33 X 20.69 X

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees 

and Charges

Legislative 

Appropriations
2

Annual Financing 

Charges
3

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2024 $  1,601,923 $  1,258,448 $  70,935 22.58 X 40.32 X

2023 1,605,143 1,221,794 69,225 23.19 X 40.84 X

2022 1,567,223 1,026,416 64,318 24.37 X 40.33 X

2021 1,390,548 916,824 66,005 21.07 X 34.96 X

2020 1,430,945 892,751 63,716 22.46 X 36.47 X

2019 1,467,541 840,812 58,846 24.94 X 39.23 X

2018 1,385,505 687,307 58,271 23.78 X 35.57 X

2017 1,131,352 769,801 58,212 19.44 X 32.66 X

2016 1,102,572 660,789 58,754 18.77 X 30.01 X

2015 1,158,289 578,734 53,707 21.57 X 32.34 X

Coverage By:

Coverage By:



 

B - 5 

 

University and College 

Per Student Fees and Charges 

(2024-2025 Academic Year) 

Student Fees and Charges are the largest component of total Fees and Charges received by schools.  Other Fees and 

Charges include rental revenue and other charges for use of certain Projects by faculty, administration, the public at large,  

and other users. 

 

Source – Tennessee Higher Education Commission 
1 Debt Service Fees represent an additional charge by certain institutions to cover a portion of such Institution's debt service obligations on certain 

indebtedness, including Bonds.  Institutions which do not impose a separate Debt Service Fee may include similar charges as a portion of a student's 

maintenance fees.  
2 Represents charges paid to domestic, non-resident students. For many institutions, students attending from border states and international students pay a 

different rate. 
3 Room and board provided for independent students at universities. 

 

Institutions

Debt 

Service 

Fees
1

In-State 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees

Non-Resident 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees
2

Average 

Room 

Charge 
3

Average 

Board 

Charge

Austin Peay $274 $9,384 $14,928 $8,404 $5,058

East Tennessee 410 10,472 13,712 6,100 4,454

Middle Tennessee 388 10,396 40,384 6,420 5,788

Tennessee State 178 8,981 23,453 6,800 5,300

Tennessee Tech 258 11,376 18,936 6,354 6,410

University of Memphis 382 10,728 16,548 6,552 4,790

UT Chattanooga2 504 10,462 18,526 6,300 3,752

UT Knoxville 438 13,812 32,232 8,170 4,610

UT Martin 460 10,566 16,606 5,180 4,015

UT Southern - 10,924 10,924 5,500 4,500

Chattanooga State Community College - $5,012 $18,644 $5,269 $4,830

Cleveland State Community College - 5,002 18,634 5,269 4,830

Columbia State Community College 44 5,028 18,660 5,269 4,830

Dyersburg State Community College - 4,998 18,630 5,269 4,830

Jackson State Community College - 4,980 18,612 5,269 4,830

Motlow State Community College - 4,978 18,610 5,269 4,830

Nashville State Community College - 4,970 18,602 5,269 4,830

Northeast State Technical Community College - 5,022 18,654 5,269 4,830

Pellissippi State Technical Community College 30 5,026 18,658 5,269 4,830

Roane State Community College - 4,998 18,630 5,269 4,830

Southwest Tennessee Community College - 5,012 18,644 5,269 4,830

Volunteer State Community College - 4,996 18,628 5,269 4,830

Walters State Community College - 4,992 18,624 5,269 4,830



 

B - 6 

 

 

Note: Tennessee Higher Education experienced significant declines in enrollment during the Covid-19 pandemic. Since 2021, 

Tennessee public institutions have increased enrollment and continue recover from pandemic enrollment challenges, with several 

Tennessee public institutions experiencing their highest enrollments ever. 
 

Source - Tennessee Higher Education Commission (Unaudited) 

 

LGI = Locally Governed Institutions, APSU = Austin Peay State University, ETSU = East Tennessee State University, MTSU = Middle 

Tennessee State University, TSU = Tennessee State University, TTU = Tennessee Technological University, UM = University of Memphis, UT 

= University of Tennessee 

Two Year Schools = State Community Colleges 

 

%  Change

Institution 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2022 - 2023 2018 to 2023

APSU 8,856 8,620 8,151 7,487 7,217 7,652 6.0% -13.6%

ETSU 12,098 11,924 11,526 11,128 11,255 11,403 1.3% -5.7%

ETSU Medical 277 291 292 295 299 300 0.3% 8.3%

ETSU Pharmacy 312 310 281 258 210 175 -16.7% -43.9%

MTSU 17,745 17,817 17,954 16,861 16,124 16,224 0.6% -8.6%

TSU 6,552 6,417 6,289 6,521 8,163 7,281 -10.8% 11.1%

TTU 8,918 8,841 8,832 8,523 8,736 8,870 1.5% -0.5%

UM 16,197 16,479 16,726 16,459 16,645 16,268 -2.3% 0.4%

LGI Total 70,955 70,699 70,051 67,532 68,649 68,173 -0.7% -3.9%

UT Chattanooga 10,380 10,514 10,554 10,255 10,097 10,259 1.6% -1.2%

UT Knoxville 25,260 25,845 26,760 27,724 29,637 32,169 8.5% 27.4%

UT Veterinary 366 370 380 380 396 402 1.5% 9.8%

UT Space Inst 48 41 40 41 41 34 -17.1% -29.2%

UT Martin 5,582 5,647 5,620 5,209 5,179 5,228 0.9% -6.3%

UT Health Science 3,284 3,250 3,185 3,240 3,141 3,127 -0.4% -4.8%

UT Southern NA NA NA 741 800 826 3.3% NA

UT Total 44,920 45,667 46,539 47,590 49,291 52,045 5.6% 15.9%

Total 4 Year 115,875 116,366 116,590 115,122 117,940 120,218 1.9% 3.7%

Chattanooga 5,630 5,383 4,992 4,523 4,343 4,485 3.3% -20.3%

Cleveland 2,201 2,341 2,155 2,012 2,109 2,097 -0.6% -4.7%

Columbia 4,361 4,465 4,201 3,798 3,439 3,526 2.5% -19.1%

Dyersburg 1,747 1,742 1,630 1,729 1,709 1,867 9.2% 6.9%

Jackson 3,039 3,135 2,655 2,426 2,035 2,119 4.1% -30.3%

Motlow 4,557 4,571 4,156 3,771 3,786 4,078 7.7% -10.5%

Nashville 5,173 4,984 4,421 4,143 4,063 4,202 3.4% -18.8%

Northeast 4,281 4,176 3,712 3,567 3,389 3,579 5.6% -16.4%

Pellissippi 7,202 6,972 6,110 5,641 5,364 5,603 4.5% -22.2%

Roane 3,925 3,983 3,531 3,158 3,042 3,284 8.0% -16.3%

Southwest 6,142 6,049 4,865 4,343 3,917 4,152 6.0% -32.4%

Volunteer 6,253 6,148 5,801 4,869 4,587 4,464 -2.7% -28.6%

Walters 4,203 4,259 3,835 3,626 3,590 3,860 7.5% -8.2%

Total 2 Year 58,714 58,208 52,064 47,606 45,373 47,316 4.3% -19.4%

Grand Total 174,589 174,574 168,654 162,728 163,313 167,534 2.6% -4.0%

Four Year Institutions Four Year Institutions

Two Year Institutions Two Year Institutions

Tennessee Higher Education Commission

History of Fall Term Full-Time Equivalent Enrollment in Public Higher Education Schools



 

C - 1 

 

APPENDIX C 

GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS 

The following terms, as used in this Official Statement including the Appendices hereto, have the respective 

meanings provided below.  These summary definitions do not purport to be complete or definitive and are qualified in their 

entirety by reference to the Resolution and Financing Agreements, copies of which are on file at the offices of the Authority  

and the Trustee. 

 

Term Definition 

Account or Accounts Each account or all of the accounts established pursuant to the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Accreted Value With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds (i) as of any Valuation Date, the amount set forth for such 

date in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds and (ii) as of any date 

other than a Valuation Date, the sum of (a) the Accreted Value on the preceding Valuation Date and (b) the 

product of (1) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days having elapsed from the preceding 

Valuation Date and the denominator of which is the number of days from such preceding Valuation Date to 

the next succeeding Valuation Date and (2) the difference between the Accreted Values for such Valuation 

Dates. For purposes of this definition, the number of days having elapsed from the preceding Valuation Date 

and the number of days from the preceding Valuation Date to the next succeeding Valuation Date shall be 

calculated on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months or 

otherwise with respect to any Series of Bonds as may be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing the issuance thereof. 

Act The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, as 

amended from time to time. 

Administrative 

Expenses 

The Authority's expenses of carrying out and administering its powers, duties and functions in connection 

with the Agreements, the Projects and the Resolution, and shall include, without limiting the generality of 

the foregoing: administrative expenses, legal, accounting and consultant's services and expenses, the fees 

and expenses of the Trustee, Paying Agents and Registrar, payments to pension, retirement, health and 

hospitalization funds, and any other expenses required or permitted to be paid by the Authority under the 

provisions of the Act, the Financing Agreements or the Resolution or otherwise. 

Annual Financing 

Charges 

The amounts payable by the Boards to the Authority under the Financing Agreements for (i) the payment of 

principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Debt for all Projects and all Institutions, (ii) any payments 

to fund or replenish reserves therefor as may be required by the Resolution, regardless of Project or 

Institution, and (iii) any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority under or 

pursuant to the Resolution with respect to any Project, any Institution or the Board.   

Authenticating Agent An authenticating agent appointed pursuant to the Resolution. 

Authority The Tennessee State School Bond Authority, the corporate governmental agency and instrumentality created 

by the Act, or any body, agency or instrumentality of the State which shall succeed to the powers, duties and 

functions of the Authority. 

Authorized Officer Any member of the Authority, and any other officer or employee of the Authority authorized by law, by 

resolution of the Authority or by a certificate of the Secretary of the Authority to perform the act or sign the 

document in question. 

Bank Bonds Reimbursement Obligations under Credit Facilities represented by Bonds; provided, however, that Bank 

Bonds do not include any Bonds issued to or held by any party providing a Credit Facility or its designee in 

any other capacity. 



 

C - 2 

 

Board or Boards The Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees, or both such Boards, respectively. 

Board of Regents The Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State of 

Tennessee, and its successors.  

Board of Trustees The Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee, and its successors. 

Bond or Bonds  Any Bond or Bonds issued under the Resolution, including but not limited to Variable Interest Rate Bonds, 

Capital Appreciation Bonds and Refunding Bonds.  Bonds shall not include Subordinated Obligations.  

Bond Year The twelve-month period commencing on May 1 of each calendar year and ending on April 30 of the next 

succeeding calendar year except that the first Bond Year shall begin on the date specified in the Supplemental 

Resolution authorizing the first Series of Bonds. 

Business Day Any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which banking institutions located in the State or 

in any of the cities in which the principal office of the Trustee, any Paying Agent, the Registrar or the provider 

of a Reserve Fund Credit Facility are required or authorized by law or executive order to close or (iii) a day 

on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed, and (iv) with respect to a particular Series of Bonds, a 

day on which any provider of a Credit Facility for such Series of Bonds is located is required or authorized 

by law or executive order to close or as may otherwise be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Series of Bonds.  

Capital Appreciation 

Bonds 

Any Bonds as to which interest is payable only at the maturity or prior redemption of such Bonds or which 

bear a stated interest rate of zero.  For the purposes of (i) receiving payment of the Redemption Price if a 

Capital Appreciation Bond is redeemed prior to maturity or upon acceleration as provided in the Resolution, 

or (ii) computing the principal amount of Bonds held by the Owner of a Capital Appreciation Bond in giving 

to the Authority or any Fiduciary any notice, consent, request, or demand pursuant to the Resolution for any 

purpose whatsoever, the principal amount of a Capital Appreciation Bond shall be deemed to be its Accreted 

Value. 

Commercial Paper All Commercial Paper issued under the Commercial Paper Resolution. 

Commercial Paper 

Resolution 

The Commercial Paper Resolution adopted by the Authority on November 18, 1997, as supplemented and 

amended. 

Counsel's Opinion An opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys selected by or satisfactory to the Authority (who may 

be counsel to the Authority) which  attorney or firm of attorneys is of recognized standing in the field of law 

relating to municipal bonds; provided, however, that such Counsel's Opinion may take customary exception 

as to the effect of, or for restrictions or limitations imposed by or resulting from, bankruptcy, insolvency, 

debt adjustment, moratorium, reorganization, laws affecting creditors' rights, the exercise of judicial 

discretion and other matters, and may state that no opinion is being rendered as to the availability of any 

particular remedy or as to the limitation of remedies resulting from sovereign immunity or the partial waiver 

thereof, and may contain such other references and qualifications as are acceptable to the Fiduciary receiving 

the same. 

Credit Facility Any irrevocable letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, 

surety bond or agreement, guarantee or similar instrument which is obtained by the Authority and is issued 

by a financial, insurance or other institution, the State or any subdivision, department, instrumentality or 

agency thereof, and the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System or any successor entity thereto then 

managing and investing the State retirement funds, and which provides credit enhancement, security or 

liquidity in respect of the Bonds (and which, with respect to a policy of bond insurance, guarantees the 

payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds), not including any Reserve Fund Credit Facility. 

Debt Any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Authority pursuant to the Act and the 



 

C - 3 

 

Resolution for the purpose of financing or refinancing Project Costs.  Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Debt may include "long-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of more than one year unless issued in 

anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a longer term) or "short-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of one year or 

less or issued in anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a term of more than one year), and may take the 

form of commercial paper. 

Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement 

With respect to each Series of Bonds (other than Bonds as to which the Authority has elected to establish a 

separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for such Bonds, as described in “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service Reserve Fund”), as of any date of 

calculation, (i) an amount equal to the aggregate of the greatest amount of Debt Service on all Outstanding 

Bonds of such Series issued for each Project (calculated separately for each Project and then aggregated) 

payable on any interest or Principal Installment date thereafter (except that for the first such date after the 

date of issuance of such Bonds, interest to accrue for greater than 6 months but less than 12 months shall not 

be taken into account), or (ii) such greater amount, which subsequently may be reduced to an amount not 

less than the amount required by clause (i) above, as may be determined from time to time by the Authority 

by Supplemental Resolution; provided, however, that as a result of the issuance of any Series of Bonds the 

interest on which is generally excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the Debt Service 

Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series shall at no time exceed the lesser of (i) the amount that may 

be funded from the proceeds of such Bonds or (ii) the amount that constitutes a reasonably required reserve 

with respect to such Bonds.  Each determination by the Authority of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

shall be conclusive.  For purposes of this definition: 

 

(A) "Debt Service" for any date or period means, as of any date of calculation and 

with respect to any Series, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the interest payable 

on such date or accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series, and (ii) the Principal Installment for such Series payable on such date or 

accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such Series; provided, 

however, that in calculating Debt Service on any future date or for any future 

period:  (x) any Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at 

all times prior to the maturity date thereof for which the interest rate payable 

thereon has not yet been determined at the Debt Service Determination Interest 

Rate applicable thereto and (y) any interest on any Bonds secured by a Credit 

Facility the related Reimbursement Obligation on which is evidenced by a Bank 

Bond shall be calculated at the higher of the actual interest rate or, if applicable, 

the Debt Service Determination Interest Rate applicable to such Bonds or the 

maximum rate of interest permitted for any such Reimbursement Obligation 

(whether or not any Reimbursement Obligation has yet accrued). 

(B) "Debt Service Determination Interest Rate" means, with respect to any 

particular Variable Interest Rate Bonds, any numerical rate or rates of interest 

set forth, or determined as set forth, in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing 

such Bonds; provided, however, that such rate shall not be less than the interest 

rate initially borne by such Bonds.  

(C) "Proceeds" and "reasonably required reserve" shall have the respective 

meanings given such terms, or any comparable terms, for purposes of Section 

148(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable 

regulations thereunder. 

Defeasance 

Obligations  

Investment Obligations which are rated at the time of investment in any of the two highest Rating Categories 

by any Rating Agency, and which (i) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than at 

the option of the holder thereof and (ii) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than 

at the option of the holder thereof or as to which an irrevocable notice of redemption of such securities on a 

specified redemption date has been given and such securities are not otherwise subject to redemption prior 



 

C - 4 

 

to such specified date other than at the option of the holder thereof.   

Direct DTC 

Participant  

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

 

Fees and Charges With respect to each Board, all revenues, fees, rentals and other charges and moneys received by or on behalf 

of the Board for the Institution, or received by or on behalf of the Institution, for which any Project is 

undertaken which may be available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges. 

Fiduciary or 

Fiduciaries 

The Trustee (including, where appropriate, any co-Trustee or Authenticating Agent), any Paying Agent, the 

Registrar, or any or all of them, as may be appropriate, or any other Person appointed to act as a Fiduciary 

as provided in the Resolution. 

Financing Agreement 

or Financing 

Agreements 

The Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by and between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and the Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by 

and between the Authority and the Board of Regents, as appropriate, in each case as supplemented and 

amended from time to time. 

First Program 

Financing Agreements 

The Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated as of September 17, 1996, between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and between the Authority and the Board of Regents.  The following terms, when 

identified as related to the First Program, shall have the respective meanings given to them in the First 

Program Financing Agreements:  administrative fees, Annual Financing Charges, Bonds, Fees and Charges, 

General Bond Resolution, Legislative Appropriations and Projects. 

Fiscal Year With respect to the Authority, currently the twelve-month period commencing on July 1 and ending on June 

30 of the following year.  In the event of any change in Fiscal Year resulting in an initial Fiscal Year or 

interim period of more or less than twelve months, Fiscal Year for purposes of the Financing Agreements 

shall mean the last twelve-month Fiscal Year. 

Fitch Fitch Ratings, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Fund or Funds Each fund or all of the funds established in the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Indirect DTC 

Participant 

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Institution As appropriate, (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever 

located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent 

institutions wherever located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities 

provided therein, and the Board of Regents, in the aggregate.  In 

Investment 

Obligations 

Include any instruments, securities, certificates, obligations or the like if and to the extent the same are at the 

time permitted and legal for investment of the Authority's funds pursuant to the Act or in accordance with 

any other law, regulation, guideline or policy, as in effect from time to time, of or applicable to the Authority 

with respect to investments. 

Legislative 

Appropriations 

The amounts payable to the Authority from appropriations by the General Assembly of the State to an 

Institution for its operation and maintenance, under and pursuant to the Act and the Financing Agreements, 

including but not limited to amounts deductible, by Persons other than the Boards, from such appropriations 

for payment directly to the Authority. 

Moody's Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of 

the Authority. 



 

C - 5 

 

 

Outstanding When used with reference to Bonds, other than Bonds held by or for the account of the Authority or either 

of the Boards, means, as of any date, Bonds theretofore or then being delivered under the provisions of the 

Resolution, except:  

(A) Any Bonds cancelled at or prior to such date;  

(B) Any Bonds (or portions of Bonds) the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of, 

and interest on which shall have been paid in accordance with the terms thereof;  

(C) Any Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been 

authenticated and delivered upon exchange or transfer pursuant to the 

Resolution;   

(D) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the Resolution; and 

(E) Put Bonds deemed tendered in accordance with the provisions of the 

Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Bonds on the applicable tender date, 

if the purchase price thereof and interest thereon shall have been paid or amounts 

are available for such payment as provided in the Resolution, except to the extent 

such tendered Put Bonds thereafter may be resold pursuant to the terms thereof 

and of the Resolution;  

unless a Supplemental Resolution provides that Bonds of a Series having the benefit of a Credit Facility shall 

not thereby be deemed paid if payment is provided by the Credit Facility. If principal of a Bond is paid or 

redeemed by the provider of a Credit Facility, the related Reimbursement Obligation shall be treated as an 

Outstanding Bond (when such related Reimbursement Obligation is not evidenced by Bonds designated as 

Bank Bonds) in lieu of the Bond so paid or redeemed, but only to the extent that principal of the Bond was 

so paid or redeemed, bearing interest at the interest rate provided in the Credit Facility. 

Owner or Bondowner Or any similar term when used with reference to Bonds, means any Person who shall be the registered owner 

of any Outstanding Bond. 

Paying Agent Any paying agent for the Bonds of any Series and its successor or successors and any other Person which 

may at any time be substituted in its place, pursuant to the Resolution. 

Person Any individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, 

trust, unincorporated association, limited liability corporation or partnership, or government or any agency 

or subdivision thereof, or other legal entity or group of entities. 

Principal Installment As of any date of calculation with respect to any Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (i) 

the principal amount of Bonds on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been 

established, or (ii) the unsatisfied balance of any Sinking Fund Installments due on a certain future date for 

Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be 

applicable upon redemption of such Bonds on such future date in a principal amount equal to said unsatisfied 

balance of such Sinking Fund Installments, or (iii) if such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such 

Series, the sum of such principal amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund 

Installments due on such future date plus such applicable redemption premiums, if any. 

Project A Project as such term is defined in the Financing Agreements.  In the Financing Agreement with each 

Board, “Project” is defined as buildings, structures, improvements and equipment of every kind, nature and 

description which may be required by or convenient for the purposes of an Institution or other things which 

the Board is authorized by law (at the relevant time) to undertake or use, in each case if and to the extent (i) 

capitalizable by the Board, including but not limited to a capital lease, and (ii) approved by the Authority 

upon application therefor made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by 

the Authority, all subject to any permissible amendment of the Financing Agreement.  See Appendix D – 

“Summary of Certain Provisions of the Financing Agreements – Amendment.”  Pursuant to legislation 

adopted at the 2005 session of the General Assembly, computer software (whether acquired before, at the 



 

C - 6 

 

same time as, or after the hardware needed for utilization of the software) to the extent accounted for as a 

capital asset shall constitute equipment for financing purposes, and projects may include agricultural land 

related to educational purposes of an Institution purchased from a governmental entity prior to October 1, 

2005. 

Project Cost All direct capital costs and indirect capital costs of Projects, including but not limited to costs of construction 

and acquisition, costs of issuance of Debt, funded interest on Debt, and amounts to fund or replenish reserves 

as may be required by the Resolution, if and to the extent approved by the Authority upon application therefor 

made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority. 

Put Bonds Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the Owner thereof for payment prior to 

the stated maturity or redemption date thereof either (i) by the Authority and by the Person and/or from the 

source specified in a Supplemental Resolution or (ii) without recourse to the Authority by the Person and/or 

from the source specified in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Qualified Swap To the extent from time to time permitted by law, any cap, floor or collar, forward rate, future rate, asset, 

swap or index, price or market linked transaction or agreement, other exchange or rate protection transaction 

or agreement, other similar transaction (however designated) or any combination thereof, or any option with 

respect thereto, executed by the Authority with or guaranteed by a qualified swap counterparty either for 

asset or liability management purposes or otherwise pursuant to the Act or other applicable law.  For purposes 

of this definition, "qualified swap counterparty" means a bank, insurance company or financial institution 

rated, or whose long-term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are rated, at the time of execution 

in one of the two highest Rating Categories of any Rating Agency. 

Rating Agency At any applicable time, Moody's, S&P, Fitch and any other nationally recognized rating agency, or any of 

them, as appropriate; provided, however, that the same maintains at such time a rating on the Bonds at the 

request of the Authority.  

Rating Category A generic rating category of an applicable Rating Agency without regard to any refinement or gradation of 

such rating by a numerical modifier or otherwise. 

Redemption Price With respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon 

maturity or redemption thereof pursuant to the Resolution and the Supplemental Resolution pursuant to 

which the same was issued. 

Refunding Bonds All Bonds constituting the whole or a part of a Series of Bonds delivered on original issuance pursuant to the 

Resolution. 

Registrar The registrar for the Bonds of any Series, and its successor or successors and any other Person which may at 

any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Reimbursement 

Obligation 

Any obligation of the Authority to make payments to a provider of a Credit Facility in reimbursement of or 

as interest on (which interest may be higher than the interest rate on the related Bond) an advance, loan or 

other payment made by such provider for the purpose of paying (i)  the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, 

if any, or Redemption Price of, or interest on, any Bonds, or (ii)  the purchase price, plus accrued interest, if 

any, of any Bonds tendered pursuant to the provisions of the applicable Supplemental Resolution, but only 

to the extent the principal amortization requirements with respect to such reimbursement are equal to the 

amortization requirements for such related Bonds, without acceleration. Reimbursement Obligations shall 

not include (a) any payments of any fees, expenses, or other similar obligations to any such provider, which 

payments shall be Administrative Expenses or (b) any payments pursuant to term-loan or other principal 

amortization requirements in reimbursement of any such advance that are more accelerated than the 

amortization requirements on such related Bonds, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations.  

Reimbursement Obligations may be evidenced by Bonds designated as Bank Bonds, which may bear a 

higher interest rate than the rate borne by the Bonds to which they relate. 



 

C - 7 

 

Reserve Fund Credit 

Facility 

(i) any irrevocable, unconditional letter of credit issued by a bank, national banking association or savings 

and loan association, (ii) any insurance policy providing substantially equivalent liquidity as an irrevocable, 

unconditional letter of credit, and which is issued by a municipal bond or other insurance company, and (iii) 

any other similar financial arrangement as determined by Supplemental Resolution, and which is used to 

fund all or a portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement; provided, however, that at the time of 

acceptance by the Authority, the provider's long term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are 

rated, by each Rating Agency then rating any Outstanding Bonds, no lower than the same Rating Category 

(for this purpose, taking into account refinements and gradations) as the Bonds are then rated by such Rating 

Agency. 

 

Revolving Credit 

Agreement 

The Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 1, 2024, by and between  the Authority and Bank of 

America N.A.  

Revolving Credit 

Loans 

Loans made from time to time under the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

Resolution The Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as from time to 

time amended or supplemented by Supplemental Resolutions in accordance with the terms and provisions 

thereof. 

S&P S&P Global Ratings or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Serial Bonds The Bonds which mature in annual or semi-annual installments of principal, which need not be equal and 

the first installment of which may be deferred, or Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series or 

Series of Bonds or 

Bonds of a Series or 

words of similar 

meaning 

The Series of Bonds authorized by a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series Certificate The certificate of determination of the Authority fixing terms, conditions and other details of a Series of 

Bonds in accordance with the delegation of power to do so under the General Bond Resolution and under an 

applicable Supplemental Resolution. 

Sinking Fund 

Installment 

As of any date of calculation and with respect to any Bonds of a Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are 

Outstanding, the amount of money required by the Resolution or the applicable Supplemental Resolution or 

Series Certificate to be paid on a single future date for the retirement of any Outstanding Bonds of said Series 

that mature after said future date and which is unsatisfied as determined pursuant to the Resolution, but does 

not include any amount payable by the Authority by reason only of the maturity of a Bond. 

Sinking Fund Payment 

Date 

Each date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable on the Bonds, provided that such date shall be a 

date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable as provided in or pursuant to each Supplemental 

Resolution. 

State The State of Tennessee. 

Subordinated 

Obligations 

Any evidence of indebtedness (including but not limited to commercial paper), other than Bonds or related 

Reimbursement Obligations, issued by the Authority to finance Project Costs of a Project or any other 

indebtedness issued, or other obligations entered into (including but not limited to Qualified Swaps not 

entered into on a parity with Bonds), pursuant to or as permitted by, and complying with, the provisions of 

the Resolution. 

Supplemental 

Resolution 

Any resolution adopted by the Authority pursuant to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution 

providing for the issuance of a Series of Bonds, and shall also mean any other resolution adopted pursuant 



 

C - 8 

 

to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions of the 

Resolution as originally adopted or as theretofore amended or supplemented. 

Term Bonds The Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution and payable in part from Sinking Fund Installments. 

Trustee The bank, trust company or national banking association appointed pursuant to the Resolution to act as trustee 

under the Resolution, and its successor or successors and any other bank, trust company or national banking 

association at any time substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Valuation Date With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds the date or dates set forth in the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Bonds on which specific Accreted Values are assigned to the Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

 

Variable Interest Rate A variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) to be borne by any Bond 

within a Series of Bonds.  The method of computing such variable interest rate or rates shall be specified in 

the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series of Bonds.  Such Supplemental Resolution shall also 

specify either (i) the particular period or periods of time for which such variable interest rate or rates (or a 

multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall remain in effect or (ii) the time or times upon which any 

change in such variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall become 

effective. 

Variable Interest Rate 

Bonds 

Bonds which bear a Variable Interest Rate but does not include any Bond which, during the remainder of the 

term thereof to maturity, bears interest at a fixed rate. 

 

 



 

D - 1 

 

APPENDIX D 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements, summaries of certain other 

provisions of which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be 

complete or definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Financing Agreements, copies of which are 

available at the offices of the Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - 

“Glossary of Certain Terms”; provided, however, that for purposes of this summary, the term "Resolution" means, collectively 

or individually as the context may require, the resolutions of the Authority authorizing the issuance of Debt including, with out 

limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution and any 

resolutions authorizing the issuance of notes or other obligations (including but not limited to commercial paper), in each 

case as amended and supplemented pursuant to the provisions thereof. 

 

Approval of Projects and Project Costs 

Each Project and Project Costs shall be subject to approval by the Authority upon application therefor made by the 

Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority.  

A Project for an Institution shall be approved by the Authority only if the aggregate of the Fees and Charges collected 

by the Institution in the preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregat e 

(without duplication) of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with 

respect to all Projects (including the Project to be approved) for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii) t he 

maximum amount payable by the Board as First Project Annual Financing Charges with respect to all First Program Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (iii)  the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, including but not limited 

to all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from the First Program Fees and Charges with respect to the 

Institution. 

 

Project Funding 

The Authority will use its best efforts to finance and refinance Project Costs by the issuance of Debt or from other 

available funds of the Authority, in a manner and under terms deemed by the Authority in its sole discretion to be in the bes t 

interests of the Institution for which the related Project is undertaken or used.   

 

Project Construction Accounts; Reallocation of Balances 

The Authority will establish a separate account (a "Project Construction Account") for each Project prior to or 

simultaneously with the issuance of the first Debt to finance related Project Costs.  All Bond proceeds determined by the 

Authority to be available for the payment of Project Costs, shall be deposited in the respective Project Construction Accounts 

unless and to the extent otherwise provided by the Resolution.   

The Authority may reallocate funds in any Project Construction Account derived from the sale of short -term Debt to 

other Project Construction Accounts as deemed necessary or advisable by the Authority.  If long -term Debt has been sold to 

finance or refinance a Project, and funds in the related Project Construction Account are determined by the Authority in its 

sole discretion to be in excess of the amount needed for completion of the Project, the Authority shall apply such excess fun ds 

to the payment of the next scheduled debt service on Debt for such Project, to the redemption or defeasance of such Debt, or 

otherwise as permitted by law to the extent permitted by the Resolution.  

 

Payment of Project Costs 

Disbursement of funds on deposit in Project Construction Accounts will be made upon the submission of proper 

documentation from the Board approved by the Authority.  Submission by the Board of a request for disbursement constitutes 

a representation by the Board that the expenses presented for payment constitute proper and valid charges related to the 

Project and constitute Project Costs, and that all covenants and representations made to the Authority with respect to the 

Project, whether in the Agreement or otherwise, continue to be true, complete and accurate. 

 



 

D - 2 

 

Covenants and Representations 

The Board covenants and represents with respect to each Project, among other things, that:  (a) all necessary approvals 

or authorizations by the State (or any agency, subdivision or subentity) with respect to the Project have been or will be 

obtained; (b) the Board will neither (i) permit any encumbrance which materially affects the Board's ability to honor its 

commitments under the Financing Agreement nor (ii)  assign the Financing Agreement or the Board's rights, title or interest 

in or to any Project; (c) the Board will operate, maintain and keep, or cause the operation, maintenance and functioning of, 

the Project in good repair and condition, including the provision of and payment for necessary utilities and insurance covera ge 

in accordance with State policy; (d) the Board will comply with all laws, rules and regulations governing the Institution and 

the Project; and (e) the Board will take no action, nor will it fail to take any action, which would cause the Authority to v iolate 

any tax covenant with respect to any Project. 

 

Annual Financing Charges; Administrative Fees; and Legislative Appropriations 

For a summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements relating to the establishment, payment and 

subordination of Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees and Legislative Appropriations, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement. 

 

Interest of Debtholders 

The Authority and the Board acknowledge that the existence and terms and provisions of the Agreement serve as an 

inducement to Debtholders to purchase, and serve to secure, Debt.  Accordingly, all covenants and agreements of the 

Authority and the Board under the Financing Agreement are declared therein to be for the benefit of such holders.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, such holders shall have no right under the Financing Agreement to directly enforce the 

Financing Agreement, but may do so only to the extent permitted and as provided by the related Resolution. 

 

Assignments 

The Board authorizes the Authority to pledge, assign, and transfer its right to receive and collect Annual Financing 

Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, together with its rights to enforce the Financing Agreement.  

The Authority has pledged and assigned the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations to the Trustee for the 

benefit of the holders of the Bonds and for the application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Resolution, and 

has granted the Trustee the legal right to enforce such pledge and assignment and the provisions of the Agreements providing 

for the payment thereof.  See "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Pledge and Assignment 

of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations" in the Official Statement. 

 

Amendment 

Any provision of the Financing Agreement may be amended by agreement of the Authority and the Board; provided, 

however, that no such amendment shall adversely affect or impair in any way (i)  the obligation of the Board to pay Annual 

Financing Charges or Administrative Fees, or (ii) the deduction from appropriations, and payment to the Authority, of 

Legislative Appropriations required to pay Annual Financing Charges, in the case of each of clauses  (i) and (ii) at the times, 

in the manner and in the amounts provided in the Agreement, or (iii) any provision of the Agreement made or provided for 

the purpose of assuring payment of such Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees.  

 

Additional Information 

The Board agrees to furnish to the Authority such additional information concerning the financial condition of the 

Board and any Institution as the Authority may from time to time reasonably request including, without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing, as and to the extent that the Authority shall determine that disclosure of such information is necessary in  

order to comply with any undertakings made by the Authority pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission or with any other applicable legal requirements. 

 

 



 

E - 1 

 

APPENDIX E 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Resolution, summaries of certain other provisions of 

which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be complete or 

definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Resolution, copies of which are available at the offices of the 

Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - “Glossary of Certain Terms.” 

 

Authorization 

The Resolution authorizes the issuance of Bonds in Series pursuant to Supplemental Resolutions, for any purpose 

authorized by the Act.  For a summary of the conditions for the issuance of Bonds and their security and sources of payment, 

see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement. 

 

Pledge and Assignment of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations  

The Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or 

otherwise to receive the same, which are to be transferred to the Funds or Accounts held by the Trustee, if any, are pledged 

and assigned to the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and for the application thereof in accordance with the  

provisions of the Resolution, and the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce such assignment.  Regardless of such pledge 

and assignment, the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce the provisions of the Agreements providing for the payment 

thereof in the manner provided in the Financing Agreements and the Resolution. 

The Authority shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the 

same, the Financing Agreements, and other moneys, securities, funds and property pledged and assigned under the Resolution 

and all the rights of the Bondowners under the Resolution against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever.   

 

Certain Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements  

The Authority may include such provisions in a Supplemental Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Series of 

Bonds secured by a Credit Facility as the Authority deems appropriate, including but not limited to:  

 

1. So long as the Credit Facility provides security and not merely liquidity, that the providers thereof shall 

have all or any of the rights and remedies of the Owners of the Bonds to which such Credit Facility relates 

and that the related Reimbursement Obligations shall have all or any of the payment, security and other 

rights applicable to the Bonds to which such Reimbursement Obligations relate.  

2. In the event that the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest due 

on any Bonds Outstanding shall be paid under the provisions of a Credit Facility, the issuer of such Credit 

Facility shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondowners in accordance with the terms of such Credit 

Facility. 

3. Interest on any Reimbursement Obligation calculated at any rate, whether or not higher than the interest rate 

on the related Bond, and principal amortization requirements with respect to such Reimbursement 

Obligation, may be secured by a pledge of and a lien on any of the items pledged in the Resolution for the 

security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the Resolution.  A Reimbursement Obligation shall 

not be secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund unless the Bonds to which it relates are so secured.  

Reimbursement Obligations shall not include any payments of any fees, expenses, indemnification, or other 

obligations to any such provider, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations payable from the 

General Fund.  All Reimbursement Obligations shall be deemed to be a part of the Series of Bonds to which 

the Credit Facility which gave rise to such Reimbursement Obligations relates.  Reimbursement Obligations 

may be evidenced by Bonds designated as "Bank Bonds." 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relatin g 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 



 

E - 2 

 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, however, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap. 

Funds and Accounts 

For a description of the flow of funds under the Resolution and of the application of the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Flow of Funds" and “- Debt 

Service Reserve Fund" in the Official Statement. 

 

Construction Fund 

The Authority shall establish in the Construction Fund, to be held by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the 

State Treasurer, a separate custodian, a separate Account with respect to each Project.  As promptly as practicable after the  

delivery of any Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations to pay Project Costs, the Authority shall deposit into each Project 

Construction Account the amount of the proceeds derived from the sale of such Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations, 

if any, as shall be directed by or pursuant to the Supplemental Resolution or other resolution or indenture authorizing the 

issuance thereof.  Moneys on deposit in or credited to a Project Construction Account shall be used by the Authority for 

payment of the Project Costs of the Project to which the Project Construction Account relates.  The Authority may transfer 

from a Project Construction Account to the General Fund such amounts as the Authority shall determine is necessary to pay 

Administrative Expenses of the Authority chargeable to the Project to which such Project Construction Account relates.  

Upon completion of a Project the moneys, if any, remaining in the Project Construction Account for such Project, 

after making provision for the payment of allocable Administrative Expenses and Project Costs then unpaid, either shall be 

reallocated by the Authority to other Projects in accordance with the Financing Agreements or shall be applied (or, if the 

Debt Service Fund is then held by the Trustee, transferred by the State Treasurer to the Trustee and applied by the Trustee) 

as directed by the Authority to the payment of principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or interest 

on Bonds issued for the related Project. 

 

Capitalized Interest Accounts 

The Supplemental Resolution authorizing any Series of Bonds may establish a separate Account within the Debt 

Service Fund for each Project.  Moneys in the Capitalized Interest Accounts shall be used, to the extent sufficient therefor,  

for the purpose of paying interest on the Series of Bonds in respect of which such moneys have been set aside, either directly 

therefrom or by transfer to the Debt Service Fund, prior to the payment of such interest from Annual Financing Charges.  

 

Investment of Funds and Accounts 

Moneys in all Funds and Accounts shall be invested in Investment Obligations, except as may be otherwise limited 

by Supplemental Resolution. 

Unexpended Bond proceeds and all Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, 

and investment earnings allocable thereto, held in Project Construction Accounts or in other Funds or Accounts, may be 

commingled for investment purposes either as a separate fund or as part of a common fund with other moneys of the Authority 

or the State, or otherwise; provided that (i) such investments and the income or interest earned, profits realized or losses 

suffered thereby shall be allocated and credited to the appropriate Funds or Accounts or otherwise in accordance with 

Authority and State policy, and (ii) all Funds and Accounts so commingled for investment purposes shall nevertheless be 

accounted for separately as required by the Resolution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, moneys on deposit with the State 

Treasurer (other than in connection with defeasance) may be invested at a rate or return fixed from time to time pursuant to 

State policy, without the necessity of allocating and credit ing any particular investment (but only an amount invested) and 

without regard to actual investment, income, interest, profits or losses.   

Except as otherwise provided in the Resolution, the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, shall sell at 

the best price obtainable by the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, through its ordinary and customary 

practices, or present for redemption or exchange, or as directed in writing by the Authority, any Investment Obligation held 



 

E - 3 

 

by it in any Fund or Account whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from 

the Fund or Account for which such investment was made. 

 

Certain Covenants of the Authority 

For a description of the agreement of the Authority on behalf of the State, pursuant to the Act, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Statutory Covenant" in the Official Statement. 

Creation of Liens.  Until the pledge created in the Resolution shall be discharged and satisfied as provided therein, 

the Authority shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, other than the Bonds (or any related 

Reimbursement Obligations) secured by a prior or equal pledge of the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, 

and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, or any moneys 

and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, and shall not create or cause to be created any lien 

or charge equal or prior to the Bonds (or any related Reimbursement Obligations) on Annual Financing Charges Legislative 

Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, 

in each such case except as permitted by the Resolution, or on any moneys and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund. 

Tax Exemption.  The Authority may include in the applicable Supplemental Resolution for any Series of Bonds any 

and all covenants necessary or appropriate to maintain the exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income 

taxation of interest on such Bonds.  See "TAX MATTERS" in the Official Statement.  The Authority may issue Bonds the 

interest on which is not intended to be excluded from gross income, and therefore may be taxable, for purposes of federal 

income taxation. 

Compliance with and Amendment of Financing Agreements.   The Authority will at all times comply with the 

covenants, terms and conditions of the Financing Agreements and shall take all steps, actions and proceedings as may be 

necessary in order to require compliance by the Boards with the covenants, terms and conditions thereof, the breach of which 

would in any way materially adversely affect or impair the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual Financing Charges and 

Legislative Appropriations at the times and in the manner and amounts provided in the Financing Agreements.  

The Authority will not amend any Financing Agreement in any manner that would materially adversely affect or 

impair the obligation of the applicable Board to pay Annual Financing Charges or Legislative Appropriations at such times, 

in such manner and in such amounts sufficient, together with other moneys available for the purpose, to pay the principal of 

and Sinking Fund Installments and interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due and payable, but reserves the right to 

amend the Financing Agreements in any other respect without the consent of any Fiduciary or any Bondowner.  

 

Supplemental Resolutions; Amendments 

The Authority may at any time or from time to time adopt Supplemental Resolutions without the consent of 

Bondowners and, except as may be agreed to in or in connection with any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, the provider of 

any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, for any one or more of the following purposes: (1) to authorize Bonds of a Series and, 

in connection therewith, specify and determine any matters and things relative to such Bonds which are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (2) to establish for any Series of Bonds a separate Account in the 

Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall be permitted to be applied solely to the payment of Bonds of such Series, provided 

that (i) the Bonds of such Series shall have no claim or lien on nor be payable from any other amounts in the Debt Service 

Reserve Fund, (ii) the Bonds of such Series shall be excluded from the calculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

for all other Outstanding Bonds, and (iii) the amount required to be on deposit in such separate Accounts shall be specified 

or calculated in a manner specified in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing the Bonds of such Series, but in no event shal l 

such amount, after giving effect to any Reserve Fund Credit Facility deposited in any such separate Account in the Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, be in excess of the amount that would otherwise be the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such 

Series of Bonds assuming that such Series of Bonds were the only Series of Bonds Outstanding under the Resolution; (3) to 

modify, amend or supplement the Resolution in any manner in order to obtain or provide for or with respect to a Credit 

Facility, Reserve Fund Credit Facility or Qualified Swap with respect to any Series of Bond s, so long as the Authority 

determines that such Supplemental Resolution does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners of Outstanding 

Bonds; (4) to add additional covenants and agreements of the Authority for the purpose of further securing  the payment of 

the Bonds, provided that such additional covenants and agreements are not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants and 

agreements of the Authority contained in the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (5) to add to the Resolution any provisions 

relating to the application of interest earnings in any Fund or Account required by law to preserve the exclusion from gross 

income for Federal income tax purposes of interest received on any Bonds then Outstanding or to be issued or the exempti on 



 

E - 4 

 

of interest received on such Bonds from State income taxation; (6) to modify or eliminate any Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement in excess of the minimum required therefor as provided in the definition thereof; (7) to modify, amend or 

supplement the Resolution in such manner as to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 

amended, or any similar Federal statute, or to permit the qualification of any Bonds for sale under the securities laws of an y 

of the states of the United States of America, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by 

said Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or similar Federal statute; (8) with the consent of the Trustee, (i) to cure an y 

ambiguity, or defect or inconsistent provision in the Resolution, or (ii) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions 

arising under the Resolution as are necessary or desirable in the event any such modifications are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; or to make any other modification or amendment of the Resolution 

which the Trustee shall in its sole discretion determine will not have a material adverse effect on the rights of Bondowners,  

provided that in making any such determination, the Trustee may conclusively rely upon a Counsel's Opinion or certificate 

of any Person deemed by the Trustee in its sole discretion to be reliable; (9) to comply with the requirements of any Rating 

Agency in order to maintain or improve a rating on the Bonds by such Rating Agency; or (10) to modify any of the provisions 

of the Resolution in any respect whatsoever, provided that such modification shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only  

after all Bonds Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such Supplemental Resolution either shall cease to be Outstanding 

or the Owners of the requisite percentage of the principal amount of such Bonds shall have consented thereto.  

Any modification or amendment of the Resolution and of the rights and obligations of the Authority and of the 

Owners of the Bonds under the Resolution, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Resolution, with the written 

consent (a) of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time such 

consent is given, or (b) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modificati on 

or amendment, of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected 

and Outstanding at the time such consent is given, or (c) in case the modification or amendment changes the amount or date 

of any Sinking Fund Installment, of the Owners of one hundred percent (100%) in principal amount of the Bonds of the 

particular Series, maturity and interest rate entitled to such Sinking Fund Installment Outstanding at the time such consent is 

given; provided, however, that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of 

any specified like Series and maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be required and 

such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds.  No such 

modification or amendment shall (a) permit a change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any 

Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest thereon or a reduction in the p rincipal amount or the Redemption Price 

thereof or in the rate of interest thereon without the consent of the Owner of such Bond, (b) permit the creation of any pled ge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance of or upon any of the items purported to be pledged pursuan t to the Resolution, which pledge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance would be prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge or source of payment for the Bonds created 

by the Resolution, without the consent of the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds affected by such change, or deprive any Owner 

of any Outstanding Bond of the benefit of such pledge or source of payment for the Bonds, without the consent of such 

Owner, except as permitted by the Resolution, (c) create, with respect to the pledge of the items set forth in the Resolution, a 

preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond without the consent of each Owner of a Bond affected by such change, 

or (d) reduce the percentages of the Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to waive an Event of Def ault or 

otherwise effect any such modification or amendment.  For such purposes, a Series shall be deemed to be affected by a 

modification or amendment of the Resolution if the same materially adversely affects the rights of the Owners of Bonds of 

such Series. The Trustee may in its discretion determine whether or not, in accordance with the foregoing provisions, Bonds 

of any particular Series or maturity would be affected by any modification or amendment of the Resolution and any such 

determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Authority and all Owners of Bonds.  The Trustee may receive an opinion 

of counsel, including a Counsel's Opinion, as conclusive evidence as to whether Bonds of any particular Series or maturity 

would be so affected by any such modification or amendment of the Resolution.  

Notwithstanding anything in the Resolution to the contrary, the consent of Owners of any Series of additional Bonds 

to be issued under the Resolution shall be deemed given if the underwriters or initial purchasers for resale thereof consent in 

writing to any modification or amendment; provided, however, that such modification, amendment and consent are disclosed 

in the official statement or other offering document pursuant to which such Series of additional Bonds is offered and sold to  

the public. 

For purposes of amendments to the Resolution, but only so long as the Credit Facility provider has not defaulted on 

its obligations under the Credit Facility, (i) the provider of a Credit Facility shall be considered the sole Owner of all Bo nds 

to which such Credit Facility relates, except as otherwise provided in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, and (ii) any 

amendment provision of the Resolution may be waived by such provider with respect to its consent to any amendment, by an 

instrument in writing filed with the Authority and the Trustee. 



 

E - 5 

 

The Authority shall furnish written notice to each Rating Agency of any amendment, change or modification of the 

Resolution.   

 

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is an "Event of Default": (1) the Authority shall default in the payment of the principal, 

Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or interest on any Bond when and as the same shall become due, 

whether at maturity or upon call for mandatory redemption or otherwise, which default shall continue for a period of thirty 

(30) days; (2) the pledge created in the Resolution shall, at any time and for any reason, cease to be in full force and effe ct or 

a judgment or order of any court of competent jurisdiction, or of any arbitrator or panel of arbitrators, as to which all appeals 

have been exhausted, shall be rendered which shall declare the pledge to be null and void, or shall declare that the pledge 

does not establish in any material respect the lien it purports to establish, or that the pledge is not for the exclusive benefit of 

the Owners of the Bonds, except as provided in or permitted by the Resolution; (3) the Authority shall fail or refuse to comp ly 

with the provisions of the Act as then in effect, or shall default in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants, 

agreements or conditions on its part contained in the Resolution, any Supplemental Resolution, or in the Bonds, and such 

failure, refusal or default shall continue for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice thereof (specifying such default 

and requiring that such notice is a "Notice of Default" under the Resolution) is given to the Authority by the Trustee or to the 

Authority and the Trustee by the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding 

Bonds; however, in the event that the default be such that it cannot be corrected within such ninety (90) day period, it shal l 

not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Authority within such period and diligently pursued 

(as determined by the Trustee) until the default is corrected; (4) a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree 

or order providing for relief in respect of the Authority or either Board in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, 

custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any substantial part of its property, 

or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of its affairs and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a 

period of ninety (90) days; or (5) the Authority or either Board shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent to the entry of an orde r 

for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, 

liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any sub stantial 

part of its property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its debts 

as they become due or shall take any action in furtherance of the foregoing.    

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in the Resolution shall preclude the Authority from seeking and obtaining 

from the General Assembly a change in law, to limit, modify, rescind, repeal or otherwise alter the character of the pledged 

items or to substitute like or different sources of fees, charges, appropriations or other receipts as pledged revenues if and 

when adequate provisions shall be made by law for the protection of the Owners of Outstanding Bonds pursuant to the 

proceedings under which the Bonds are issued, including changing or altering the method of establishing fees, charges and 

appropriations as contemplated by the Act.  The Authority (or the Trustee at the request of the Authority) shall mail to the 

Bondowners notice of any such change or alteration pursuant to such proviso.  The Authority shall file with the Trustee, or 

the Trustee shall retain on file, proof of their respective mailing of such notice to Bondowners.  Such change or alteration 

shall be deemed conclusively binding upon the Authority, each Fiduciary and the Owners of all Bonds at the expiration of 

thirty (30) days after the filing with the Trustee of the proof of the mailing of notice referred to above, except in the eve nt of 

a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction setting aside such change or alteration in a legal action or equitable 

proceeding for such purpose commenced within such thirty (30) day period.  

 

Remedies 

Upon the happening and continuance of (i) any Event of Default specified in clause (1), (4) or (5) of the first 

paragraph under "Events of Default" above, the Trustee shall proceed, and (ii) any other Event of Default, the Trustee may 

proceed, and upon the written request of the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the 

Outstanding Bonds or if the Event of Default arises from the failure of the Authority to duly and punctually perform the tax 

covenants contained in the Resolution, twenty-five per centum (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series affected thereby, shall proceed, in its own name, to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Bondowners b y 

such of the following remedies, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce 

such rights:  (1) by suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, enforce all right s of 

the Bondowners, including the right to require the Authority to enforce the Agreements and collect the Annual Financing 

Charges and Legislative Appropriations payable thereunder, or to carry out any other covenant or agreement with Bondowners 



 

E - 6 

 

under the Resolution and to perform its duties under the Act, the Agreements and the Resolution; (2) bring suit upon the 

Bonds; (3) by action or suit, require the Authority to account as if it were the trustee of an express trust for the Owners o f the 

Bonds; (4) by action or suit, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Owners of 

the Bonds; or (5) in accordance with the provisions of the Act, declare all Bonds due and payable, and if all defaults shall be 

made good, then, with the written consent of the Owners of not less than twenty-five percentum (25%) in principal amount 

of the Outstanding Bonds, to annul such declaration and consequences, but no such annulment shall extend to or effect any 

subsequent default or impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

All remedies conferred upon or reserved to the Owners of Bonds under the Resolution may be conferred upon and 

reserved in lieu thereof to the provider of a related Credit Facility authorized by a Supplemental Resolution.  Nothing herei n 

shall preclude the Authority from providing in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, or in any Credit Facility authorized 

thereby, that the exercise of any remedy under the Resolution or the waiver of any Event of Default under the Resolution by 

the Trustee or the Owner of any such Bond shall be subject to the prior written consent of the provider of any related Credit 

Facility.   

No Owner of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action, or other proceeding under the Resolution, or 

for the protection or enforcement of any right under the Resolution or any right under law unless such Owner shall have given  

to the Trustee written notice of the event of default or breach of duty on account of which such suit, action or proceeding i s 

to be taken, and unless the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then 

Outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the 

case may be, shall have occurred, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise 

the powers herein granted or granted under the law or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its name and unless, also, 

there shall have been offered to the Trustee reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to  be 

incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable 

time. 

In the case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, 

adjustment, composition or other judicial proceeding relating to the Authority, the Board or any Institution, or any property  

of the Authority, the Board or any Institution, the Trustee (whether or not the principal of the Bonds shall then be due and 

payable by acceleration or otherwise, and whether or not the Trustee shall have made any demand upon the Authority for the 

payment of overdue principal and interest) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or other 

means (1) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal, Redemption Price, if any, and interest owing and 

unpaid in respect of the Bonds then Outstanding and to file such other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable 

in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and 

advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and of the Owners allowed in such proceeding; and (2) to collect and receive 

any moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same.  

Prior to the declaration of maturity of the Bonds as provided in the Resolution, the Owners of not less than a majority 

in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding, or their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, may on behalf 

of the Owners of all of the Bonds waive any past default under the Resolution and its consequences, except a default in the 

payment of interest on or principal of or premium, if any, on any of the Bonds.  No such waiver shall extend to any subsequen t 

or other default or impair any right consequent thereon. 

The Trustee shall promptly mail to the Bondowners notice of each Event of Default under the Resolution known to 

the Trustee within fifteen (15) Business Days after knowledge of the occurrence thereof, unless such Event of Default shall 

have been remedied or cured before the giving of such notice; provided, however, that, except in the case of default in the  

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, if any, or Redemption Price, if any, of or interest on any of the Bonds, 

or in the making of any payment required to be made into the Debt Service Fund or the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the 

Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee, or a  

trust committee of directors or responsible officers of the Trustee in good faith determines that the withholding of such notice 

is in the interests of the Bondowners. 

 



 

E - 7 

 

Defeasance 

Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys shall have been set aside and shall be 

held in trust by the Fiduciaries at the maturity or redemption date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the 

meaning and with the effect of the Resolution, subject to an election of the Authority to the contrary.  Any Outstanding Bonds 

of any Series shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and 

with the effect, but subject to such election, of the Resolution if (a) in case any of said Bonds are to be redeemed on any date 

prior to their maturity, the Authority shall have given to the Registrar instructions accepted in writing by the Registrar to  give 

notice of redemption, as provided in the Resolution, on said date of such Bonds (other than Bonds which have been purchased 

by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired by the Authority and delivered to a 

Paying Agent as hereinafter provided prior to the mailing of such notice of redemption), (b) there shall have been deposited 

with any Paying Agent either (i) moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or (ii) Defeasance Obligations the principal 

of and the interest on which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with such 

Paying Agent at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and 

interest due and to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may 

be, and (c) in the event said Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, 

the Authority shall have given the Registrar in form satisfactory to it instructions to mail, as soon as practicable, a notice to 

the Owners of such Bonds, at their last addresses appearing upon the registry books at any time (but not more than fifteen 

(15) days) prior to such mailing, that the deposit required by (b) above has been made with a Paying Agent and that said 

Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which 

moneys are expected to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of said Bonds (other 

than Bonds which have been purchased by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired 

by the Authority and delivered to a Paying Agent prior to the mailing of the not ice of redemption referred to in clause (a) 

hereof).  Such Paying Agent shall, as and to the extent necessary, apply moneys held by it pursuant to this Section to the 

retirement of Bonds in amounts equal to the unsatisfied balances (determined as provided in Section 604) of any Sinking 

Fund Installments with respect to such Bonds, all in the manner provided in the Resolution.  

Unclaimed Moneys 

Any moneys held by a Fiduciary in trust for the payment and discharge of the principal or Redemption Price of or 

interest on any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for three years (or such other period as may at the time be prescribed 

by the laws of the State) after the date when such principal, Redemption Price or interest, respectively, became due and 

payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Fiduciary a t 

such date, or for three years (or such other period as may be prescribed by the laws of the State) after the date of deposit of 

such moneys if deposited with the Fiduciary after the said date when such principal, Redemption Price or interest, 

respectively, became due and payable, shall, at the written request of the Authority, be repaid by the Fiduciary to the 

Authority, as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon be released and discharged with 

respect thereto and the Bondowners shall look only to the Authority for the payment of such Bonds.   

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 

 



 

F - 1 

 

APPENDIX F 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the Offered 

Bonds.  The Offered Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's 

partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully -registered 

bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of each series of the Offered Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of 

such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 

Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve 

System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” 

registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset 

servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 

market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also 

facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities , 

through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the 

need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non -U.S. securities brokers 

and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations .  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 

Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned 

by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non -U.S. 

securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial 

relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has  a Standard & Poor’s 

rating of AA+. 

The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Comm Ission. More 

information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of the Offered Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will 

receive a credit for the Offered Bonds on DTC's records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Offered 

Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participant s' records.  Beneficial Owners will 

not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written 

confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect 

Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Offered 

Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 

Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Offered Bonds, except 

in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Offered Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Offered Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the 

name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 

DTC.  The deposit of the Offered Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC 

nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 

Offered Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Offered Bonds are 

credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 

keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.  

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 

Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements 

among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of 

the Offered Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with 

respect to the Offered Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Offered Bond 

documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the Offered Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Offered 

Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owner s 

may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to the m. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Offered Bonds of a maturity of a series are being 

redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity of such 

series to be redeemed. 



 

F - 2 

 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Offered Bonds 

unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails 

an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co ’'s 

consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Offered Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, payments on the Offered Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or 

such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 

Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Authority or any Paying 

Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to 

Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for 

the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and 

not of DTC or the Authority or any Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 

from time to time.  Payment of principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 

may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Authority or any Paying Agent, 

disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments 

to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Offered Bonds at any time by giving 

reasonable notice to the Authority or any Paying Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository 

is not obtained, Offered Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor 

securities depository).  In that event, Offered Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

THE FOREGOING INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM HAS 

BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE AUTHORITY BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, BUT THE AUTHORITY 

TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF.  NONE OF THE AUTHORITY, TRUSTEE, 

REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT OR INITIAL PURCHASERS CAN MAKE ANY ASSURANCE THAT DTC OR THE DTC 

PARTICIPANTS WILL ACT IN A MANNER DESCRIBED HEREIN, NOR WILL THEY HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY 

OR OBLIGATION TO THE DTC PARTICIPANTS OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS FOR (1) SENDING TRANSACTION 

STATEMENTS; (2) MAINTAINING, SUPERVISING OR REVIEWING, OR THE ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS 

MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (3) PAYMENT OR THE TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC 

ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT 

TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT TO THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PREMIUM IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON OFFERED BONDS; (4) DELIVERY OR 

TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY NOTICE 

(INCLUDING NOTICE OF REDEMPTION) OR OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH 

IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS TO BE GIVEN TO 

BONDHOLDERS; (5) THE SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT 

OF ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF OFFERED BONDS; OR (6) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS NOMINEE 

AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE OFFERED BONDS. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owners of the Offered Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references in the Official 

Statement to the Bondholders or registered owners of the Offered Bonds (other than under the caption “TAX MATTERS” in 

the Official Statement) shall mean Cede & Co. or any other DTC nominee, as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial 

Owners of the Offered Bonds. 

 

 

 



 

G - 1 

 

APPENDIX G 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF  

THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.  This summary 

does not purport to be complete or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking, copies of which are available at the offices of the Authority.  For definitions of certain terms used but not 

defined herein, see Appendix C–-“"GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS.” 

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the"Undertaking") with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 15c2-12 (the 

“Rule”).  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide the Annual Financial Information described below with 

respect to each fiscal year of the Authority, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025, by no later than 7 months 

after the end of the respective fiscal year, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB"). 

“Annual Financial Information" means updated versions of the following financial information and operating data 

contained in the Official Statement relating to the Offered Bonds with respect to the Authority, for each fiscal year of the 

Authority: 

• Outstanding Second Program Bonds (see “THE AUTHORITY – Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority”) 

• Authorized and Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 

BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans”) 

• Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System financial information and operating data and Higher Education Employer 

Contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION – Employee Retirement Benefits”) 

• Other Post-Employment Benefits unfunded liabilities and annual required contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – Other Post-Employment Benefits”) 

• Appendix B – Selected Statistical Information 

 

The descriptions contained above are of general categories or types of financial information and operating data.  

When such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated because the operations to which it related have 

been materially changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect will be provided in lieu of such  information. 

Annual Financial Information also includes the annual financial statements of the Authority, audited by such auditors 

as shall then be required or permitted by State law “Audited Financial Statement”), if available, or unaudited financial 

statements.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not 

available, the Authority will provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to th e MSRB.  Audited Financial 

Statements will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as prescribed 

by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or any successor to the duties 

and responsibilities of either of them “"GAAP"). 

Annual Financial Information also will include the annual financial statements of the State, including component 

unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the 

State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, in each case 

audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law, if available.  If not provided as part of Annua l 

Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not available, the Authority will provide such audited 

financial statements, when and if available, to the MSRB.  Such audited financial statements will be prepared in accordance 

with GAAP. 

In the Undertaking, the Authority also agrees to provide, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after 

the occurrence of the event, notice of each of the following events with respect to the Offered Bonds, to the MSRB:  

 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 



 

G - 2 

 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, 

Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the 

tax status of the Offered Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Offered Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of Offered Bondholders, if material; 

(viii) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Offered Bonds, if material; 

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Authority; 

(Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause (xii) above, the event is considered to 

occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the 

Authority in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law 

in which a court or government authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business 

of the Authority, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or 

officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry 

of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority 

having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Authority.) 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Authority or the sale of all or 

substantially all of the assets of the Authority, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a 

definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such 

actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material 

(xv) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution, if material, or agreement to covenants, 

events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of 

such Institution, as the case may be, any of which affect holders of Offered Bonds, if material; and 

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of 

a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

For the purposes of clauses (xv) and (xvi) above, “Financial Obligation” means:  (A)  debt obligation; (B) derivative 

instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation; or (C) guarantee of (A) or (B) above, but does not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 

has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.  

The Authority will also provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the Authority to provide the Annual 

Financial Information by the date specified above to the MSRB. 

Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be 

provided to the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet Web address of which 

is www.emma.msrb.org. 

All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided in an electronic format as prescribed 

by the MSRB (currently, portable document format (pdf) which must be word-searchable except for non-textual elements) 

and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 



 

G - 3 

 

The Undertaking will be effective upon the issuance of the Offered Bonds and will terminate upon the legal 

defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Offered Bonds.  The Undertaking, or any provision thereof, shal l 

be null and void in the event that the Authority (i) receives an opinion of counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule 

which require the Undertaking, or such provision, as the case may be, do not or no longer apply to the Offered Bonds, whether  

because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (ii) 

delivers copies of such opinion to the MSRB.  The Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the 

Offered Bonds in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal (including regulatory) 

requirements, a change in law (including rules and regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, n ature 

or status of the Authority or the type of business conducted thereby, or if an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or 

modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, which is applicable to the Undertaking, in each case subject to certa in 

additional requirements, all as described in the Undertaking.  Copies of any such amendment are required to be delivered to 

the MSRB. 

The provisions of the Undertaking shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from 

time to time of the Offered Bonds, except that beneficial owners of Offered Bonds shall be third -party beneficiaries of the 

Undertaking and shall be deemed to be holders of Offered Bonds for purposes of the next sentence.  The obligations of the 

Authority to comply with the provisions of the Undertaking are enforceable by any holder of outstanding Offered Bonds; the 

holder’' rights to enforce the provisions of the Undertaking are limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific 

performance, to compel performance of the Authority's obligations under the Undertaking.  Any failure by the Authority to 

perform in accordance with the Undertaking will not constitute a default or an event of default under the resolutions 

authorizing the Offered Bonds or State law and shall not result in any acceleration of payment of the Offered Bonds, and the 

rights and remedies provided by such resolutions and applicable State law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event 

of default shall not apply to any such failure. 

The Undertaking shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State, and any suits and actions 

arising out of the Undertaking shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that  to 

the extent the Undertaking addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, the Undertaking shall be construed 

in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof.  

 

 

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 



 

H - 1 

APPENDIX H 

FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

 

[Closing Date] 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

Nashville, Tennessee 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2025 SERIES A, $___________* 

2025 SERIES B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE), $__________* 

 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

At your request, we have examined into the validity of $ ___________* principal amount of Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series A (the “2025A Bonds”) and $___________* principal amount of Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable)(the “2025B Bonds” and, collectively with 

the 2025A Bonds, the “2025 Bonds”) of the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”), a corporate agency 

and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee (the “State”). 

The 2025 Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act (Section 49-3-

1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated) as amended to date (the “Act”), the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 

General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended to date (the “General Resolution”) and a 

Supplemental Resolution of the Authority adopted on March 24, 2025 (the “Supplemental Resolution” and, collectively with 

the General Resolution, the “Resolution”). 

We have examined the Constitution and laws of the State; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing 

the issuance of the 2025 Bonds, including the Resolution; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement by and 

between the Authority and the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”) dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement 

by and between the Authority and the Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State 

of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents” and, together with the Board of Trustees, the “Boards”) dated as of November 1, 1997, 

as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing the execution and 

delivery of said Second Program Financing Agreements (collectively, the “Second Program Financing Agreements”); such 

other instruments, documents, certificates and proceedings, and applicable law, as we have considered appropriate for 

purposes of this opinion; and a specimen 2025 Bond. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority has the right and power under the Act to adopt the Resolution and the Resolution has been 

duly and lawfully adopted by the Authority, is in full force and effect, is valid and binding upon the Authority 

and is enforceable against the Authority in accordance with its terms.  The Resolution creates the valid 

pledge which it purports to create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each 

is defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the Second Program Financing Agreements or otherwise 

to receive the same, and moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  

  

* Preliminary; subject to change 
 

 

 



 

H - 2 

2. The 2025 Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the laws of the State, 

including the Constitution of the State and the Act, and in accordance with the Resolution, and are entitled 

to the benefits of the Resolution and of the Act.  The 2025 Bonds are valid and binding obligations of the 

Authority as provided in the Resolution, and are enforceable against the Authority in accordance with their 

terms and the terms of the Resolution, payable solely from the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative 

Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purpose and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Authority reserves 

the right to issue additional bonds on the terms and conditions, and for the purposes, provided in the General 

Resolution, on a parity of payment and security with the 2025 Bonds; provided, however, that as permitted 

by the General Resolution, certain series of bonds issued thereunder may not be payable from or secured by 

the Debt Service Reserve Fund on the same basis as others, and may not have any amount made available 

under the Resolution as a debt service reserve therefor (which initially is the case with the 2025 Bonds).  

The Authority has no taxing power, the State is not liable on the 2025 Bonds and the 2025 Bonds are not a 

debt of the State. 

3. The Second Program Financing Agreements have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 

Authority and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitute 

valid contractual obligations of the Authority.  You have received opinions of counsel to the Board of 

Regents and counsel to the Board of Trustees to the effect that the respective Second Program Financing 

Agreements have been duly executed and delivered by the respective Boards and constitute valid contractual 

obligations thereof, and we express no opinion herein with respect thereto.  The State has not waived the 

immunity of the State (including, for this purpose, the Authority and the Boards) from suit or extended its 

consent to be sued with respect to the Second Program Financing Agreements.  Accordingly, monetary 

actions against the State (including the Authority and the Boards) for breach of contractual obligations 

relating to the Financing Agreements may be heard and determined under current law exclu sively in the 

Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, where liability may be limited to actual damages 

and certain costs. 

4. Under the existing laws of the State, the 2025A Bonds and income therefrom are free from taxation by the 

State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State, except for estate and gift taxes and 

taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of privilege tax es imposed pursuant 

to the laws of the State. 

5. Under existing statutes and court decisions, (i) interest on the 2025A Bonds is excluded from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Interal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

to the date hereof (the “Code”), and (ii) interest on the 2025A Bonds is not treated as a preference item in 

calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code, however, interest on the 2025A Bonds is 

included in the “adjusted financial statement income” of certain corporations that are subject to the 

alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code.  In rendering the opinion in this paragraph 5, we 

have relied upon and assumed (i) the material accuracy of the representations, statements of in tention and 

reasonable expectations, and certifications of fact, contained in certifications delivered on the date hereof 

by the Authority, the Boards and others with respect to the use of proceeds of the 2025A Bonds and the 

investment of certain funds, and other matters affecting the exclusion of interest on the 2025A Bonds from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code, and (ii) compliance by the 

Authority and the Boards with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the 

Code to assure the exclusion of the interest on the 2025A Bonds from gross income under section 103 of the 

Code.  

6. Interest on the 2025B Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The opinions expressed in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above are subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore or hereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and are subject to the 

application of principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 

enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 

We express no opinion herein as to (i) federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the 2025 Bonds, 

or the ownership or disposition thereof, except as stated in paragraphs 4, 5 and 6 above, (ii) federal, state or local tax matters 

to the extent affected by any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of counsel other than ourselves, 

or (iii) the accuracy, adequacy, sufficiency or completeness of the Official Statement (or any update or amendment thereof 



 

H - 3 

or supplement thereto) of the Authority relating to the 2025 Bonds, or any other financial or other information which has 

been or may be supplied to purchasers or prospective purchasers of the 2025 Bonds. 

This letter is rendered solely with regard to the matters expressly opined on above and does not consider or extend 

to any documents, agreements, representations or other material of any kind not specifically opined on above.  No other 

opinions are intended nor should they be inferred. 

This letter is issued as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update, revise or supplement this letter to 

reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or 

changes in law or in interpretations thereof, that may hereafter occur, or for any other reason. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF SALE 

Dated [March 26], 2025 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

 

$AAA,000,000* 2025 Series A 

$BB,000,000* 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

 

Electronic Bids, as Described Herein 

Will Be Accepted Until 

 

9:30 a.m. Central Time** 

for the 2025 Series A Bonds 

 

and 

 

10:00 a.m. Central Time** 

for the 2025 Series B Bonds 

 

 

on [April 2], 2025** 

 

 

 

 

 

 
* Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 
** Subject to change before the sale date and time as provided herein. 

 

 



 

 

CONTACTS 

 

Issuer 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority  

Sandra Thompson (615) 747-5369 

Director, Division of State Government Finance Sandi.thompson@cot.tn.gov 

Cordell Hull State Office Building, 4th Floor  

425 Rep. John Lewis Way North  

Nashville, TN 37243-1402  

  

Jacqueline Felland (615) 747-5373 

Senior Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance jacqueline.felland@cot.tn.gov 

Cordell Hull State Office Building, 4th Floor  

425 Rep. John Lewis Way North  

Nashville, TN 37243-1402  

  

Bond Counsel to the Issuer 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP  

Steven I. Turner (212) 820-9462 

Prior to April 1, 2025 Effective April 1, 2025 sturner@hawkins.com 

7 World Trade Center 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor  

250 Greenwich Street New York, NY 10005  

New York, NY 10005   

  

Financial Advisor 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC  

Lauren Lowe (901) 466-4554 

530 Oak Court Drive, Suite 160 lowel@pfm.com 

Memphis, TN  38117-3722  

  

BiDCOMP™/PARITY® 

Customer Service (212) 849-5021 

  

i-Deal Prospectus 

Customer Service (800) 248-3580 

  

 



 

1 
 

NOTICE OF SALE 

Dated [March 26], 2025 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

$AAA,000,000* 2025 SeriesA 

$BB,000,000* 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronic bids will be received at the place, on the date and 

until the respective times specified below for the purchase of (i) all, but not less than all, of the 

$AAA,000,000* Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series A (the “2025A 

Bonds”), and/or (ii) separately, all, but not less than all, of the $BB,000,000* Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2025B Bonds” and, together 

with the 2025A Bonds, the “Offered Bonds”), to be issued by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

(the “Authority”). 

DATE: [Wednesday], [April 2], 2025** 

TIME: 2025A Bonds:  9:30 a.m. Central Time** 

2025B Bonds:  10:00 a.m. Central Time** 

ELECTRONIC BIDS: May be submitted only through PARITY as described below. 

No other form of bid or provider of electronic bidding services will be 

accepted. 

The Offered Bonds are more particularly described below and in the Preliminary Official 

Statement dated [March 26], 2025 relating to the Offered Bonds (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), 

available at the i-Deal Prospectus website, www.i-dealprospectus.com.  For assistance in obtaining the 

Preliminary Official Statement from this website, contact i-Deal Prospectus' customer service or PFM 

Financial Advisors LLC.  See the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale. 

Prior to the sale date and times, the Authority reserves the right to change the aggregate or annual 

principal amounts of the Offered Bonds or the terms of the Offered Bonds, and to postpone the sale to a 

later date or time or to cancel the sale.  Notice of a change, postponement or cancellation will be 

announced via Thomson Municipal News at the website address www.tm3.com not later than 8:00 A.M., 

Central Time, on the day of the bid opening or, in the case of a cancellation, at any time prior to the 

receipt of bids.  If the sale is postponed, a later public sale may be held on such date and at such time as 

shall be announced at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance via Thomson Municipal News at the website 

address www.tm3.com.  Consideration of the bids and the award of the Offered Bonds will be completed 

within six (6) hours after the bids are received.  The Authority also reserves the right to adjust the 

principal amount of the Offered Bonds and to cancel the sale of the Offered Bonds after the bids are 

opened as further described herein under “ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER 

AWARD”. 

[Bidding Parameters Tables follow] 

_____________________ 
*
  Subject to change both before and after award as provided herein. 

** Subject to change before the sale date and time as provided herein. 

http://www.i-dealprospectus.com/


 

2 
 

$AAA,000,000** 2025A BONDS 
BIDDING PARAMETERS TABLE* 

Description 
Page 
No. Description 

Page 
No. 

DATES 
Dated Date: Delivery Date 
Delivery Date: On or about April [2], 

2025 

INTEREST 
Interest Payment Dates: May 1 and November 1 
First Interest Payment: November 1, 2025 
Coupon Multiples: 1/8 or 1/20 of 1% 
Maximum Coupon: N.A. 
Minimum Coupon: 5.00% on and after 

November 1, 2035 
Maximum TIC: 5.50% 

PRINCIPAL 
Adjustments-Increases:  
   Each Maturity: N.A. 
   Aggregate: + 20% 
Adjustments-Decreases:  
   Each Maturity: N.A.  
   Aggregate: - 20% 
Term Bonds: One or more on or after 

November 1, 2035 
(sinking fund 
installments must equal 
amortization) 

 
4 
 

11 

 
4 
4 
8 
8 
 

8 

8 
 
 

9 
9 
 

9 
9 
 
 
 
 

4 

REDEMPTION 
Optional: On or after November 

1, 2034 at 100% 
Mandatory: Each sinking fund 

installment date for 
term bonds at 100% 

PRICING 
Max. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: N.A. 
   Aggregate: 120.0% 
Min. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: 98.5% 
   Aggregate: 100.0% 

PROCEDURAL 
Bid Submission: PARITY® only 
All or None?: Yes 
Bid Award Method: Lowest TIC 
Bid Confirmation: Emailed signed 

PARITY® screen 
Award of Bid: Within 6 hours 
Good Faith Deposit: $[GF-A].00 

 
 

4 
 
 

4 

 
 

8 
8 
 

8 
8 

 
1, 7 
8 
8 
 

7 
1, 8 
9 

PRINCIPAL MATURITIES 

 
Year 

(November 1) 
Principal 
Amount**  

Year 
(November 1) 

Principal 
Amount**  

 2026 NC $  ,000  2041 T $  ,000  

 2027 NC ,000  2042 T ,000  

 2028 NC ,000  2043 T ,000  

 2029 NC ,000  2044 T ,000  

 2030 NC ,000  2045 T ,000  

 2031 NC ,000  2046 T ,000  

 2032 NC ,000  2047 T ,000  

 2033 NC ,000  2048 T ,000  

 2034 NC ,000  2049 T ,000  

 2035 T ,000  2050 T ,000  

 2036 T ,000  2051 T ,000  

 2037 T ,000  2052 T ,000  

 2038 T ,000  2053 T ,000  

 2039 T ,000  2054 T ,000  

 2040 T ,000  2055 T ,000  

       
 NC: Non-callable. 

 
T: May be designated as sinking fund installments for term maturity or maturities. 

* If numerical (excluding page numbers) or date references contained in the body of this Notice of Sale conflict with 
the Bidding Parameters Table, the body of this Notice of Sale shall control.  Consult the body of this Notice of Sale 
for a detailed explanation of the items contained on the Bidding Parameters Table, including interpretation of such 
items and methodologies used to determine such items. 

** Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 



 

3 
 

$BB,000,000** 2025B BONDS 
BIDDING PARAMETERS TABLE*  

Description 
Page 
No. Description 

Page 
No. 

DATES 
Dated Date: Delivery Date 
Delivery Date: On or about April [2], 

2025 

INTEREST 
Interest Payment Dates: May 1 and November 1 
First Interest Payment: November 1, 2025 
Coupon Multiples: 1/8 or 1/20 or 1/100 of 

1% 
Maximum Coupon: N.A. 
Minimum Coupon: N.A. 
Maximum TIC: 6.50% 

PRINCIPAL 
Adjustments-Increases:  
   Each Maturity: N.A.  
   Aggregate: + 20% 
Adjustments-Decreases:  
   Each Maturity: N.A.]  
   Aggregate: - 20% 
Term Bonds: Permitted (sinking fund 

installments must equal 
amortization) 

 
4 
 

11 

 
4 
4 
 

8 
8 
8 
8 
 
 

9 
9 
 

9 
9 
 
 

4 

REDEMPTION 
Optional: On or after November 

1, 2034 at 100%, 
Prior to November 1, 
2034, at the Make-
Whole Redemption 
Price 

Mandatory: Each sinking fund 
installment date for 
term bonds at 100% 

PRICING 
Max. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: N.A. 
   Aggregate: 120.0% 
Min. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: 99.75% 
   Aggregate: 99.00% 

PROCEDURAL 
Bid Submission: PARITY® only 
All or None?: Yes 
Bid Award Method: Lowest TIC 
Bid Confirmation: Fax signed PARITY® 

screen 
Award of Bid: Within 6 hours 
Good Faith Deposit: $[GF-B].00 

 
 

4 
 
 

4 
 
 

8 
8 

 
8 
8 
 

1,7 
8 
8 
 

7 
1,8 
9 

PRINCIPAL MATURITIES 

 
Year 

(November 1) 
Principal 
Amount**  

Year 
(November 1) 

Principal 
Amount**  

 2026  $,000  2036 $,000  

 2027  ,000  2037 ,000  

 2028  ,000  2038 ,000  

 2029  ,000  2039 ,000  

 2030  ,000  2040 ,000  

 2031 ,000  2041 ,000  

 2032 ,000  2042 ,000  

 2033 ,000  2043 ,000  

 2034   2044   

 2035      

       

 
T: May be designated as sinking fund installments for term maturity or maturities. 

* If numerical (excluding page numbers) or date references contained in the body of this Notice of Sale conflict with 
the Bidding Parameters Table, the body of this Notice of Sale shall control.  Consult the body of this Notice of Sale 
for a detailed explanation of the items contained on the Bidding Parameters Table, including interpretation of such 
items and methodologies used to determine such items. 

** Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 



 

4 
 

THE OFFERED BONDS 

General 

The Offered Bonds will be dated as of the Dated Date shown on the respective Bidding 

Parameters Table, will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, and will bear 

interest from their date at the annual rate or rates specified by the winning bidder, subject to the 

limitations specified below, payable as shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table.  Interest 

payable on the Offered Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve (12) 30-day 

months.  The Offered Bonds must meet the criteria shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table on 

a maturity and aggregate basis. 

The Offered Bonds will mature on the month and day, in the years and in the principal amounts 

shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table as either serial bonds or as term bonds with sinking 

fund installments as described under “Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” 

below, subject to change before the sale date and time as provided above and after award as provided in 

“ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below. 

Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption 

Bidders for the 2025A Bonds or the 2025B Bonds may, at their option, combine consecutive 

principal amounts payable on or after the date indicated on the respective Bidding Parameters Table as 

maturities that may be designated as sinking fund installments for one or more term bonds bearing interest 

at the same rate.  Each such term bond will be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption commencing 

on the principal payment date of the first year which has been combined to form such term bond and 

continuing on the principal payment date in each year thereafter until the stated maturity date of such term 

bond, which will be the last year combined to form such term bond.  The amount redeemed in any year 

will be equal to the principal amount for such year as set forth in the amortization schedule for the 

Offered Bonds shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table, subject to change before the sale date 

and time as provided above and after award as provided in “ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND 

MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below.  Offered Bonds to be redeemed in any year by mandatory sinking 

fund redemption will be redeemed at par and will be selected from among the Offered Bonds of the same 

series and maturity, by lot in the case of the 2025A Bonds and pro rata in the case of the 2025B Bonds. 

Optional Redemption 

2025A Bonds.  The 2025A Bonds maturing on or before November 1, 2034 will not be subject to 

optional redemption prior to their respective maturity dates.  The 2025A Bonds maturing on or after 

November 1, 2035 may be redeemed prior to their respective maturity dates at the option of the Authority 

on and after November 1, 2034, in whole or in part at any time at the redemption price of 100% of the 

principal amount of the 2025A Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with accrued interest 

thereon to the redemption date.  The 2025A Bonds which are designated to be term bonds as described in 

“Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” above shall be subject to mandatory 

sinking fund redemption as described therein. 

2025B Bonds.   

The 2025B Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2035 may be redeemed prior to their 

respective maturity dates at the option of the Authority on and after November 1, 2034, in whole or in 

part at any time at the redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the 2025B Bonds or portions 

thereof to be redeemed, together with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date. 



 

5 
 

Prior to November 1, 2034, the 2025B Bonds may be redeemed prior to their respective maturity 

dates, at the option of the Authority, in whole or in part (on a pro rata basis with respect to the 2025B 

Bonds to be redeemed), at any time, at a Make-Whole Redemption Price equal to the greater of: 

(i) 100% of the principal amount of such 2025B Bonds to be redeeemed or  

(ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and 

interest on the 2025B Bonds to be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date 

fixed for redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a semiannual basis 

(assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate 

(defined below) plus 10 basis points plus, accrued and unpaid interest on the 2025B 

Bonds being redeemed to the date fixed for redemption 

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2025B Bond, the 

yield to maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity 

(as compiled and published in the Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become 

publicly available at least two Business Days, but not more than 45 calendar days, prior to the redemption 

date (excluding inflation indexed securities (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any 

publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption 

date to the maturity date of the 2025B Bond to be redeemed; provided, however, that if the period from 

the redemption date to such maturity date is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually 

traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.  

The redemption price of such 2025B Bonds to be redeemed will be determined by an independent 

accounting firm, investment banking firm or financial advisor retained by the Authority to calculate such 

redemption price.  The Authority may conclusively rely on the determination of such redemption price by 

such independent accounting firm, investment banking firm or financial advisor and will not be liable for 

such reliance. 

The 2025B Bonds which are designated to be term bonds as described in “Designation of Term 

Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” above shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund 

redemption as described therein. 

AUTHORITY AND SECURITY 

The Offered Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, as 

amended, Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated; the Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended July 

26, 2004, and May 9, 2013, and a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Authority on March 24, 2025 

(such General Bond Resolution as amended and supplemented from time to time, including by such 

Supplemental Resolution, the "Resolution"). 

The Offered Bonds will be special obligations of the Authority payable from and secured by a 

pledge of and a lien on Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations payable to the 

Authority by the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents 

of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee pursuant to separate 

Second Program Financing Agreements, and other moneys held or set aside under the Resolution, subject 

to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted thereby.  The Authority may 

issue additional bonds on a parity of payment and security with the Offered Bonds.  The Authority has 

no taxing power, the State of Tennessee is not liable on the Offered Bonds and the Offered Bonds 



 

6 
 

are not a debt of the State of Tennessee.  For a fuller description of the security and sources of payment 

for the Offered Bonds, see the Preliminary Official Statement. 

FORM AND PAYMENT 

The Offered Bonds will be issued in fully registered book-entry only form, and a bond certificate 

for each maturity of each series will be issued to The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), registered in 

the name of its nominee, Cede & Co., and immobilized in its custody.  A book-entry system will be 

employed to evidence ownership of the Offered Bonds, with transfers of ownership effected on the 

records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures adopted by DTC and its participants.  

Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Offered Bonds will be payable by the Authority to DTC 

or its nominee as registered owner of the Offered Bonds.  Transfer of principal, premium, if any, and 

interest payments to the beneficial owners by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of such 

participants and other nominees of beneficial owners.  The Authority will not be responsible or liable for 

payments by DTC to its participants or by DTC participants to beneficial owners or for maintaining, 

supervising or reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants or persons acting through such 

participants.  Beneficial owners will be entitled to receive Offered Bond certificates only under the 

limited circumstances described in the Preliminary Official Statement. 

BIDDING PROCEDURE; CONFIRMATION OF BID 

Only electronic bids submitted via PARITY will be accepted.  No other provider of electronic 

bidding services will be accepted.  No bid delivered in person or by facsimile directly to the Authority 

will be accepted.  Bidders are permitted to submit bids for (i) the 2025A Bonds, and/or (ii) separately, the 

2025B Bonds during the respective bidding time period, provided they are eligible to bid as described 

under “ELIGIBILITY TO BID”. 

Each electronic bid submitted via PARITY for the purchase of Offered Bonds shall be deemed 

an offer to purchase such Offered Bonds in response to this Notice of Sale and shall be binding upon the 

bidder as if made by a signed, sealed bid delivered to the Authority.  Once the bids are released 

electronically via PARITY to the Authority, each bid will constitute an IRREVOCABLE offer to 

purchase the Offered Bonds on the terms therein provided.  The winning bidder must confirm the details 

of such bid by a signed PARITY Bid Form delivered by fax to (615) 741-5986 no later than one hour 

after being notified by the Authority of being the winning bidder, the original of which must be received 

by the Director of Division of State Government Finance on the following business day at the address 

shown on the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale.  Failure to deliver this confirmation does not relieve 

the winning bidder of its obligation to complete the purchase of the Offered Bonds bid for. 

ELECTRONIC BIDDING  

The use of PARITY electronic bidding shall be at the bidder's risk and expense, and the 

Authority shall have no liability with respect thereto.  The Authority is using electronic bidding as a 

communications medium and PARITY is not acting as the Authority's agent. 

If any provisions of this Notice of Sale conflict with information provided by PARITY, this 

Notice of Sale shall control.  The Authority is not bound by any advice or determination of PARITY as 

to whether any bid complies with the terms of this Notice of Sale.  The time as maintained by PARITY 

shall constitute the official time with respect to all bids submitted. 

By submitting a bid for Offered Bonds, a prospective bidder represents and warrants to the 

Authority that such bidder’s bid for the purchase of such Offered Bonds is submitted for and on behalf of 



 

7 
 

such prospective bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind the prospective bidder to a 

legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of such Offered Bonds.   

ELIGIBILITY TO BID  

The Authority does not have a registration requirement for prospective bidders.  However, 

bidders submitting electronic bids must be contracted customers of the BiDCOMP™ Competitive 

Bidding System and should promptly contact PARITY directly for information about PARITY and 

BiDCOMP™, including such rules and fees, and becoming a contracted customer (see the Contacts page 

of this Notice of Sale).  By contracting with BiDCOMP™, a prospective bidder is not obligated to submit 

a bid in connection with the sale. 

ESTABLISHED INDUSTRY REPUTATION REQUIRED OF BIDDERS  

By submitting a bid for the Offered Bonds, each bidder certifies it has an established 

industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds.  The Authority will not 

accept bids for the Offered Bonds from firms without an established industry reputation for underwriting 

new issuances of municipal bonds.  

CONTENTS OF BID, INTEREST RATES, BID PRICES AND REOFFERING PRICES 

Bidders may bid (i) for the 2025A Bonds, and/or (ii) by separate bid, for the 2025B Bonds.  

Bidders must bid for all maturities of any Offered Bonds of a series bid for.  Each bid must specify (1) an 

annual rate of interest for each maturity of the 2025A Bonds or 2025B Bonds bid for, (2) the reoffering 

price or yield of each such maturity and (3) a dollar purchase price for all of the Offered Bonds of a series 

bid for. 

Each bid for a series of the Offered Bonds must meet the criteria shown on the respective Bidding 

Parameters Table.  Any number of interest rates may be named but Offered Bonds of the same series and 

maturity must bear interest at the same single rate. 

As promptly as reasonably possible after bids for the respective Offered Bonds are received, the 

Authority will notify the winning bidder for such Offered Bonds that it is the apparent winning bidder.  

Upon such notice, such bidder must confirm to the Authority the initial reoffering prices and 

Underwriter’s discounts by maturity for the Offered Bonds bid for.  Reoffering prices must meet the 

criteria shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table.  The initial reoffering prices and 

Underwriter’s discount for each maturity confirmed to the Authority will be used by the Authority to 

calculate the final annual principal amounts and will be included in the final Official Statement.  See 

“ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below.  The Authority will not 

include an “NRO” (“not reoffered”) designation with respect to any maturity of the Offered Bonds. 

Reoffering prices of the 2025A Bonds also must be confirmed as described under 

“ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE FOR 2025A BONDS” below. 

Each winning bidder (a “Purchaser”) will be responsible to the Authority in all respects for the 

accuracy and completeness of information provided by such Purchaser with respect to such reoffering.   

AWARD 

The Authority expects to award the 2025A Bonds and the 2025B Bonds to the respective winning 

bidders within six (6) hours of the respective bid opening.  Bids may not be withdrawn prior to the award.  



 

8 
 

Unless all bids for the 2025A Bonds or the 2025B Bonds are rejected, the respective Offered Bonds will 

be awarded to the bidder therefor whose bid complies with this Notice of Sale and results in the lowest 

true interest cost (“TIC”) to the Authority.  The TIC (expressed as an annual rate) will be determined for 

each of the 2025A Bonds and the 2025B Bonds as being twice the semi-annual discount rate, 

compounded semi-annually, which, when applied against principal of and interest on the respective 

Offered Bonds as due, will equal the sum of such discounted payments to the aggregate purchase price for 

such Offered Bonds, as provided by the respective bidder on the PARITY® Bid Form.  The TIC shall be 

calculated from the Dated Date of the Offered Bonds, which for this purpose shall be the Delivery Date 

specified on the Bidding Parameters Tables.  If two or more bidders offer to purchase the 2025A Bonds or 

the 2025B Bonds at the same lowest TIC (rounded to six (6) places after the decimal point), such Offered 

Bonds may be apportioned between such bidders if it is agreeable to each of such bidders, and if 

apportionment is not acceptable to such bidders, the Authority reserves the right to award such Offered 

Bonds to one of such bidders.  There will be no auction. 

ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD 

The aggregate principal amount of the Offered Bonds of each series, and the principal amount of 

each maturity thereof, are subject to adjustment by the Authority after the award of such Offered Bonds to 

the respective winning bidder.  Changes to be made after the award will be communicated to the winning 

bidder therefor directly by 10:00 a.m., Central Time, on the day following the sale. 

The Authority may increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the 2025A Bonds or 

the 2025B Bonds, or the aggregate principal amount of any maturity thereof, by no more than the 

individual maturity or aggregate principal percentages shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table 

from the respective amounts bid on.  The Authority will consult with the winning bidder for the 

respective Offered Bonds before adjusting the amount of any maturity of such Offered Bonds; however, 

the Authority reserves the sole right to make adjustments within the limits described above. 

Adjustments within the limits described above will not relieve the Purchasers from their 

obligation to purchase all of the respective Offered Bonds, assuming all other conditions of this Notice of 

Sale have been satisfied by the Authority. 

In the event that the principal amount of any maturity of the 2025A Bonds or the 2025B Bonds is 

revised after the award, the interest rate and reoffering price for each maturity and the Underwriter's 

Discount on the 2025A Bonds or the 2025B Bonds, as the case may be, shall be held constant.  The 

“Underwriter's Discount” for each series of the Offered Bonds shall be the difference between the dollar 

purchase price submitted by the bidder for the purchase of all of the Offered Bonds of such series, and the 

total dollar price at which all of the Offered Bonds of each series will be offered to the public, calculated 

from information provided by the bidder, divided by the number of such Offered Bonds.  (The number of 

Offered Bonds equals the par amount of Offered Bonds divided by 1,000.) 

RIGHT OF REJECTION 

The Authority reserves the right, in its discretion, to reject any and all bids and to waive any 

irregularity or informality in any bid. 

RIGHT OF CANCELLATION 

The winning bidder for any Offered Bonds will have the right, at its option, to cancel its 

obligation to purchase if the Authority fails to deliver such Offered Bonds within 60 days from the date of 



 

9 
 

sale, and, in such event, the winning bidder will be entitled to the return of an amount equal to the good 

faith deposit but without any additional liability to the Authority. 

GOOD FAITH DEPOSITS  

The winning bidder for the 2025A Bonds and for the 2025B Bonds is required to submit the good 

faith amount shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table (the “Good Faith Amount”) to the 

Authority in the form of a wire transfer in federal funds, as instructed by the Authority’s Financial 

Advisor, not later than two hours after the verbal award is made.  If such wire transfer deposit is not 

received by the Authority by that time, the bid of such apparent winning bidder may be rejected and the 

Authority may direct the next lowest bidder(s) for the respective Offered Bonds to submit a good faith 

deposit and thereafter may award the sale of such Offered Bonds to them.  The cover bidder shall hold its 

bid constant until two hours after the initial verbal award is made or, if earlier, the time the apparent 

winning bidder’s good faith deposit is received, as advised by the Authority’s Financial Advisor.   

In the event that the original apparent winning bidder does not comply with the good faith deposit 

requirements and another bidder complies with the good faith deposit requirements as described herein, or 

in the event no bidder complies with the good faith deposit requirements as described herein, the original 

apparent winning bidder is obligated to promptly pay to the Authority, as liquidated damages for its 

failure to timely comply with the terms of this Notice of Sale and of its bid, an amount equal to the greater 

of (i) the difference between the true interest cost of the original apparent winning bidder and of the 

ultimate winning bidder, or (ii) the Good Faith Amount, plus in each case reasonable attorney’s fees and 

expenses.  Submission of a bid to purchase Offered Bonds shall constitute acknowledgement and 

acceptance of the terms of the good faith deposit requirements, including liquidated damages, as 

provided herein. 

The good faith deposits so wired will be deposited and held by the Authority until the delivery of 

the respective Offered Bonds, at which time each good faith deposit will be applied against the purchase 

price of the respective Offered Bonds or such good faith deposit will be retained by the Authority as 

partial liquidated damages in the event of the failure of the winning bidder to take up and pay for such 

Offered Bonds in compliance with the terms of the Notice of Sale and of its bid.  No interest on the good 

faith deposits will be paid by the Authority.  The balance of the purchase price must be wired in federal 

funds, to the account specified by or on behalf of the Authority, simultaneously with delivery of Offered 

Bonds. 

ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE FOR 2025A BONDS 

If the Authority receives at least three (3) bona fide bids for the 2025A Bonds, the issue price of 

the 2025A Bonds shall be established pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(2)(iii) based on 

the reasonably expected initial offering price to the public as of the sale date.  The Purchaser of the 2025A 

Bonds agrees to execute the Issue Price Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit A not later than 2:00 P.M., 

Central Time, on the business day prior to the date of delivery of the 2025A Bonds (by delivery of 

manually signed hard copy, or by electronic transmission confirmed with manually signed hard copy 

delivered the following day), with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary in the 

reasonable judgment of the Authority or Bond Counsel.  The Purchaser of the 2025A Bonds agrees to 

take such actions, both before and after the award of the 2025A Bonds, as shall be necessary to enable it 

to satisfy the requirements of such Issue Price Certificate.  

If the Authority does not receive at least three (3) bona fide bids for the 2025A Bonds, the issue 

price of the 2025A Bonds shall be established pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(2)(ii) 

(the “hold-the-price” rule).  The Purchaser of the 2025A Bonds agrees to execute the Issue Price 



 

10 
 

Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit B not later than 2:00 P.M., Central Time, on the business day prior 

to the date of delivery of the 2025A Bonds (by delivery of manually signed hard copy, or by electronic 

transmission confirmed with manually signed hard copy delivered the following day), with such 

modifications as may be appropriate or necessary in the reasonable judgment of the Authority or Bond 

Counsel.  The Purchaser of the 2025A Bonds agrees to take such actions, both before and after the award 

of the Bonds, as shall be necessary to enable it to satisfy the requirements of such Issue Price Certificate.  

In either event, the Purchaser of the 2025A Bonds also will be required to provide to the 

Authority and Bond Counsel such additional information as may be requested by Bond Counsel.   

ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF PURCHASERS 

Each Purchaser agrees to make a bona fide public offering of all of the Offered Bonds bid for and 

represents that it shall reoffer such Bonds in compliance with all applicable securities laws of the 

jurisdictions in which such Bonds are offered.  

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The Preliminary Official Statement comprises the “deemed final” Official Statement for purposes 

of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission and, when amended to reflect, among other 

things, the actual amount of the Offered Bonds sold, the interest rates specified by the winning bidders 

and the prices or yields at which the winning bidders will reoffer the Offered Bonds to the public, will 

constitute a “Final Official Statement” (as defined in Rule 15c2-12) with respect to the Offered Bonds.  

No more than seven business days after the date of the sale, the Authority will provide without cost to the 

winning bidder for the Offered Bonds of each series up to 25 copies of the final Official Statement.  If any 

Offered Bonds are awarded to a syndicate, the Authority will deliver final Official Statements only to the 

entity submitting the successful bid, which shall be responsible for distributing copies of the final Official 

Statement among the participating underwriters. 

The Authority will deliver to the Purchasers of the Offered Bonds certificates of the Authority, 

dated the date of delivery of the Offered Bonds, stating that as of the sale date and at the time the Offered 

Bonds are delivered, (i) the information and statements, including financial statements, of or pertaining to 

the Authority contained in the Official Statement were and are correct in all material respects; (ii) insofar 

as the Authority and its affairs, including its financial affairs, are concerned, the Official Statement did 

not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to 

be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) insofar as the descriptions and statements, including 

financial data, of or pertaining to other governmental bodies, nongovernmental bodies, and their 

respective activities contained in the Official Statement are concerned, such descriptions, statements, and 

data have been obtained from sources believed by the Authority to be reliable, and the Authority has no 

reason to believe that they are untrue or incomplete in any material respect. 

DELIVERY AND PAYMENT 

Delivery of the Offered Bonds will be made by the Authority to DTC in book-entry only form on 

or about the Delivery Date shown on the Bidding Parameters Tables, or on such other date agreed upon 

by the Authority and the respective winning bidder.  Payment for Offered Bonds must be made in Federal 

Funds or other funds immediately available to the Authority at the time of delivery of such Offered 

Bonds.  Any expenses incurred in providing immediate funds, whether by transfer of Federal Funds or 

otherwise, will be borne by the Purchaser.  The cost of printing the Offered Bonds, if any, will be borne 

by the Authority. 



 

11 
 

CUSIP NUMBERS 

It is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be printed on the Offered Bonds, but neither failure to 

print such numbers on any Offered Bond nor any error with respect thereto will constitute cause for a 

failure or refusal by the Purchasers thereof to accept delivery of and pay for the respective Offered Bonds.  

The policies of the CUSIP Service Bureau will govern the assignment of specific numbers to the Offered 

Bonds.  The Authority’s Financial Advisor will timely apply for CUSIP numbers with respect to the 

Offered Bonds as required by MSRB Rule G-34 but the respective Purchasers shall be responsible for the 

payment of the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of said numbers.  All expenses in 

relation to the printing of CUSIP numbers on the Offered Bonds will be paid for by the Authority. 

BLUE SKY 

The Authority has not taken any action relating to the requirements of the securities or “blue sky” 

laws of any jurisdiction with respect to the offer and sale of the Offered Bonds.  Certain jurisdictions may 

have filing requirements which must be satisfied prior to any offer or sale of the Offered Bonds. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

In order to assist bidders in complying with Rule 15c2-12, the Authority will execute and deliver 

a written Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to provide annual financial information, operating data and 

notices of certain events.  A description of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is set forth in the 

Preliminary Official Statement and will be set forth in the final Official Statement.  Execution and 

delivery of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking will be a condition precedent to the obligation of the 

winning bidder to take up and pay for the Offered Bonds. 

LEGAL OPINION 

The legal opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York, with respect to the 

Offered Bonds will be furnished in reasonable quantity to the winning bidders for the Offered Bonds 

without cost to such winning bidders.  For the proposed form of such opinion, see the Preliminary Official 

Statement. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information may be obtained from either the Division of State Government Finance of 

the State or the Authority’s Financial Advisor.  See the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale. 

 TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND 
AUTHORITY 

  
 
 
By:  Jason E. Mumpower 

 Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of 
Tennessee and Secretary of the Tennessee 
State School Bond Authority 



EXHIBIT A 

 

$___________ 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2025 SERIES A 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

April __, 2025 

[NAME OF PURCHASER], as the winning bidder (the “Original Purchaser”), in connection 

with the competitive sale by the Tennessee State School Board Authority (the “Authority”) of its 

$________ aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2025 

Series A (the “Bonds”), pursuant to the Notice of Sale dated [March 26], 2025, published on [March 26], 

2025, hereby certifies as follows: 

1. The Original Purchaser reasonably expected on the date the sale of the Bonds was 

awarded to it (the “Sale Date”) to reoffer the Bonds to the Public at the prices and/or yields set forth in 

ATTACHMENT I hereto.   

2. Attached hereto as ATTACHMENT II is a copy of the bid provided by the Original 

Purchaser to purchase the Bonds. 

3. The Original Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to 

submitting its bid. 

4. The bid submitted by the Original Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the 

Bonds. 

5. For purposes of this certificate, the following definitions will apply: 

“Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, 

company or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party, as defined below, to an 

Underwriters;  

“Underwriter” means (i) the Original Purchaser, (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

contract to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (iii) any person that agrees 

pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with the Original Purchaser or a person 

described in clause (ii) of this definition to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 

Public, including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement 

participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public;  

 “Related Party” means any entity if an Underwriter and such entity are subject, directly or 

indirectly, to (i) more than 50 percent common ownership of the voting power or the total value 

of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of 

another), (ii) more than 50 percent common ownership of their capital interests or profit interests, 

if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or 

(iii) more than 50 percent common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 

corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity 

is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable 

stock or interests by one entity of the other);  



 

A-2 
 

We understand that the representations contained herein may be relied upon by the Authority in 

making certain of the representations contained in the Tax Certificate, and we further understand that 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, as bond counsel to the Authority, may rely upon this certificate, among 

other things, in providing an opinion with respect to the exclusion from gross income of interest on the 

Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The 

undersigned is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof.  Nothing herein represents the 

undersigned’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the regulations under the Code, or the application 

of any laws to these facts.  The certifications contained herein are not necessarily based on personal 

knowledge, but may instead be based on either inquiry deemed adequate by the undersigned or 

institutional knowledge (or both) regarding the matters set forth herein.  Although certain information 

furnished in this Certificate has been derived from other Underwriters who may be considered Related 

Parties to the Original Purchaser and cannot be independently verified by us, we have no reason to believe 

it to be untrue in any material respect. 

Very truly yours, 

[NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER] 

By:   

Name:  

Title:  

 



 

 

ATTACHMENT I 

REOFFERING PRICES AND YIELDS OF MATURITIES TO THE PUBLIC 

[List Maturities, Prices and Yields] 



 

 

ATTACHMENT II 

COPY OF WINNING BID 

 



EXHIBIT B 

 

 

$___________ 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2025 SERIES A 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

April __, 2025 

[NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER], as the original purchaser (the “Original 

Purchaser”) of the $________ aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second 

Program Bonds, 2025 Series A (the “Bonds”) issued by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the 

“Authority”), hereby certifies that: 

(i) as of April [2], 2025 (the “Sale Date”), all of each Maturity, as defined below, of 

the Bonds has been the subject of a bona fide offering to the Public, as defined 

below, at the prices (the “Initial Offering Price”) shown on the final pricing 

wire in respect of the Bonds dated (the “Final Pricing Wire”) attached hereto as 

Schedule A; 

(ii) as of the Sale Date, except for the Maturities [PLEASE IDENTIFY 

UNSOLD/UNDERSOLD MATURITIES] (the “Unsold Maturities”), shown 

on Schedule B attached hereto, the price at which the first 10 percent of each 

Maturity of the Bonds was sold by the Underwriters (which includes the Original 

Purchaser) to the Public is set forth on such Schedule B;  

(iii) following the Sale Date, with respect to each Unsold Maturity, the Underwriters, 

as defined below, in compliance with the applicable provisions described in the 

Notice of Sale, dated [March 26], 2025, relating to the Bonds (the “Notice of 

Sale”), have neither offered nor sold the Bonds comprising any such Unsold 

Maturity to the Public at a price that is higher or yield lower than the Initial 

Offering Price during the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the 

earlier of the following: (a) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date, 

or (b) the date on which at least 10 percent of the bonds of the Unsold Maturity 

has been sold to the Public at or below the Initial Offering Price.   

For purposes of this certificate the following definitions apply: 

 “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related 

Party, as defined below, to an Underwriter;  

 “Underwriter” means (i) the “Original Purchaser”, (ii) any person that agrees 

pursuant to a written contract to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 

Public, and (iii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or 

indirectly with the Original Purchaser or a person described in clause (ii) of this 

definition to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, including a 

member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement 

participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public; 

“Related Party” means any entity if an Underwriter and such entity are subject, 

directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50 percent common ownership of the 



 

B-2 
 

voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 

(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50 

percent common ownership of their capital interests or profit interests, if both 

entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of 

another), or (iii) more than 50 percent common ownership of the value of the 

outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of 

the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is 

a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by 

one entity of the other);  

“Maturity” shall refer to Bonds with the same maturity date, interest rate and 

credit terms. 

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

B-3 
 

We understand that the representations contained herein may be relied upon by the 

Authority in making certain of the representations contained in the Tax Certificate, and we further 

understand that Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, as bond counsel to the Authority, may rely upon this 

certificate, among other things, in providing an opinion with respect to the exclusion from gross income 

of interest on the Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”).  The undersigned is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof. Nothing herein 

represents the undersigned’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the regulations under the Code, or 

the application of any laws to these facts.  The certifications contained herein are not necessarily based on 

personal knowledge, but may instead be based on either inquiry deemed adequate by the undersigned or 

institutional knowledge (or both) regarding the matters set forth herein.  Although certain information 

furnished in this Certificate has been derived from other Underwriters and cannot be independently 

verified by us, we have no reason to believe it to be untrue in any material respect. 

Very truly yours, 

[NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER] 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

 

 



 

 

 

SCHEDULE A 

FINAL PRICING WIRE 

 

 



 

 
 

SCHEDULE B 

MATURITIES ACTUALLY SOLD AS OF THE SALE DATE 

 

[List Maturity and Sale Price] 

 

AND 

 

UNSOLD MATURITIES 

 

[List Maturity] 

 



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 
 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS, 
$713,365,000 2021 SERIES A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 
 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

February 9, 2021 
 
 
Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
Nashville, Tennessee 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

Jefferies LLC (the “Representative”), on behalf of itself and the other underwriters listed in 
Appendix I attached hereto (collectively, the “Underwriters”), hereby offers to enter into this Bond 
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the 
“Issuer”) for the purchase by the Underwriters and the sale by the Issuer of the Issuer’s bonds captioned 
above and specified below.  This offer is made subject to acceptance thereof by the Issuer by 11:59 p.m., 
prevailing time in Nashville, Tennessee, on the date hereof, and, upon such acceptance, evidenced by the 
signature of a duly authorized officer of the Issuer in the space provided below, this Purchase Agreement 
shall be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon the Issuer and the 
Underwriters. 

Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the 
Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Issuer on 
April 27, 1998 (the “General Bond Resolution”) authorizing the issuance thereunder from time to time 
of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, a Supplemental Resolution Amending General 
Bond Resolution adopted by the Issuer on July 26, 2004 (the “2004 Amending Resolution”), a 
Supplemental Resolution Amending General Bond Resolution and Authorizing Amendment of Financing 
Agreements adopted by the Issuer on May 9, 2013 (the “2013 Amending Resolution”), and a 
Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Issuer on January 25, 2021, including as a part thereof the 2021 
Bonds Series Certificate (the “Supplemental Resolution”, and together with the General Bond 
Resolution, the 2004 Amending Resolution and the 2013 Amending Resolution, as further amended and 
supplemented from time to time, the “Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of the Issuer’s Higher 
Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable) (the “Bonds”). 

A. Purchase Price. 

1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations and warranties 
herein set forth, the Underwriters hereby agree to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer 
hereby agrees to sell to the Underwriters, all (but not less than all) of the Issuer’s Bonds, 
in the original aggregate principal amount of $713,365,000.00, at an aggregate purchase 
price of $712,891,869.03 (the “Purchase Price”), representing the aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds, less underwriters’ discount of $473,130.97. The Bonds shall be 
dated the date of delivery (the “Dated Date”) and shall mature on the dates, bear interest 
payable commencing on November 1, 2021, at the rates and be subject to optional and 



2 
 

mandatory redemption prior to maturity all as set forth in the Official Statement 
(hereinafter defined) and in part on Appendix II attached hereto. The Bonds shall be 
payable at the times and in the manner, and shall otherwise have the terms and 
provisions, set forth in the Official Statement. 

2. If the Issuer accepts this offer and if the Underwriters fail (other than for a reason 
permitted hereunder) to accept and pay for all or any of the Bonds upon tender thereof by 
the Issuer at the Closing as herein provided, the parties hereby agree that the damages to 
the Issuer shall be fixed at one percent (1%) of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds, and, upon such failure of the Underwriters to accept and pay for the Bonds, the 
Underwriters shall be obligated to pay to the Issuer such amount as and for full liquidated 
damages for such failure and for any and all defaults hereunder on the part of the 
Underwriters. Upon such payment, the Underwriters shall be fully released and 
discharged of all claims, rights and damages for such failure and for any and all such 
defaults. The Underwriters and the Issuer understand that in such event the actual 
damages of the Issuer may be greater or may be less than the amount fixed for liquidated 
damages.  Accordingly, the Underwriters hereby waive any right to claim that the actual 
damages of the Issuer are less than such sum, and the acceptance of this offer by the 
Issuer shall constitute a waiver of any right the Issuer may have to additional damages 
from the Underwriters.  In no event shall the Issuer be entitled to damages of any nature 
other than the liquidated damages herein specified. 

B. Delivery of and Payment for the Bonds. 

1. At or prior to 11:30 a.m., prevailing time in Nashville, Tennessee on February 24, 2021, 
the date of delivery and payment for the Bonds (the “Closing Date”), or at such other 
time or date as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the 
Representative, the Issuer will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Representative, the 
Bonds, qualified for book-entry delivery through The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”) in New York, New York, or at the offices of Regions Bank, Nashville, 
Tennessee (the “Paying Agent” and “Trustee”) pursuant to the DTC “FAST Program” 
in definitive form, duly executed by officers of the Issuer designated in the Resolution 
and authenticated by the Trustee, together with the other documents hereinafter 
mentioned; and, subject to the conditions contained herein, the Representative will accept 
such delivery and pay the Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds 
payable to the order of the Issuer. 

2. The Issuer and the Representative agree that there shall be a preliminary closing held at 
the Division of State Government Finance of the State of Tennessee, 425 Rep. John 
Lewis Way, N., 4th Floor, Nashville, Tennessee, commencing at least eighteen (18) hours 
prior to the Closing Date, or at such other time or place as the Issuer and the 
Representative shall agree. 

3. Delivery of the definitive Bonds shall be made as aforesaid, or at such other location as 
may be designated by the Representative at least two (2) business days prior to the 
Closing Date.  Payment for the Bonds shall be made as set forth in Section B.1. hereof. 
The delivery of the other documents shall be made at the Division of State Government 
Finance of the State of Tennessee or at the offices of the Attorney General of the State of 
Tennessee ("Counsel to the Issuer"), John Sevier Building, 425 Rep. John Lewis Way, 
N., Nashville, Tennessee. Such payment and the related delivery are herein called the 
“Closing.” The Bonds will be delivered as fully-registered bonds, bearing proper CUSIP 



3 
 

numbers, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, which will act 
as securities depository for the Bonds. 

4. After execution by the Issuer, the Bonds shall be held in safe custody by DTC in New 
York, New York or by DTC through the Trustee and the “FAST Program”. The Issuer 
shall release or authorize the release of the Bonds from safe custody at the Closing upon 
receipt of payment for the Bonds as aforesaid. 

C. Official Statement. 

1. The Issuer hereby consents to and confirms the prior use by the Underwriters of the 
Preliminary Official Statement delivered to the Underwriters and made available on the 
Internet at www.munios.com, dated February 1, 2021 (the “Preliminary Official 
Statement”), in connection with the public offering of the Bonds by the Underwriters, 
and further confirms the authority of the Underwriters to use, and consents to the use of, a 
final Official Statement (in printed or electronic form) with respect to the Bonds, to be 
dated the date hereof, and any amendments or supplements thereto that shall be approved 
by the Issuer (as so amended and supplemented, the “Official Statement”) in connection 
with the public offering, and sale of the Bonds. The Issuer hereby represents and warrants 
that (i) the Preliminary Official Statement previously furnished to the Representative was 
“deemed final” by the Issuer as of February 1, 2021 for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 
15c2-12”) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States 
(the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), except for the omission of such information as is permitted in Rule 15c2-12 and 
(ii) on and as of the date the Preliminary Official Statement was “deemed final”, the 
information in the Preliminary Official Statement (other than information relating to DTC 
and its book-entry only system, including Appendix F to the Preliminary Official 
Statement, the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING,” and the following 
sentence: “The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in 
accordance with, and as a part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the 
federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but 
the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information,” as 
to which no representation is made) did not contain any untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading. 

2. The Issuer shall provide, or cause to be provided, to the Representative within seven (7) 
business days after the date of this Purchase Agreement or three (3) business days prior to 
the Closing, whichever comes first, five (5) executed counterparts of the Official 
Statement, and five (5) conformed copies of a final Official Statement (or such lesser 
amount which the Representative agrees will be sufficient to permit the Underwriters to 
comply with Rule 15c2-12 and other applicable rules of the SEC and the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”)). The Issuer shall further cause the Official 
Statement to be posted on www.munios.com for the longer of thirty (30) calendar days or 
until the End of the Underwriting Period as defined herein. 

3. The Issuer hereby authorizes the Representative to file, and the Representative hereby 
agrees to file, the Official Statement with the MSRB through the operation of the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”) within one (1) business day 
after receipt from the Issuer, but by no later than the Closing Date, in such manner and 



4 
 

accompanied by such forms as are required by the MSRB, in accordance with applicable 
MSRB Rules, and shall maintain such books and records as required by MSRB Rules 
with respect to filing of the Official Statement. 

D. Amendments to Official Statement. The Issuer covenants with the Underwriters to notify 
promptly the Representative if, during the Update Period (as defined in H.3 herein), any event 
shall occur that would cause the Official Statement to contain, or information shall come to the 
attention of the Issuer that is reasonably likely to cause the Official Statement (whether or not 
previously supplemented or amended) to contain, any untrue statement of a material fact or to 
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and if in the opinion of the 
Representative such event requires the preparation and distribution of a supplement or 
amendment to the Official Statement, to prepare and furnish to the Representative, at the Issuer’s 
expense, such number of copies of the supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, in 
form and substance mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and approved by the Representative, as 
the Representative may reasonably request and if such notification shall be given subsequent to 
the Closing Date, such additional legal opinions, certificates, instruments, and other documents as 
the Representative may reasonably deem necessary to evidence the truth and accuracy of any 
such supplement or amendment to the Official Statement. 

E. Reserved. 

F. End of Underwriting Period. For purposes of this Purchase Agreement, the “End of the 
Underwriting Period” shall mean the later of the Closing Date (which shall constitute the End of 
the Underwriting Period, unless the Issuer has been notified to the contrary by the Representative 
on or prior to the Closing Date) or the date on which the “end of the underwriting period” for the 
Bonds has occurred under Rule 15c2-12.  The Representative shall notify the Issuer when the 
“end of the underwriting period” for the Bonds has occurred under Rule 15c2-12 with respect to 
the unsold balance of Bonds that are held by any Underwriters for sale to the public within the 
meaning of Rule 15c2-12. 

G. Plan of Financing. 

1. The Bonds shall be as described in, and shall be issued under and secured pursuant to the 
provisions of the Resolution substantially in the form delivered to the Representative, 
with only such changes therein as shall be mutually agreed upon between the Issuer and 
the Representative prior to Closing. 

2. The net proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to: (i) finance costs of the 
project identified in the Preliminary Official Statement; (ii) provide funds necessary to 
refund certain maturities of the Issuer’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 
Bonds, 2012 Series A, dated August 1, 2012; Higher Educational Facilities Second 
Program Bonds, 2012 Refunding Series C, dated August 1, 2012; Higher Educational 
Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2013 Series A, dated November 21, 2013; Higher 
Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2014 Series A (Federally Taxable), dated 
August 27, 2014; Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2014 Refunding 
Series B, dated August 27, 2014; and Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 
Bonds, 2015 Series B, dated May 7, 2015, as more fully described on Appendix III hereto 
(collectively, the “Refunded Bonds”), and (iii) pay certain costs of issuance of the 
Bonds. 



5 
 

3. In connection with the issuance of the Refunded Bonds, the Issuer will enter into one or 
more Refunding Trust Agreements, dated as of the Closing Date (collectively, the 
“Refunding Trust Agreement”) with the Trustee. 

4. The Bonds will constitute special obligations of the Issuer, the principal, Sinking Fund 
Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on which shall be payable 
solely from and secured by the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations 
derived pursuant to the Second Program Financing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 
1997, as amended as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Issuer and the Board of 
Trustees, and the Second Program Financing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1997, 
as amended as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Issuer and the Board of Regents, as 
appropriate, in each case, as supplemented and amended from time to time (the 
“Financing Agreements”), and other monies and securities held or set aside under the 
Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions 
permitted by the Resolution.  

5. The Issuer has elected to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
for the Bonds with no current funding requirement.  Accordingly, the Bonds currently 
will not be secured by any debt service reserve. 

H. Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. 

The Issuer hereby agrees with, and makes the following representations and warranties to the 
Underwriters, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, which representations and 
warranties shall survive the Closing: 

1. The Issuer is duly organized and existing, created pursuant to the provisions of Title 49, 
Chapter 3, Part 12, Tennessee Code Annotated, as amended (the “Act”) and is a 
corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee (the 
“State”). The Issuer is authorized by the provisions of the Act to, among other things, (i) 
issue the Bonds for the purposes set forth herein and in the Resolution, (ii) secure the 
Bonds in the manner contemplated in the Resolution, and (iii) execute, deliver and 
perform its obligations under the Bonds, the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, this 
Purchase Agreement, and the Refunding Trust Agreement. 

2. The Issuer has, and at the Closing Date will have, full legal right, power, and authority 
pursuant to the Resolution to enter into this Purchase Agreement, to execute and deliver 
the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, dated as of February 24, 2021, in substantially 
the form described in Appendix G to the Official Statement (the “Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking”), and the Refunding Trust Agreement, to issue, sell, and deliver the Bonds 
as provided herein and to carry out and consummate the transactions contemplated by 
this Purchase Agreement, the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement and the Official Statement. 

3. On and as of the date hereof and, unless an event of the nature described in Section J.2. 
hereof subsequently occurs, at all times during the period from the date hereof to and 
including the date which is twenty-five (25) days following the End of the Underwriting 
Period (the “Update Period”), the information in the Official Statement (other than 
information relating to DTC and its book-entry only system, including Appendix F to the 
Official Statement, the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING,” and the 
following sentence: “The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official 



6 
 

Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, their respective responsibilities to 
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of 
this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information,” as to which no representation is made) does not and will not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

4. The Issuer has complied, and will at the Closing be in compliance, in all material 
respects, with the Resolution and the Act. 

5. By official action of the Issuer prior to or concurrently with the acceptance hereof, the 
Issuer has duly authorized and approved the distribution of the Preliminary Official 
Statement and the execution, delivery, and distribution of the Official Statement, and has 
duly authorized and approved the issuance and sale of the Bonds upon the terms set forth 
herein and in the Resolution and the Official Statement, and the execution and delivery 
of, and the performance by the Issuer of the obligations on its part contained in, the 
Bonds, the Resolution, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing 
Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement. 

6. The Issuer is not in breach of or in default under the Act or any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State or the United States or any applicable judgment or 
decree or any loan agreement, note, resolution, agreement, or other instrument to which 
the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject or by which it or its properties may be bound, 
that is material to the issuance, payment or security for the Bonds. The issuance and sale 
of the Bonds upon the terms set forth herein and in the Resolution and the Official 
Statement, and the execution and delivery by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing 
Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, 
and this Purchase Agreement, and its compliance with the provisions of each thereof, will 
not conflict with or constitute a material breach of or default under the Act or any law, 
administrative regulation, judgment, decree, indenture, loan agreement, note, resolution 
agreement, or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject. 

7. All approvals, consents, and orders of any governmental authority, board, agency, or 
commission having jurisdiction that would constitute a condition precedent to the 
performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder, the issuance of the Bonds and the 
execution and delivery and performance by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing 
Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, 
and this Purchase Agreement, have been obtained or will be obtained prior to the Closing. 

8. The Bonds, when issued, authenticated, and delivered in accordance with the Resolution 
and sold to the Underwriters as provided herein, will be the valid and binding obligations 
of the Issuer as provided in the Resolution, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance 
with their terms and the terms of the Resolution, payable solely from the Annual 
Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other monies and securities held or 
set aside under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purpose and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution, issued in conformity with and entitled to the 
benefit and security of the Resolution. 

9. The Resolution has been duly adopted by the Issuer. The terms and provisions of the 
Resolution comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Act.  The 



7 
 

Resolution is valid and binding upon the Issuer and is enforceable against the Issuer in 
accordance with its terms. The Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to 
create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each is 
defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the Second Program Financing 
Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and moneys and securities held or set aside 
under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution. 

10. The Financing Agreements constitute, and when executed and delivered by the parties 
thereto, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this 
Purchase Agreement will constitute, the valid contractual obligations of the Issuer. The 
Issuer has not waived immunity from suit or extended its consent to be sued (other than 
for the Resolution and the Bonds as described in paragraphs 8 and 9 above), and 
monetary actions against the Issuer for breach of contractual obligations may be heard 
and determined under current law exclusively in the Tennessee Claims Commission, an 
administrative tribunal, where the Issuer may be liable only for actual damages and 
certain costs. 

11. The representations and warranties in paragraphs 8, 9 and 10 above are subject to 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore 
or hereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and to the application of principles of 
equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 

12. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, before 
or by any court, public board, or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, 
threatened against the Issuer, the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents affecting the 
existence of the Issuer, the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents or the titles of its 
officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain, or enjoin the issuance, 
sale, or delivery of the Bonds or the Annual Financing Charges or the Legislative 
Appropriations or the collection of the revenues or assets of the Issuer pledged or to be 
pledged to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, or the pledge 
thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds 
or the Resolution, or contesting or affecting the validity of the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase 
Agreement or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or 
contesting the power or authority of the Issuer to issue the Bonds or to execute and 
deliver the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement, or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling, or finding would materially adversely affect the validity or 
enforceability of the Bonds or the Resolution, or materially adversely affect the validity 
of the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding 
Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement. 

13. The proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds shall be used in accordance with the 
Act and the Resolution and as set forth in the Official Statement. 

14. Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer and delivered to the 
Representative shall be deemed a representation and warranty of the Issuer to the 
Underwriters as to the statements made therein. 



8 
 

15. The Issuer has entered or will enter into, in accordance with Rule 15c2-12, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking in substantially the form described in Appendix G to 
the Official Statement for the benefit of bondholders to provide to the MSRB through 
EMMA (a) certain annual financial information, including audited financial statements 
and operating data, as described in Appendix G to the Official Statement, (b) timely 
notice (not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any of the 
sixteen events identified in Rule 15c2-12 with respect to the Bonds, and (c) timely notice 
of any failure of any obligated person to provide the required annual information on or 
before the date specified in the written agreement. 

16. Except as described in the Official Statement, the Issuer has not failed during the 
previous five (5) years to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings 
in a written continuing disclosure contract or agreement under Rule 15c2-12. 

 
I. Covenants of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby covenants with the Underwriters that: 

1. The Issuer shall not supplement or amend the Official Statement or cause the Official 
Statement to be supplemented or amended prior to the End of the Underwriting Period 
without the prior written consent of the Representative, which will not be unreasonably 
withheld. 

2. The Issuer shall not amend, terminate, or rescind, and will not agree to any amendment, 
termination, or rescission of the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement 
without the prior written consent of the Representative prior to the Closing Date, which 
will not be unreasonably withheld. 

3. The Issuer shall promptly advise the Representative by written notice of any matter 
arising or discovered after the date of this Purchase Agreement and prior to the Closing 
Date that if existing or known at the date hereof would render any of the representations 
or warranties set forth herein to be untrue or misleading or might adversely affect the 
correctness or completeness of any statement of material fact regarding the Issuer 
contained in the Official Statement; or any developments that affect the accuracy and 
completeness of the key representations (within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12) regarding 
the Issuer contained in the Official Statement that may occur during the Update Period. 

4. The Issuer shall not voluntarily undertake any course of action inconsistent with 
satisfaction of the requirements applicable to the Issuer as set forth in this Purchase 
Agreement. 

5. The Issuer shall not knowingly take or omit to take any action that, under existing law, 
may adversely affect the exemption from state income taxation of the Bonds and the 
income therefrom. 

6. The Issuer will use the proceeds of the Bonds in accordance with the Resolution and the 
Act. 

J. Certain Conditions to Underwriters’ Obligations. The Underwriters have entered into this 
Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties, and agreements of the 
Issuer contained herein and upon the accuracy of the statements to be contained in the documents 



9 
 

and instruments to be delivered at the Closing. Accordingly, the Underwriters’ obligations under 
this Purchase Agreement to purchase, accept delivery of, and pay for the Bonds are subject to the 
performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder required to be performed at or prior to the 
Closing Date, and to the following additional conditions precedent: 

1. On the Closing Date, the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained herein 
shall be true, complete, and correct as if made on and as of the Closing Date; the Official 
Statement shall have been executed and delivered by the Issuer; the Resolution, the 
Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, and the Refunding Trust 
Agreement shall have been duly executed and delivered by the appropriate parties 
thereto, shall be in full force and effect, and shall not have been amended, modified, or 
supplemented, except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Representative or as 
provided herein; the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds shall have been paid to the Issuer 
for deposit for use as described in the Official Statement and in the Resolution; and the 
Issuer shall have adopted and there shall be in full force and effect such resolutions as, in 
the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel, and Bass, Berry & Sims 
PLC, counsel for the Underwriters, shall be necessary in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 

2. The Underwriters shall have the right to cancel their obligation to purchase the Bonds if 
between the date hereof and the Closing: 

a) legislation shall be introduced in, enacted by, reported out of committee, or 
recommended for passage by the legislature of the State of Tennessee, either 
House of the Congress, or recommended to the Congress or otherwise endorsed 
for passage (by press release, other form of notice or otherwise) by the President 
of the United States, the Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal 
Revenue Service or the Chairman or ranking minority member of the Committee 
on Finance of the United States Senate or the Committee on Ways and Means of 
the United States House of Representatives, or legislation is proposed for 
consideration by either such committee by any member thereof or presented as an 
option for consideration by either such committee by the staff or such committee 
or by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation of the Congress of the United 
States, or a bill to amend the Code (which, if enacted, would be effective as of a 
date prior to the Closing) shall be filed in either House, or a decision by a court 
of competent jurisdiction shall be rendered, or a regulation or filing shall be 
issued or proposed by or on behalf of the Department of the Treasury or the 
Internal Revenue Service of the United States, or other agency of the federal 
government, or a release or official statement shall be issued by the President, the 
Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service of the United States, 
in any such case with respect to or affecting (directly or indirectly) the federal or 
state taxation of interest received on obligations of the general character of the 
Bonds which, in the Representative’s reasonable judgment, materially adversely 
affects the market price or marketability of the Bonds or of obligations the 
general character of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce 
contracts for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields; 
or 

b) there shall exist any event or circumstance that in the Representative’s reasonable 
judgment causes the Official Statement to contain any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 



10 
 

therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading; or 

c) there shall have occurred (1) an outbreak or escalation of hostilities involving the 
United States or the declaration by the United States of a national or international 
emergency or war; (2) any other calamity or crisis or any change in the financial, 
political or economic conditions in the United States or elsewhere; (3) a 
downgrade of the sovereign debt rating of the United States by any major credit 
rating agency or payment default on the United States Treasury obligations or (4) 
a default with respect to the debt obligations of, or the institution of proceedings 
under any federal or state bankruptcy laws by or against, any state of the United 
States or any city, county or other political subdivision located in the United 
States having a population over 1,000,000, if the effect of any such event 
specified in clause (1), (2), (3) or (4), in the reasonable judgment of the 
Representative, materially adversely affects the market price or marketability of 
the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of 
the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields or if any such event 
specified in clause (1), (2), (3) or (4) otherwise makes it impracticable or 
inadvisable to proceed with the offering or the delivery of the Bonds on the terms 
and in the manner contemplated in the Preliminary Official Statement or the 
Official Statement; or 

d) there shall be in force a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock 
Exchange, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall have been fixed and 
be in force, or maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required 
and be in force on the New York Stock Exchange or other national stock 
exchange, whether by virtue of determination by that exchange or by order of the 
SEC or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction, or any national 
securities exchange shall have imposed additional material restrictions not in 
force as of the date hereof with respect to trading in securities generally or the 
Bonds or similar obligations or materially increased restrictions now in force 
with respect to the extension of credit by or the charge to the net capital 
requirements of underwriters or broker-dealers, that, in the Representative’s 
reasonable judgment, materially adversely affects the market price or 
marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts 
for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields; or 

e) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal, New York or 
Tennessee authorities or a major financial crisis or a material disruption in 
commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services shall have 
occurred that, in the Representative’s reasonable judgment, materially adversely 
affects the market price or the marketability for the Bonds or the ability of the 
Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated 
offering prices or yields; or 

f) legislation shall be enacted (or resolution passed) or be proposed by a committee 
of Congress or an order, decree, injunction or other decision by any court of 
competent jurisdiction shall be rendered, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, 
temporary or proposed), press release, statement or other form of notice issued or 
made by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental agency having 
jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be made, to the effect that the Bonds or 



11 
 

any comparable securities of the Issuer, any obligations of the general character 
of the Bonds, the Resolution or the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, are not 
exempt from the registration, qualification or other requirements of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended and as then in effect (the “Securities Act”) or of the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended and as then in effect, or otherwise, or 
would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws as amended; 
or 

g) there shall have been any material adverse change in the affairs of the Issuer, the 
Board of Regents, the Board of Trustees, the Institutions or the State that in the 
Representative’s reasonable judgment will materially adversely affect the market 
for the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale 
of the Bonds, including a downgrading or suspension of any rating (without 
regard to credit enhancement) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), 
S&P Global Ratings, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), or Fitch Ratings 
(“Fitch”) of any debt securities issued by the Issuer, or there shall have been any 
official statement as to a possible downgrading (such as being placed on “credit 
watch” or “negative outlook” or any similar qualification) of any rating by 
Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch of any debt securities issued by the Issuer, including the 
Bonds, not reflected in such ratings on the date hereof; or 

h) there shall be established any new restriction on transactions in securities 
materially affecting the free market for securities (including the imposition of 
any limitation on interest rates) established by the New York Stock Exchange, 
the SEC, any other federal or State agency or the Congress of the United States, 
or by Executive Order; or 

i) a stop order, release, regulation (final, temporary or proposed), statement or no-
action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or any other governmental agency having 
jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued or made to the effect that 
the issuance, offering, or sale of the Bonds, including all the underlying 
obligations as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, or any 
document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds is or would be in 
violation of any provision of the federal securities laws at the Closing Date, 
including the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the Trust Indenture Act of 
1939, as amended. 

3. At or prior to the Closing, the Representative shall receive the following: 

a) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Issuer, 
dated the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached as Appendix H to 
the Official Statement with only such changes thereto as are satisfactory to the 
Representative, and a letter of such Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing and 
addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that Bond Counsel’s opinion 
addressed to the Issuer may be relied upon by the Underwriters to the same 
extent as if such opinion were addressed to them; 

b) A supplementary opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date, addressed to 
the Underwriters and the Issuer, to the effect that: this Purchase Agreement has 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer, and constitutes the 
valid contractual agreement of the Issuer, subject to sovereign immunity, 



12 
 

applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws 
theretofore or thereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and the application of 
principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual 
obligations, whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity 
or at law; no approval or other action is required to be obtained by the Issuer 
from any governmental authority or agency in connection with the issuance and 
sale of the Bonds, the adoption of the Resolution, or the execution by the Issuer 
of this Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the 
Refunding Trust Agreement, or the Official Statement that has not already been 
obtained or taken, except that the offer and sale of the Bonds in certain 
jurisdictions may be subject to compliance with the provisions of the securities or 
blue sky laws of such jurisdictions (as to which no opinion need be expressed); 
the statements contained in the Official Statement under the captions 
“Introduction”, “Purposes of the Offered Bonds”, “Description of the Offered 
Bonds” (except Appendix F referred to therein), “Security and Sources of 
Payment for the Bonds”, “Tax Matters”, Appendix C- Glossary of Certain Terms, 
Appendix E - Summary of Certain Provisions of the Resolution, and Appendix G 
– Summary of Certain Provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and 
the statements contained in the Official Statement describing the Resolution and 
the Financing Agreements, fairly summarize the provisions of such documents 
(or, in the case of “Tax Matters”, matters of law) purported to be summarized; 
the Bonds are not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act; 
and the Resolution is exempt from qualification as an indenture pursuant to the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; 

c) A certificate of Counsel to the Issuer, dated the Closing Date, and in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Representative, to the effect that: there is no action, 
suit, or proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board, or body pending, or, to the knowledge of such counsel, threatened 
against or affecting the Issuer to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of any 
of the Bonds or the security pledged under the Resolution, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the power of the Issuer relating to the issuance or validity 
of the Bonds or any provision of the Resolution, or the execution, delivery, and 
performance by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this 
Purchase Agreement; 

d) An opinion or opinions of Counsel to the Issuer addressed to the Issuer that the 
Issuer (i) has full legal right, power, and authority to adopt the Resolution and to 
enter into, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing Agreements, 
the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement, and to issue the 
Bonds and apply the proceeds thereof pursuant to the Resolution; (ii) the 
Resolution is valid and binding upon the Issuer and is enforceable against the 
Issuer in accordance with its terms; (iii) the Resolution creates the valid pledge 
which it purports to create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative 
Appropriations (as each is defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the 
Second Program Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and 
moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 
application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the 
Resolution; (iv) the Bonds are valid and binding upon the Issuer and are 
enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their terms, payable solely from 



13 
 

the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each is defined 
in the Resolution), and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the 
Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution; (v) the Issuer has duly authorized, 
executed, and delivered the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement and, 
assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery by the other parties thereto, 
each constitutes the valid contractual agreement of the Issuer; (vi) each of the 
opinions in (ii) (iii), (iv) and (v) above is subject to applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore or hereafter 
enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and to the application of principles of equity 
relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law (the State has not 
waived the immunity of the State (including, for this purpose, the Issuer and the 
Board of Regents and Board of Trustees) from suit or extended its consent to be 
sued with respect to the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, and the Purchase Agreement; accordingly, monetary actions against 
the State (including the Issuer, the Board of Trustees and the Board of Regents) 
for breach of contractual obligations relating to the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the 
Purchase Agreement may be heard and determined under current law exclusively 
in the Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, where liability 
may be limited to actual damages and certain costs); (vii) compliance with the 
provisions of the Bonds, the Resolution, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, 
the Financing Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase 
Agreement will not conflict with or constitute a violation or breach of or default 
under any existing law or administrative rule or regulation, or, to the best of the 
knowledge of such counsel, any court order or decree, or any agreement, 
contract, or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject 
or bound; (viii) the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the 
execution, delivery, and distribution of the Official Statement have been duly 
authorized by the Issuer, and nothing has come to such counsel’s attention that 
would lead it to believe that the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and 
the Official Statement as of its date and as of the date of the opinion (except for 
any financial or statistical material included therein and the statements contained 
under the heading “Tax Matters”, as to which such counsel expresses no opinion 
or view) contains any untrue statement of a material fact, omits to state any 
material fact required to be stated therein, or omits to state any material fact 
necessary to make the statements made in the Preliminary Official Statement or 
Official Statement, respectively, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not be misleading; (ix) no approval or other action is required to be 
obtained by the Issuer from any governmental authority or agency in connection 
with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, or the execution by the Issuer of this 
Purchase Agreement, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or the Official Statement which 
has not already been obtained or taken, except that the offer and sale of the 
Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be subject to compliance with the provisions 
of the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions (as to which no opinion 
need be expressed); (x) the Official Statement has been duly executed and 
delivered by the Issuer; (xi) the resolutions of the Issuer approving and 
authorizing the issuance and sale of the Bonds, and the execution and delivery of 



14 
 

this Purchase Agreement, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the Official Statement were 
duly adopted at one or more meetings of the Issuer that were called and held 
pursuant to all applicable laws and regulations, and with all public notice 
required by all applicable laws and regulations and at which a quorum was 
present and acting throughout; and (xii) the representations and warranties of the 
Issuer as set forth in this Purchase Agreement are, as to all matters of law, true 
and accurate on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; 

e) The opinion of counsel to the Underwriters, dated the Closing Date, to the effect 
that the Bonds are exempt from registration under the Securities Act, and the 
Resolution is exempt from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, 
as amended; and without having undertaken to determine independently, or to 
assume responsibility for, the accuracy, completeness or fairness thereof, and 
based solely on their participation in meetings and telephone conferences at 
which representatives of the Issuer, Bond Counsel, and the Representative were 
at various times present, nothing has come to their attention that would lead them 
to believe that the information and statements in the Preliminary Official 
Statement, as of its date, and the Official Statement, as of its date and as of the 
date of this opinion (except for the financial statements and statistical data 
included therein and “Appendix F – Book-Entry Only System”, as to which no 
view need be expressed), contained or contain an untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading; and that the form of Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking meets the requirements of Rule 15c2-l2 as to form; 

f) A certificate dated the Closing Date by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary to the 
Issuer to the effect that: the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained 
herein are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Closing Date 
(except to the extent the same relate to an earlier date) with the same effect as if 
made on the Closing Date; and the Issuer has complied with all agreements and 
satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied with respect to 
the Bonds at or prior to the Closing; 

g) A certificate dated the Closing Date by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary to the 
Issuer to the effect that: no event affecting the Issuer has occurred since the date 
of the Official Statement that should be disclosed in the Official Statement so 
that it does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

h) A certificate of an officer of the Issuer, acceptable to the Representative, dated 
the Closing Date, to the effect that the Bonds have been executed in accordance 
with the Resolution by duly authorized officers or signatories of the Issuer; and 
an incumbency certificate of the Issuer, in form and content acceptable to the 
Representative and Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date, with respect to the 
officers or other signatories of the Issuer who have executed and delivered the 
Bonds and all other financing documents to be signed by the Issuer; 



15 
 

i) Evidence satisfactory to the Representative that the Bonds have been rated not 
less than “AA+,” “Aa1” and “AA+” respectively, by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch, 
which ratings remain in effect on the Closing Date; and are not, as of the Closing 
Date, subject to review or watch; 

j) Copies of the Resolution certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary as 
having been duly adopted by the Issuer and as being in full force and effect, with 
such changes or amendments as may have been approved by the Representative; 

k) Executed counterparts of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing 
Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the Purchase Agreement, 
executed by the parties thereto, or copies thereof certified by the Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, and specimens of the Bonds; 

l) The Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, together with any 
supplements or amendments thereto in the event either has been supplemented or 
amended, in the case of the Official Statement executed on behalf of the Issuer 
by a duly authorized officer thereof;  

m) Reserved. 

n) A letter from Robert Thomas CPA, LLC verifying the mathematical accuracy of 
certain schedules and computations provided by the Representative with respect 
to the availability of sufficient funds under the Refunding Trust Agreement 
(including investment income) for payment of the Refunded Bonds, as described 
in the Refunding Trust Agreement; 

o) An agreed-upon-procedures letter addressed to the Representative by the Issuer’s 
auditors; and 

p) Such additional legal opinions, signatures, delivery and other certificates, and 
other instruments and documents as the Underwriters may reasonably request to 
evidence the truth, accuracy and completeness, as of the date of the Purchase 
Agreement and as of the date of Closing, of the representations and warranties of 
the Issuer contained in this Purchase Agreement and of the statements and 
information contained in the Official Statement and the due performance or 
satisfaction by the Issuer at or prior to Closing of all agreements then to be 
performed and all conditions then to be satisfied by the Issuer. 

All of the opinions, letters, certificates, instruments and other documents mentioned above or 
elsewhere in this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the provisions of this 
Purchase Agreement if, but only if, they are in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
Underwriters and their counsel. 

If the Issuer shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters 
contained in this Purchase Agreement, or if the obligations of the Underwriters shall be terminated for 
any reason permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall terminate and neither 
the Underwriters nor the Issuer shall have any further obligations hereunder, except as provided in 
Section K. hereof. However, the Representative may in its discretion waive one or more of the conditions 
imposed by this Purchase Agreement for the protection of the Underwriters and proceed with the Closing. 



16 
 

K. Payment of Expenses. 

1. The Underwriters shall be under no obligation to pay, and the Issuer shall pay from 
available funds or from the proceeds of the Bonds or from other funds of the Issuer, 
certain expenses set forth in this Section that are incidental to the performance of the 
Issuer’s obligations hereunder, including but not limited to: all expenses in connection 
with the printing of the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, and any 
amendment or supplement to either thereof; all expenses in connection with the printing, 
issuance, and delivery of the Bonds; the fees and disbursement of Bond Counsel, Counsel 
to the Issuer, auditors and verification accountants; the fees and disbursements of the 
Trustee; all expenses in connection with obtaining a rating or ratings for the  Bonds; all 
expenses of the Issuer in connection with the preparation, printing, execution, and 
delivery, and any recording or filing required by Bond Counsel, of the Resolution, the 
Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, and the Refunding Trust 
Agreement; any recording or filing fees required by this Purchase Agreement (excluding 
the costs of qualifying the Bonds for sale in various states); fees relating to the 
verification report; the Issuer’s administrative fees; rating agency fees, and all other 
expenses and costs of the Issuer incident to its obligations in connection with the 
authorization, issuance, sale, and distribution of the Bonds.  In addition to the foregoing, 
the Issuer shall pay for expenses incurred on behalf of Issuer's employees which are 
directly related to the offering of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, meals, 
transportation and lodging of those employees.  

2. Expenses of the Underwriters, including fees and expenses of Underwriters’ counsel and 
the fees of Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. for a continuing disclosure 
undertaking compliance review, shall be paid or reimbursed through the expense 
component of the Underwriters’ discount.  The Representative shall pay (from the 
expense component of the Underwriters’ discount) the costs of qualifying the Bonds for 
sale in various states chosen by the Representative, all advertising expenses in connection 
with the public offering of the Bonds, and all other expenses incurred by it or the other 
Underwriters in connection with the public offering and distribution of the Bonds, 
including the fees and disbursements of their counsel and the cost of obtaining CUSIP 
numbers. 

L. Blue Sky Qualification. The Issuer agrees to cooperate with the Underwriters and their counsel in 
any endeavor to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of 
such jurisdictions of the United States as the Representative may request; provided that the Issuer 
shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation in, or submit to the jurisdiction of, any 
other state. The Issuer consents to the use of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 
Statement by the Representative in obtaining such qualification. 

M. No Advisory or Fiduciary Role. 

1. The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds pursuant 
to this Purchase Agreement is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Issuer 
and the Underwriters, (ii) in connection therewith and with the discussions, undertakings 
and procedures leading up to the consummation of such transaction, the Underwriters are 
and have been acting solely as principals and are not acting as the agent, advisor 
(including, without limitation, a Municipal Advisor (as such term is defined in Section 
975(e) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act)) or 
fiduciary of the Issuer, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed (individually or 



17 
 

collectively) an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Issuer with respect to 
the offering contemplated hereby or the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading 
thereto (irrespective of whether any Underwriter, or any affiliate of an Underwriter, has 
provided other services or are currently providing other services to the Issuer on other 
matters) and the Underwriters have no obligation to the Issuer with respect to the offering 
contemplated hereby other than those arising out of their role as Underwriters pursuant to 
the terms of this Purchase Agreement, (iv) the Issuer has consulted its own legal, 
financial and other advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (v) the 
Underwriters have financial and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer. 

2. The Issuer and the Underwriters represent and warrant, respectively, that no finder or 
other agent has been employed by either the Issuer or the Underwriters in connection 
with this transaction. 

N. Notices. All notices provided for in this Purchase Agreement shall be made in writing either by 
actual delivery of the notice into the hands of the parties entitled thereto, by confirmed facsimile 
transmission, or by sending the notice by air courier or mailing by certified or registered mail, 
return receipt requested, in the United States mail to the address as stated below (or at such other 
address as may have been designated by written notice) of the party entitled thereto. The notice 
shall be deemed to be received in case of actual delivery on the date of its actual receipt by the 
party entitled thereto, in case of delivery by facsimile, on the date receipt is confirmed, in case of 
delivery by air courier on the date of delivery, and in case of mailing on the date of receipt by 
United States mail, postage prepaid. 

All communications hereunder, except as herein otherwise specifically provided, shall be in 
writing and mailed or delivered to the Issuer and to the Underwriters at the following addresses: 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
Cordell Hull Building 
425 Rep. John Lewis Way N., 4th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 
Attention:  Director of the Division of State Government Finance 
Facsimile:  615-741-5986 
 
Jefferies LLC 
700 N. St. Mary’s St, Suite 1400 
San Antonio, TX 78205 
Attention: Laura Powell, Managing Director 
Facsimile: 832-218-7349 
 

O. Governing Law. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State, including, without limitation, those laws applicable to contracts made 
and to be performed by the Issuer. 

P. Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be executed in counterparts with the same force and 
effect as if all signatures appeared on a single instrument. 

Q. Miscellaneous. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the signatories hereto 
(including the successors or assigns of the Underwriters) and no other person shall acquire or 
have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. The term “successor” shall not include any holder of 
any Bonds merely by virtue of such holding. All representations, warranties, agreements, and 



18 
 

indemnities contained in this Purchase Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and 
effect, regardless of (i) any investigations made by or on behalf of the Underwriters, (ii) delivery 
of and payment for the Bonds, and (iii) any termination of this Purchase Agreement. 

[Signatures on Following Page] 







I-1 

APPENDIX I 

To 

Bond Purchase Agreement 

UNDERWRITERS 

Representative and Senior Manager 
 
Jefferies LLC 
 
Co-Managers 
 
FHN Financial Capital Markets 
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 
Piper Sandler & Co. 
Raymond James & Associates, Inc. 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 



 

II-1 

APPENDIX II 

To 

Bond Purchase Agreement 

 
$713,365,000 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS,  
2021 SERIES A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

  
Maturity 

Date Amount Rate Yield Price   

11/1/2022 
     

$19,595,000  0.167% 0.167% 100.00 

11/1/2023 
     

23,430,000  0.217 0.217 100.00  

11/1/2024 
     

21,260,000  0.339 0.339 100.00  

11/1/2025 
     

21,370,000  0.627 0.627 100.00  

11/1/2026 
     

24,120,000  0.727 0.727 100.00  

11/1/2027 
     

22,950,000  1.026 1.026 100.00  

11/1/2028 
     

18,120,000  1.126 1.126 100.00  

11/1/2029 
     

56,175,000  1.362 1.362 100.00  

11/1/2030 
     

43,410,000  1.462 1.462 100.00  

11/1/2031 
     

43,545,000  1.512 1.512 100.00  

11/1/2032 
     

42,780,000  1.662 1.662 100.00  

11/1/2033 
     

40,800,000  1.712 1.712 100.00  

11/1/2034 
     

38,335,000  1.812 1.812 100.00  

11/1/2035 
     

39,055,000  1.912 1.912 100.00  

11/1/2036 
     

35,700,000  1.962 1.962 100.00  
  
11/1/2041* 156,765,000 2.561 2.561 100.00  
 
11/1/2045* 65,955,000 2.661 2.661 100.00  

      
      

 
*Term Bond 



 

II-2 
 

 
 

Optional Redemption.  Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2032, are subject to 
redemption prior to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after 
November 1, 2031, as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity determined by 
the Issuer, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of such Bonds or portions thereof to 
be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal amount to the date fixed for 
redemption. 

Prior to November 1, 2031, the Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated 
maturities at the option of the Issuer, at any time as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order 
of maturity as determined by the Issuer, at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption 
Price (as defined, and more particularly described in, the Official Statement for the Bonds). 

  

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on November 1, 2041, and on 
November 1, 2045, are Term Bonds subject to redemption in part on November 1 in each of the years 
and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a Redemption Price equal to the principal 
amount or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed 
for redemption, from Sinking Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt 
Service Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on November 1 of each year shown below the principal 
amount of such Bonds specified for such year:  

 

      Nov. 1, 2041 Maturity    Nov. 1, 2045 Maturity 

Year Principal Amount Year Principal Amount 

2037      $34,345,000  2042      $19,665,000  
2038      31,335,000  2043      20,195,000  

2039      30,315,000  2044      14,555,000  
2040      31,105,000  2045      11,540,000  
2041 29,665,000   

       
  

 

 



 

III-1 

Appendix III 
  

To 
 

Bond Purchase Agreement 
 

Summary of Refunded Bonds 
 

2012A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

TERM 5/1/2030 5.000%  $               7,885,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2031 5.000%                   8,285,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2032 5.000%                   8,705,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2037 3.750%                 40,455,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2039 5.000%                 18,610,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2042 4.000%                 31,185,000  5/1/2022 100% 

 $           115,125,000  

2012C           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

TERM 5/1/2023 4.000%  $               8,100,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2024 4.000%                   8,435,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2025 4.000%                   6,540,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2026 4.000%                   6,810,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2027 3.000%                   1,635,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2028 3.125%                   1,690,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2029 3.250%                   1,750,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2030 3.250%                   1,810,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2031 3.375%                   1,875,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2032 3.375%                   1,155,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2033 3.500%                   1,200,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2034 3.500%                   1,245,000  5/1/2022 100% 

 $             42,245,000  

2013A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2023 5.000%  $               3,885,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2024 5.000%                   4,085,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2025 5.000%                   4,295,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                   5,245,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                   5,515,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                   5,795,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                   6,095,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                   6,405,000  11/1/2022 100% 

TERM 11/1/2038 5.000%                 25,045,000  11/1/2022 100% 



 

III-2 
 

TERM 11/1/2043 5.000%                 32,160,000  11/1/2022 100% 

 $             98,525,000  

2014A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 3.712%                   5,730,000  11/1/2024 100% 

TERM 11/1/2034 4.007%                 11,865,000  11/1/2024 100% 

TERM 11/1/2044 4.207%                 29,650,000  11/1/2024 100% 

 $             47,245,000  

2014B           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2026 5.000%                 12,580,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2027 5.000%                 11,805,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2028 5.000%                   7,200,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                   4,985,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                   5,250,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                   5,720,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                   6,030,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                   6,090,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2034 5.000%                   4,325,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2035 5.000%                   4,550,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2036 5.000%                   3,795,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2037 5.000%                   3,995,000  11/1/2024 100% 

 $             76,325,000  

2015B           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                 22,150,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                 13,200,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                 13,885,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                 14,610,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                 12,625,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2034 5.000%                 15,225,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2035 5.000%                 16,010,000  11/1/2025 100% 

TERM 11/1/2040 5.000%                 61,945,000  11/1/2025 100% 

TERM 11/1/2045 5.000%                 56,500,000  11/1/2025 100% 

 $           226,150,000  

Total Refunded Bonds  $           605,615,000  

29611219.9 



 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) is dated and made as of 

November 15, 2022, by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) in connection 

with the issuance of the Authority’s $282,330,000 aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A and $25,235,000 aggregate principal amount of 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

(collectively, the “2022 Bonds”).  As authorized by Section 12 of the Supplemental Resolution of the 

Authority authorizing the 2022 Bonds, adopted on September 8, 2022, the Authority agrees as 

follows: 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  The following terms used in this Undertaking shall have 

the following respective meanings: 

(1) “Annual Financial Information” means (i) updated versions of the following 

financial information and operating data contained in the Official Statement with respect to the 

Authority, for each fiscal year of the Authority: 

 Outstanding Second Program Bonds (see “THE AUTHORITY—Outstanding 

Indebtedness”) 

 Authorized and Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (see “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS—Subordinated Obligations; 

Revolving Credit Loans”)  

 Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System financial information and 

operating data and Higher Education Employer Contributions (see 

“TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION—Employee Retirement 

Benefits”) 

 Other Post-Employment Benefits unfunded liabilities and annual required 

contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION—Other 

Post-Employment Benefits) 

 Appendix B—Selected Statistical Information;  

(ii) the information regarding amendments to this Undertaking required pursuant 

to Sections 4.2(c) and (d) of this Undertaking, (iii) Audited Financial 

Statements (or, if unavailable, Unaudited Financial Statements), and (iv) the 

Supplemental Annual Financial Information. 

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and operating 

data constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories or types of financial 

information and operating data.  When such descriptions include information that no longer can be 



 2 
 

generated because the operations to which it related have been materially changed or discontinued, a 

statement to that effect shall be provided in lieu of such information. 

(2) “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements of the 

Authority, audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law.  Audited 

Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP. 

(3) “Board of Trustees” means The Board of Trustees of The University of 

Tennessee. 

(4) “Board of Regents” means the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee. 

(5) “Counsel” means Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP or other nationally 

recognized bond counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws, in each case acceptable to the 

Authority. 

(6) “EMMA” means the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access system or 

its successor. 

(7) “Financial Obligation” means: (A) debt obligation; (B) derivative instrument 

entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or 

planned debt obligation; or (C) guarantee of (A) or (B) above, but does not include municipal 

securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the 

Rule.  

(8) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental 

units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting 

Standards Board, or any successor to the duties and responsibilities of either of them. 

(9) “Institution” means, as appropriate, (i) the University of Tennessee system of 

the State, including all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and 

activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the aggregate, and (ii) the State University 

and Community College System of the State of Tennessee, including all of its constituent institutions 

wherever located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities 

provided therein, and the Board of Regents, in the aggregate.   

(10) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 15B(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or 

any successor to the MSRB or the functions of the MSRB contemplated by this Undertaking. 

(11) “Notice Event” means any of the following events with respect to the 2022 

Bonds: 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 



 3 
 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS 

Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to 

the tax status of the 2022 Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax 

status of the 2022 Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of 2022 Bondholders, if material; 

(viii) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2022 

Bonds, if material;  

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Authority; 

(Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause (xii) 

above, the event is considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the 

appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Authority in a 

proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under 

state or federal law in which a court or government authority has assumed 

jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Authority, or 

if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body 

and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and 

orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 

confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or 

governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially 

all of the assets or business of the Authority.) 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 

Authority or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Authority, 

other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive 

agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 

agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if 

material;  

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 

trustee, if material; 

(xv) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution, if 

material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority 

rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of 



 4 
 

such Institution, as the case may be, any of which affect holders of Offered 

Bonds, if material; and 

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 

other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the 

Authority or of any Institution any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

(12) “Notice Event Notice” means notice of a Notice Event. 

(13) “Official Statement” means the Official Statement dated October 25, 2022, of 

the Authority relating to the 2022 Bonds. 

(14) “Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15c2-12), as in effect on the effective date hereof, 

including any official interpretations thereof. 

(15) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(16) “State” means the State of Tennessee. 

(17) “Supplemental Annual Financial Information” means the annual financial 

statements referred to in Section 2.4 hereof. 

(18) “Unaudited Financial Statements” mean the same as Audited Financial 

Statements, except that they shall not have been audited.   

ARTICLE II 

 

THE UNDERTAKING 

Section 2.1. Purpose.  This Undertaking is being executed, delivered and made 

solely to assist the underwriters of the 2022 Bonds in complying with subsection (b)(5) of the Rule. 

Section 2.2. Annual Financial Information.  (a)  The Authority shall provide 

Annual Financial Information with respect to each fiscal year of the Authority, commencing with the 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, by no later than 7 months after the end of the respective fiscal year, 

to the MSRB. 

(b) The Authority shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the 

Authority to provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above 

to the MSRB. 

Section 2.3. Authority Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as part of 

Annual Financial Information by the date required by Section 2.2(a) hereof because not available, the 

Authority shall provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to the MSRB. 

Section 2.4. Supplemental Annual Financial Information.  Notwithstanding 

anything in this Undertaking to the contrary, Annual Financial Information also shall include the 

annual financial statements of the State, including component unit reporting of The University of 

Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee, and of the State 



 5 
 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of 

Regents, in each case audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law, if 

available.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the date required by 

Section 2.2(a) because not available, the Authority shall provide audited financial statements, when 

and if available, to the MSRB.  Such audited financial statements will be prepared in accordance with 

GAAP. 

Section 2.5. Notice Events.  (a)  If a Notice Event occurs, the Authority shall 

provide, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such 

Notice Event, notice of such Notice Event to the MSRB. 

(b) Any such notice of a defeasance of 2022 Bonds shall state whether the 2022 

Bonds have been escrowed to maturity or to an earlier redemption date and the timing of such 

maturity or redemption. 

Section 2.6. Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The Authority acknowledges and 

understands that other State and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933, 

as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 

may apply to the Authority and that, under some circumstances, additional disclosures or other action 

in addition to those required by this Undertaking may be required to enable the Authority to fully 

discharge all of its duties and obligations under such laws. 

Section 2.7. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Undertaking shall be deemed 

to prevent the Authority from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination 

set forth in this Undertaking or any other means of communication, or including any other 

information in any Annual Financial Information or Notice Event Notice hereunder, in addition to 

that which is required by this Undertaking.  If the Authority chooses to do so, the Authority shall 

have no obligation under this Undertaking to update such additional information or include it in any 

future Annual Financial Information or Notice Event Notice hereunder. 

ARTICLE III 

 

OPERATING RULES 

Section 3.1. Reference to Other Documents.  It shall be sufficient for purposes of 

Section 2.2 hereof if the Authority provides Annual Financial Information by specific reference to 

documents (i) available to the public on the MSRB Internet Web Site (currently, 

www.emma.msrb.org) or (ii) filed with the SEC.  The provisions of this Section shall not apply to 

Notice Event Notices pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof. 

Section 3.2. Submission of Information.  Annual Financial Information may be 

provided in one document or multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time. 

Section 3.3. Filing with Certain Dissemination Agents or Conduits.  The Authority 

may from time to time designate an agent to act on its behalf in providing or filing notices, 

documents and information as required of the Authority under this Undertaking, and revoke or 

modify any such designation. 



 6 
 

Section 3.4. Transmission of Notices, Documents and Information  (a) Unless 

otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB 

shall be provided to EMMA, the current Internet Web address of which is www.emma.msrb.org.  

(b) All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be 

provided in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB (currently, portable document format 

(pdf) which must be word-searchable except for non textual elements) and shall be accompanied by 

identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 

Section 3.5. Fiscal Year.  (a)  The Authority’s current fiscal year is 

July 1 - June 30.  The Authority shall promptly notify the MSRB of each change in its fiscal year. 

(b) The Authority shall provide Annual Financial Information at least annually 

notwithstanding any fiscal year longer than 12 calendar months. 

ARTICLE IV 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE, TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND ENFORCEMENT 

Section 4.1. Effective Date; Termination.  (a)  This Undertaking shall be effective 

upon the issuance of the 2022 Bonds. 

(b) The Authority’s obligations under this Undertaking shall terminate with 

respect to each 2022 Bond upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of such 

2022 Bond. 

(c) This Undertaking, or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the event 

that the Authority (1) receives an opinion of Counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule 

which require this Undertaking, or such provision, as the case may be, do not or no longer apply to 

the 2022 Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or 

otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (2) delivers copies of such opinion to the MSRB. 

Section 4.2. Amendment.  (a)  This Undertaking may be amended without the 

consent of the holders of the 2022 Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) such 

amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal 

(including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules and regulations) or in 

interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the Authority or the type of 

business conducted thereby, (2) this Undertaking as so amended would have complied with the 

requirements of the Rule as of the date hereof, after taking into account any amendments or 

interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances, (3) the Authority shall have 

received an opinion of Counsel to the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above, (4) the Authority 

shall have received either an opinion of Counsel or a determination by a person, in each case 

unaffiliated with the Authority, to the effect that the amendment does not materially impair the 

interests of the holders of the outstanding 2022 Bonds, and (5) the Authority shall have delivered 

copies of such opinion(s) and amendment to the MSRB. 

(b) This Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the 

2022 Bonds if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) an amendment to the Rule is adopted, 

or a new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the effective date hereof which 

www.emma.msrb.org


 7 
 

is applicable to this Undertaking, (2) the Authority shall have received an opinion of Counsel to the 

effect that performance by the Authority under this Undertaking as so amended will not result in a 

violation of the Rule as so amended or officially interpreted and (3) the Authority shall have 

delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to the MSRB. 

(c) To the extent any amendment to this Undertaking results in a change in the 

categories or types of financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Undertaking, 

the first Annual Financial Information provided thereafter shall include a narrative explanation of the 

reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial 

information being provided. 

(d) If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed by the 

Authority, the State or any Institution in preparing its financial statements, the Annual Financial 

Information for the fiscal year in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the 

financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those 

prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.  Such comparison shall include a 

qualitative and, to the extent reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the differences in the 

accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation 

of the financial information. 

Section 4.3. Contract; Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement. (a)  The 

provisions of this Undertaking shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the 

holders from time to time of the 2022 Bonds, except that beneficial owners of 2022 Bonds shall be 

third-party beneficiaries of this Undertaking and shall be deemed to be holders of 2022 Bonds for 

purposes of Section 4.3(b) hereof.  The provisions of this Undertaking shall create no rights in any 

person or entity except as provided in this subsection (a). 

(b) The obligations of the Authority to comply with the provisions of this 

Undertaking shall be enforceable by any holder of outstanding 2022 Bonds; however, the holders’ 

rights to enforce the provisions of this Undertaking shall be limited solely to a right, by action in 

mandamus or for specific performance, to compel performance of the Authority’s obligations under 

this Undertaking. 

(c) Any failure by the Authority to perform in accordance with this Undertaking 

shall not constitute a default or an event of default under the resolutions authorizing the 2022 Bonds 

or State law and shall not result in any acceleration of payment of the 2022 Bonds, and the rights and 

remedies provided by the resolutions authorizing the 2022 Bonds and applicable State law upon the 

occurrence of such a default or an event of default shall not apply to any such failure. 

(d) This Undertaking shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the 

laws of the State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Undertaking shall be instituted in a 

court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that to the extent this Undertaking 

addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, this Undertaking shall be construed 

in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof. 

[Signature Page Follows] 





 

 

 
 

March 10, 2025 

530 Oak Court Dr. 
Suite 160 
Memphis, TN 38117 
901.682.8356 
 
pfm.com 

 
 
Sandra W. Thompson, CCTS 
Director 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
Division of State Government Finance 
425 Rep. John Lewis Way N. 
Nashville, TN 37243 
 
 
 
Dear Ms. Thompson: 
 
PFM, as Financial Advisor to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (“TSSBA” or 
“Authority”), is recommending TSSBA pursue a competitive sale for its upcoming Higher 
Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 2025 Series A (“2025 Series A Bonds”) 
and 2025 Series B (Federally Taxable) (“2025 Series B Bonds”) which are tentatively 
scheduled to price in April 2025.   
 
Basis for Recommendation 
Competitive bond sales can offer several advantages over negotiated sales. A 
competitive sale typically assures a competitive process which may result in lower 
interest rates. While underwriting firms may attempt to secure the best interest rates for 
the issuer in a negotiated sale, different firms have different perceptions of the market 
and cater to varying investor requirements. This is evidenced by the fact that there are 
seldom two identical bids submitted at a competitive sale. In addition, interest rate 
differentials more than 1/4% (0.25%) between low and high bidders in a competitive sale 
are not uncommon.  
 
Despite the advantages of competitive sales, some bond structures and certain market 
factors create conditions in which a negotiated sale may be the preferred sale method.  
TSSBA should select a method of sale based on a thorough analysis of the relevant 
rating, security and structure pertaining to the proposed bond issue.  The following table 
outlines the general conditions favoring each method of sale. 

 



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
March 10, 2025 

Page 2 
Attributes Competitive Sale Negotiated Sale Relevance to TSSBA 

Issuer 

Type of 
Organization 

Broad-based, general-
purpose government 

Special-purpose, 
independent authority 

TSSBA’s bonds provide funding for 
public higher education revenue 
projects in TN and are securitized 
by an intercept of state 
appropriations and tend to be rated 
one-notch below the State’s credit 
rating, making it a candidate for a 
competitive sale. 

Frequency of 
Issuance 

Regular borrower in 
public market 

New or infrequent issuer 
of debt 

TSSBA is a known borrower in the 
municipal markets. 

Market 
Awareness 

Active secondary 
market with wide 
investor base 

Little or no institutional 
base, but growing dealer 
interest 

TSSBA has received favorable 
investor interest on prior sales.  

Credit Quality 

Rating “A” or better Below single “A” 

TSSBA’s strong credit of 
Aa1/AA+/AA+ is expected to be 
received favorably in the 
competitive market. 

Pledged 
Revenues General Obligation Project supported 

revenues 

TSSBA bonds are securitized by 
project revenues and the intercept 
of state appropriations. 

Security Structure 

Conventional 
resolution and 
cashflow; rate 
covenant and 
coverage 

Unusual or weak 
covenants; subordinated 
debt 

TSSBA will issue under the 
existing second program general 
bond resolution. 

Trend Stable Improving or under stress TSSBA has stable ratings of 
Aa1/AA+/AA+. 

Market Conditions 

Interest Rates Stable, predictable 
market 

Volatile or declining 
market 

Interest rates have been volatile in 
2025 due to economic indicators 
like CPI and PPI. Other 
contributing factors are attributable 
to federal policies, like tariffs.   

Demand 

Strong investor 
demand, good 
liquidity, light forward 
calendar 

Oversold market, heavy 
supply 

TSSBA has a history of strong 
investor demand; TSSBA’s last 
bond sale was in 2022 which 
should lead to investor demand in 
2025. 

Debt Structure 

Tax Status Tax-exempt, no 
concerns Taxable 

TSSBA has a long history of 
successfully pricing tax-exempt 
and taxable series of bonds via 
competitive sale. 

Debt Instrument 
Traditional serial and 
term, full-coupon 
bonds 

Aggressive use of 
innovative bond 
structuring, derivative 
products, swaps, or 
variable-rate debt 
instruments 

TSSBA plans to sell traditional 
serial and/or term bonds. 



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
March 10, 2025 

Page 3 
 

Market Timing 
Many proponents of negotiated sales argue that a negotiated sale provides greater 
flexibility in the timing of the bond’s offering. In either method of sale, the issuer selects 
a tentative pricing date and retains the flexibility to change this date, if needed. In a 
competitive bond sale, TSSBA’s Notice of Sale will allow TSSBA to cancel or change the 
pricing date until noon on the day preceding the competitive sale. Given either sale 
methodology, the process of marketing the bonds should begin one or two weeks prior 
to the pricing date. Should the municipal market become unsettled or volatile, TSSBA 
can postpone the bond pricing until a more favorable market exists.   

PFM is closely monitoring the municipal market as it relates to investor preferences and 
interest rates to strike a balance between the TSSBA’s financial objectives and investor 
preferences.  

PFM’s Pricing Group 
PFM possesses industry-leading expertise and experience regarding both competitive 
and negotiated bond sales.  PFM has a dedicated, in-house bond Pricing Group which 
has been consulted in our evaluation and recommendation of a competitive bond sale to 
TSSBA.  PFM will also rely on our Pricing Group to evaluate the bond sale parameters 
to be included in the Notice of Sale.  

Debt Management Policy Consideration 
A competitive sale process seeks to achieve broad market participation and access, 
while following TSSBA’s Debt Management Policy.  

Market Supply 
Calendar Year 2025 has had an increase in municipal bond issuance through March 7, 
2025 compared to that of 2024. Cumulative year-to-date supply is slightly up for both tax-
exempt and taxable bonds in par amount (see Appendix A).  Since TSSBA has not sold 
bonds since 2022, we expect the demand for TSSBA bond offerings to remain strong 
into April.  

Recommendation 
Considering the above, PFM continues to believe that the competitive sale process is 
optimal for TSSBA’s 2025 Series A Bond and 2025 Series B Bond issues.  We believe 
that the competitive sale process will encourage the underwriters to offer their best price, 
while also providing other investment banking firms the opportunity to demonstrate their 
interest in the State of Tennessee and TSSBA.  We would also recommend the 
authorizing resolution associated with the TSSBA’s 2025 Series A Bonds and 2025 
Series B Bonds include the flexibility of a negotiated sale as well. This will allow the 



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
March 10, 2025 

Page 4 

Comptroller’s Office to adjust the sale methodology without seeking additional TSSBA 
Board authorization.  

I would be happy to provide additional insight or to discuss further.  Please call if you 
have any questions (901) 466-4554. 

We appreciate the opportunity to serve TSSBA and value our relationship.  We look 
forward to successful financings in the future. 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Lauren S. Lowe 
Managing Director 
PFM Financial Advisors LLC 
 

 
  



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
March 10, 2025 

Page 5 
Appendix A 

  

 

 
 

Source: Bloomberg  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0 4 8 12 16 20 24 28 32 36 40 44 48

Bi
lli

on
s

Week

Cumulative YTD Supply - Total

2025 AMT 2025 Taxable 2025 Tax-Exempt 2024 Total

0

100

200

300

400

500

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

Bi
lli

on
s

Week

Cumulative YTD Supply - Tax-Exempt

2025 Tax-Exempt 2024 Tax-Exempt

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

Bi
lli

on
s

Week

Cumulative YTD Supply - Taxable

2025 Taxable 2024 Taxable


	1 - 2025.03.24 TSSBA Agenda
	2 - 2024.12.16 TSSBA Minutes
	3a - Resolution for UT Corporate Quarters
	3b - UT Corporate Quarters
	Lead Sheet - Corporate Quarters
	Executive Summary
	Certification of Funds
	Map
	Photos
	Lease Agreement

	Recitals
	JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY


	4a - Resolution for MTSU Lease Amendment
	4b - TSSBA MTSU lease amendment request packet - March 2025
	4c - Flight Training Program Proforma
	Revised



	5 - TTU 933 - Innovation Center Residence Hall
	6a - TSSBA 2025 Supplemental Resolution (New Money)(Final)
	6b - 2025 POS (Draft)
	6c - TSSBA Notice of Sale 2025 Bonds-v2
	6d - TSSBA Final Executed Bond Purchase Agreement - Feb 9 2021
	1-18 - TSSBA Final Executed Bond Purchase Agreement
	SIG 1 - TSSBA BPA Signature page - Jefferies - 1
	SIG 2 -TSSBA BPA Signature page - State - 2
	20-99 - TSSBA Final Executed Bond Purchase Agreement

	6e - TSSBA 2022 (e) - Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
	6f - TN State School Bond Auth PFM Bond Sale Recommendation 3.10.2025



